

Thickness and weak integrability & approximation and $u\text{-}\mathrm{ideals}$

Trond A. Abrahamsen

2007

Dr. Scient. Thesis Department of Mathematics University of Bergen Norway

Contents

1	Inti	roduction and perspectives	1
	1.1	Notation and terminology	1
	1.2	Background on thick and weak*-thick sets in Banach spaces	2
		1.2.1 Basic results on thick and weak*-thick sets	3
		1.2.2 Further results and a generalized thickness notion	9
	1.3	Background on approximation properties and u -ideals \ldots \ldots	11
		1.3.1 Basic results on approximation properties and u -ideals .	12
		1.3.2 U -ideals and open problems $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	24
	Bibl	liography	29
2	On	weak integrability and boundedness in Banach spaces	35
	2.1	Introduction	35
	2.2	Thickness and weak integrability	36
	2.3	Thickness and bounded vector measures	38
	2.4	Notes and remarks	39
	Bibl	liography	41
3	Weak metric approximation properties and nice projections 4		
	3.1	Introduction	43
	3.2	The weak MAP	44
	3.3	The weak MCAP and the very weak MCAP	48
	Bibl	liography	50
4	Unconditional ideals of finite rank operators		53
	4.1	Introduction	53
	4.2	Unconditional Hahn-Banach extension operators	55
	4.3	$\mathcal{F}(Y, X)$ as a u-ideal in $\mathcal{W}(Y, X)$	58
	4.4	$\mathcal{F}(Y, X)$ as a u-ideal in $\mathcal{K}(Y, X^{**})$ and $\mathcal{W}(Y, X^{**})$	63
	Bibl	liography	69

Acknowledgements

First and foremost I am indebted to my supervisors Professors Åsvald Lima and Olav Nygaard, at Agder University College, and Professor Arne Stray, at the University of Bergen, for their ideas, advices, and continuous support throughout the period that I have worked with this thesis. I would also like to thank Professor Eve Oja, at Tartu University, for helpful conversations during this period. I am also grateful for the inspiring mathematical conversations that I have had with my colleague, Dr. scient Vegard Lima, at Agder University College. Last, but not least, my family deserves a special acknowledgement for their encouraging and comforting words during the period of writing the thesis. I would especially like to thank my fiancé, Sissel, for her patience towards my working habits over the last years.

Kristiansand, January 2007.

Trond A. Abrahamsen

Bibliography

- [1] T. A. Abrahamsen, Weak metric approximation properties and nice projections, To appear in: Acta Comment. Univ. Tartu. Math. 11 (2007).
- [2] T. A. Abrahamsen, V. Lima, and Å. Lima, Unconditional ideals of finite rank operators, Preprint.
- [3] T. A. Abrahamsen, O. Nygaard, and M. Põldvere, On weak integrability and boundedness in Banach spaces, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 314 (2006), no. 1, 67–74. MR 2183537

Chapter 1

Introduction and perspectives

This introduction provides background material for the articles [3], [1], and [2] which respectively constitute Chapters 2 to 4 in this thesis. Section 1.1 contains notation and terminology used in the introduction. In Section 1.2 we present background material for the article [3]. This article contains new characterizations of thick and weak*-thick sets. Subsection 1.2.2 contains a generalization of the notion of thick sets. New results and open problems are also presented here. In Section 1.3 background material for the articles [1] and [2] is presented. These articles contain new results about approximation properties and u-ideals. In subsection 1.3.2 we discuss some open problems related to the notion of u-ideals.

1.1 Notation and terminology

The notation and terminology used throughout this introduction is standard (see e.g. [57]). We will write \mathbb{N} , \mathbb{R} , and \mathbb{C} for the sets of natural numbers, real numbers, and complex numbers, respectively. \mathbb{K} will denote a set that can be either \mathbb{R} or \mathbb{C} . The letters X, Y, and Z will denote Banach spaces unless otherwise stated. The letters E, F, and G will typically denote finite dimensional Banach spaces. The closed unit ball of a Banach space X is denoted by B_X and the unit sphere of X is denoted by S_X . We will write X^* for the dual space of X. The sets of extreme points, exposed points, and strongly exposed points of B_X are respectively denoted by ext B_X , exp B_X , and str-exp B_X . Similarly ω^* -exp B_{X^*} and ω^* -str-exp B_{X^*} denote the sets of weak*-exposed and weak*-strongly exposed points of B_{X^*} .

Let A be a subset of a Banach space X. Then its norm closure, convex hull, absolutely convex hull, and linear span will be denoted by \overline{A} , convA, absconvA, and spanA, respectively. We will write \overline{A}^w for the weak closure of A. Similarly, if A is a subset of a dual space X^* , \overline{A}^{w^*} denotes the weak*-closure of A. Let X and Y be Banach spaces. We will write $\mathcal{L}(Y, X)$ for the Banach

Let X and Y be Banach spaces. We will write $\mathcal{L}(Y, X)$ for the Banach space of bounded linear operators from Y to X, and $\mathcal{F}(Y, X)$, $\mathcal{K}(Y, X)$, and $\mathcal{W}(Y, X)$ for its subspaces of finite rank operators, compact operators, and weakly compact operators, respectively. If Z is a subspace of X, then we will write $i_Z : Z \to X$ for the canonical embedding of Z into X. I_X will denote the identity operator on X. If no confusion is possible, we will sometimes also write I for the identity operator on a Banach space. The natural embedding of X into its bidual will be denoted by $k_X : X \to X^{**}$. ker T will denote the kernel of a bounded linear operator T.

1.2 Background on thick and weak*-thick sets in Banach spaces

The Banach-Steinhaus Uniform Boundedness Principle (see e.g. [69, p. 43]) is one of the cornerstones in the theory of Banach spaces. Special cases of the theorem dates back to those of Lebesgue [43] in 1909 for the function spaces $L_2[a, b], L_1[a, b], L_{\infty}[a, b], \text{Helly [36] in 1912 for the function space } C[a, b], \text{ and}$ Toeplitz [77] and Schur [71] in 1913 and 1920 for the sequence space c. The abstract version of the Banach-Steinhaus Uniform Boundedness Principle was published independently by Hahn [34], Banach [6], and Hildebrant [38] in the years 1922 - 1923. Banach and Steinhaus [8] proved a more general version of the principle for second category sets in 1927. The proof of this theorem was modern because it used Baire's Category Theorem [5] (cf. [58, p. 37]) instead of the gliding hump technique (cf. [17, pp. 138-142]) used before. This general version of the Banach-Steinhaus Uniform Boundedness Principle essentially tells us that whenever (T_{α}) is a family of bounded linear operators on some Banach space X, which is pointwise bounded on a set A of the second category in X, then the family is bounded. However, in some cases, boundedness can be obtained from pointwise boundedness on a "smaller set" than the second category. Indeed, the Nikodým-Grothendieck Boundedness Theorem (see e.g. [16, p. 14] or [15, p. 80]) says that if a family (T_{α}) of bounded linear operators is pointwise bounded on the set of characteristic functions in the unit sphere of the space $B(\Sigma)$ (see text above Theorem 1.2.5), then this family is bounded. This set of characteristic functions is certainly not of the second category, it is even nowhere dense. Thus it is natural to ask: How can we sharpen the Banach-Steinhaus Uniform Boundedness Principle in the sense of weakening the restrictions on the set A on which to test pointwise boundedness?

Building on a result of Kadets and Fonf [26, Proposition 1], Nygaard proposed a property, that he called thickness, which is weaker than the second category, so that the conclusion of the Banach-Steinhaus Uniform Boundedness Principle still holds [59]. Further, Nygaard showed that thickness is the ultimate property in the sense that if a subset B of a Banach space X is not thick, then it is always possible to find an unbounded family of bounded linear operators on X which is pointwise bounded on B. Nygaard noticed also that the thickness property is equivalent to another fundamental property in the theory of linear operators. The property is the one that guarantees that if a bounded linear operator $T: Y \to X$ is onto a subset B of X, then it is onto X.

The paper [3], which is presented in Chapter 2 in this thesis, contains new characterizations of the thickness property, and a weaker dual companion called the weak*-thickness property, in terms of integrability of vector-valued functions.

1.2.1 Basic results on thick and weak*-thick sets

Suppose X and Y are topological vector spaces. The following two problems are of fundamental importance in the theory of linear operators:

Problem 1.2.1. Assume A is a subset of Y. Find a property on A such that every continuous linear operator $T: X \to Y$ is onto Y if and only if the range of the operator contains A.

Problem 1.2.2. Assume A is a subset of Y and that A is a subset of the space of all continuous linear operators from Y into X. Find a property on A such that A is bounded if and only if the set $\{Ty : T \in A\}$ is bounded for each $y \in A$ (A is pointwise bounded on Y).

If Y is of finite dimension, the answer to both problems is of course that A has to contain as many independent vectors as the dimension of Y. When Y is of infinite dimension there is, on the contrary, no simple answer to any of the problems.

However, from a classical theorem that appeared already in Théorie des Opérations Linéaires [7], the following result is known.

Theorem 1.2.3 (Banach, 1932). If T is a bounded linear operator from a Banach space into a normed linear space, then the range of T is either of first category or equal to the range space itself.

Another classical theorem, the famous category version of the Banach-Steinhaus Uniform Boundedness Principle [8], which appeared in a joint paper of Banach and Steinhaus as early as 1927, reads:

Theorem 1.2.4 (Banach and Steinhaus, 1927). Let (T_n) be a sequence of bounded linear operators from a Banach space Y into a Banach space X. Suppose $\sup_n ||T_ny|| < \infty$ for every $y \in A$ where A is a set of the second category in Y. Then $\sup_n \sup_{y \in B_Y} ||T_ny|| < \infty$.

Thus Theorem 1.2.3 and Theorem 1.2.4 tell us that the property second category is sufficiently strong to obtain implication in one direction in both Problems 1.2.1 and 1.2.2 when X and Y are Banach spaces. However, there are examples which show that this property is indeed too strong for the reverse implications to hold. In the case of Problem 1.2.1, the spectacular theorem of Seever shows this [72] (see also [16, p. 17]). $(B(\Sigma)$ denotes here the Banach space of uniform limits of simple functions modeled on the σ -algebra Σ .)

Theorem 1.2.5 (Seever, 1968). Let Σ be a σ -algebra of subsets of a set Ω and let X be a Banach space. Let $T: X \to \mathcal{B}(\Sigma)$ be a bounded linear operator whose range includes the set $\{\chi_E : E \in \Sigma\}$. Then $TX = \mathcal{B}(\Sigma)$.

In particular Seever's theorem says that if an operator is onto the set of 0-1 sequences in ℓ_{∞} , then it is onto ℓ_{∞} .

In the case of Problem 1.2.2, the Nikodým-Grothendieck Boundedness Theorem (see below) shows that second category is a too strong property. Indeed, this is easily seen from Corollary 1.2.7 below which is an immediate consequence of the Nikodým-Grothendieck Boundedness Theorem. (Use the fact that for each bounded linear operator $T : B(\Sigma) \to X$ there corresponds a vector measure $F : \Sigma \to X$ defined by $F(E) = T(\chi_E)$ and then apply Theorem 1.2.6.) **Theorem 1.2.6** (Nikodým and Grothendieck). Let Σ be a σ -algebra of subsets of a set Ω , let X be a Banach space, and let $\{F_{\tau} : \tau \in T\}$ be a family of X-valued bounded vector measures defined on Σ . If $\sup_{\tau} ||F_{\tau}(E)|| < \infty$ for each $E \in \Sigma$, then the family $\{F_{\tau} : \tau \in T\}$ is uniformly bounded, i.e. $\sup_{\tau \in T} ||F_{\tau}||(\Omega) < \infty$.

Corollary 1.2.7. Let Σ be a σ -algebra of subsets of a set Ω . Suppose $\{T_{\alpha} : \alpha \in A\}$ is a collection of bounded linear operators from $B(\Sigma)$ to a Banach space X such that $\sup_{\alpha \in A} ||T_{\alpha}\chi_E|| < \infty$ for each $E \in \Sigma$. Then $\sup_{\alpha} ||T_{\alpha}|| < \infty$.

It is clear from the theorems above, that if X and Y are Banach spaces and if A is a subset of Y, then the property on A that solves both Problem 1.2.1 and Problem 1.2.2, is strictly between A being span dense in Y and A being of the second category in Y. But still, what characterizes such a property?

In [26], Kadets and Fonf encovered a property which in fact solves Problem 1.2.1 in the case Y is a Banach space and A is a *bounded* subset of Y.

Theorem 1.2.8 (Kadets and Fonf, 1983). Let Y be a Banach space and suppose $A \subset S_Y$. The following are equivalent statements:

- (a) For any Banach space X and any bounded linear operator $T : X \to Y$ such that $T(X) \supset A$, one has T(X) = Y.
- (b) For every representation of A as the union of an increasing sequence of sets, A = ∪_{i=1}[∞] A_i, (A_i ↑), there is an index j such that

$$\inf_{y^* \in S_{Y^*}} \sup_{y \in A_j} |y^*(y)| > 0.$$

Theorem 1.2.8 suggests the following definition (cf. [26], [25], and [59]).

Definition 1.2.9. Let Y be a normed linear space. A subset $A \subset Y$ is said to have the *surjectivity property* if for every Banach space X, every $T \in \mathcal{L}(X, Y)$, such that $T(X) \supset A$, we have that T is onto Y. If the same conclusion holds for a subset $\mathcal{A} \subset \mathcal{L}(X, Y)$, we say that A has the \mathcal{A} -restricted surjectivity property. For the special case when $A \subset Y^*$ and \mathcal{A} is the space of adjoints in $\mathcal{L}(X^*, Y^*)$, we say that A has the weak*-surjectivity property.

Note that Theorem 1.2.3 of Banach, says that every second category set in a Banach space has the surjectivity property.

Before we go into a further discussion of Problems 1.2.1 and 1.2.2, we need to agree on some more definitions (cf. [26], [25], and [59]).

Definition 1.2.10. A subset A of a Banach space Y (resp. a dual Banach space Y^*) is said to be norming (resp. weak*-norming) if $\inf_{y^* \in S_{Y^*}} \sup_{y \in A} |y^*(y)| > 0$ (resp. $\inf_{y \in S_Y} \sup_{y^* \in A} |y^*(y)| > 0$). The subset A is called thin (resp. weak*-thin) if it can be written as a countable increasing union of non-norming (resp. non-weak*-norming) sets. If A is not thin (resp. weak*-thin) it is called thick (resp. weak*-thick).

The following geometrical lemmas [59, Lemmas 2.2 and 2.3] are easy consequences of the Hahn-Banach separation Theorem.

Lemma 1.2.11. Let Y be a real normed space and A a subset of Y. The following statements are equivalent.

- (a) A is norming.
- (b) $\overline{conv}(\pm A)$ is norming.
- (c) There exists $\delta > 0$ such that $\overline{conv}(\pm A) \supset \delta B_Y$.

Lemma 1.2.12. Let Y be a real normed space and A a subset of Y^* . The following statements are equivalent.

- (a) A is weak^{*}-norming.
- (b) $\overline{conv}^{w^*}(\pm A)$ is weak*-norming.
- (c) There exists $\delta > 0$ such that $\overline{conv}^{w^*}(\pm A) \supset \delta B_{Y^*}$.

We remark that if the space Y is complex, Lemma 1.2.11 and Lemma 1.2.12 hold if we replace $\overline{co}(\pm A)$ with $\overline{co}(\bigcup_{|r|=1}rA)$ where r is a complex number.

Of course a norming set in a dual space is weak*-norming. However, it does not need to be weak*-thick. The set of extreme points of the unit ball of ℓ_1 is such an example since it is countable. (Indeed, it is clear that every countable set is thin, or weak*-thin if it is in a dual space). There are also weak*-thick sets which are not norming. The unit ball of every non-reflexive Banach space, considered as a subset of the bidual, is such an example. Next we give an example of a set which is both norming and weak*-thick.

Example 1.2.13. Let $H^{\infty}(D)$ denote the space of bounded analytic functions on the open unit disk. The Blaschke products in $H^{\infty}(D)$ is a weak*-thick and norming set [59, Corollary 3.7]. See [70, p. 310] for a definition of Blaschke products. It is unknown whether the Blaschke products forms a thick set.

It is immediate from the definitions that every thick set in a dual space is weak*-thick. From the definitions it is also straightforward to verify that sets of the second category are thick [59, Lemma 3.4]. General examples of thick and weak*-thick sets are given by the results [27, Theorem 4.3], [60, Corollary 2.2], [24, Theorem 1], and [25, Theorem 3*].

Theorem 1.2.14 (Fonf and Lindenstrauss, 2003). Let X be a separable nonreflexive Banach space. Then the set of functionals in X^* which do not attain their maximum on B_X is a thick set.

Theorem 1.2.15 (Nygaard, 2006). Let X be a Banach space. If $x^{**} \in X^{**} \setminus X$, then ker x^{**} is a weak*-thick subset of X^* .

Recall that a subset B of the unit sphere S_{X^*} of the dual of a Banach space X is called a James boundary of X, if for every $x \in X$, there exists $x^* \in B$ such that $x^*(x) = ||x||$.

Theorem 1.2.16 (Fonf, 1989). Let X be a Banach space. If X does not contain a copy of c_0 , then every James boundary of X is weak^{*}-thick.

Theorem 1.2.17 (Fonf, 1996). Let X be a separable Banach space. If X does not contain a copy of c_0 , then $\omega^* - \exp B_{X^*}$ is weak*-thick.

Definition 1.2.18. Let Y be a normed linear space. A subset $A \subset Y$ is said to have the *boundedness property* if for every normed linear space X, every family $(T_{\alpha}) \subset \mathcal{L}(Y, X)$, which is pointwise bounded on A, is bounded. If the same conclusion holds for a subset $\mathcal{A} \subset \mathcal{L}(Y, X)$, we say that A has the \mathcal{A} -restricted boundedness property. For the special case when $A \subset Y^*$ and \mathcal{A} is the space of adjoints in $\mathcal{L}(Y^*, X^*)$, we say that A has the weak*-boundedness property.

From the Banach-Steinhaus Uniform Boundedness Principle [8] (see also [69, p. 43]) we have that sets of the second category in Banach spaces have the boundedness property. Note also that Theorem 1.2.5 of Seever and Corollary 1.2.7 of Nikodým and Grothendieck say that the characteristic functions in the unit sphere of $B(\Sigma)$ both have the surjectivity property and the boundedness property.

Nygaard proved in [59] the following general result.

Theorem 1.2.19 (Nygaard, 2002). Suppose A is a subset of a Banach space Y. The following statements are equivalent.

- (a) A has the surjectivity property.
- (b) For every Banach space X, every injection $T: X \to Y$ which is onto A is an isomorphism.
- (c) A has the boundedness property.
- (d) Every sequence $(y_n^*) \subset Y^*$ which is pointwise bounded on A is a bounded sequence in Y^* .
- (e) A is thick.

Note that from Theorem 1.2.19 it follows that Seever's theorem and the Nikodým-Grothendieck Boundedness Theorem are the same.

In [59] another special case of Problem 1.2.1 was considered, that is the case when A is a subset of the dual of a Banach space X and the operators are adjoints into X^* .

Theorem 1.2.20 (Nygaard, 2002). Suppose A is a subset of the dual of a Banach space Y. The following statements are equivalent.

- (a) A has the weak*-surjectivity property.
- (b) For every Banach space X, every dual injection $T: X^* \to Y^*$ which is onto A is an isomorphism.
- (c) A has the weak*-boundedness property.
- (d) Every sequence $(y_n) \subset Y$ which is pointwise bounded on A is a bounded sequence in Y.
- (e) A is weak^{*}-thick.

The notion of weak*-thick sets also turns up in the theory of vector measures. Let us recall the basic definitions from this theory (cf. e.g. [16]).

Let X be a Banach space and let \mathscr{F} be an algebra of subsets of a set Ω . A set function $F: \mathscr{F} \to X$ is called a *vector measure* if whenever E_1 and E_2 are disjoint members of \mathscr{F} , then $F(E_1 \cup E_2) = F(E_1) + F(E_2)$. If, in addition $F(\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} E_n) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} F(E_n)$, with convergence in the norm-topology of X, for all sequences (E_n) of pairwise disjoint members of \mathscr{F} such that $\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} E_n \in \mathscr{F}$, then F is said to be a *countably additive vector measure*. Moreover, a vector measure $F: \mathscr{F} \to X$ is said to be bounded if $\sup_{E \in \mathscr{F}} ||F(E)|| < \infty$.

If Σ is a σ -algebra of subsets of a set Ω , and μ a measure on Σ , then a function $f : \Omega \to X$ is called *weakly* μ -measurable if for every $x^* \in X^*$ the scalar valued function x^*f is μ -measurable.

The following theorem was proved by Dunford already in 1937 (cf. [16, p. 52]).

Theorem 1.2.21 (Dunford, 1937). Let X be a Banach space, Σ a σ -algebra of subsets of a set Ω , and μ a measure. If $f : \Omega \to X$ is a function such that $x^*f \in L_1(\mu)$ for every $x^* \in X^*$, then for each $E \in \Sigma$ there exists $x_E^{**} \in X^{**}$ satisfying

$$x_E^{**}(x^*) = \int_E x^*(f) \, d\mu \tag{1.2.1}$$

for all $x^* \in X^*$.

Based on this result, we can define the Dunford integral.

Definition 1.2.22. A weakly μ -measurable function $f : \Omega \to X$ is called *Dun*ford integrable if $x^* f \in L_1(\mu)$ for every $x^* \in X^*$. The Dunford integral of f over $E \in \Sigma$ is defined by the element x_E^{**} of X^{**} in (1.2.1). We denote this integral by $(D) - \int_{\Omega} f d\mu$.

Moreover, if $(D) - \int_{\Omega} f d\mu \in X$, then f is called Pettis integrable.

In [18] and [14] Dimitrov and Diestel independently proved the following result.

Theorem 1.2.23 (Dimitrov, 1971 and Diestel, 1973). Let X be a separable Banach space which does not contain isomorphic copies of c_0 and let (Ω, Σ, μ) be a finite measure space. Then every Dunford integrable function $f : \Omega \to X$ is Pettis integrable.

Using this theorem of Dimitrov and Diestel, in combination with the fact that when a Banach space X is c_0 free, the set $ext B_{X^*}$ is weak*-thick [24, Theorem 1] (cf. Theorem 1.2.16), Fonf obtained the following theorem.

Theorem 1.2.24 (Fonf, 1989). Let X be a separable Banach space which does not contain isomorphic copies of c_0 . Then, whenever (Ω, Σ, μ) is a finite measure space and a function $f : \Omega \to X$ is such that $x^*f \in L_1(\mu)$ for every $x^* \in$ ext B_{X^*} , we have $x^*f \in L_1(\mu)$ for every $x^* \in X^*$ and f is Pettis integrable.

The main objective of the article [3] (cf. Chapter 2) is to generalize the above result of Fonf. We do this by giving the following characterization of weak*-thick sets (cf. Chapter 2, Main theorem).

Theorem 1.2.25 (Abrahamsen, Nygaard, and Põldvere, 2006). Let X be a Banach space. A subset $A \subset X^*$ is weak^{*}-thick if and only if whenever (Ω, Σ, μ) is a measure space and $f : \Omega \to X$ is an essentially separable valued function such that $x^*f \in L_1(\mu)$ for all $x^* \in A$, then $x^*f \in L_1(\mu)$ for all $x^* \in X^*$.

Let (x_n) be a sequence in a Banach space X. Observe that, for any $x^* \in X^*$, we have $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} |x^*(x_n)| = \int_{\mathbb{N}} |x^*f| dc$, where c is the counting measure on the σ -algebra $\mathcal{P}(\mathbb{N})$ of all subsets of \mathbb{N} and $f: \mathbb{N} \to X$ is the function defined by $f = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \chi_{\{n\}} x_n$. Now, using Theorem 1.2.25, (b) \Rightarrow (a) in the following characterization of weak*-thin sets, is immediate (cf. Corollary 2.2.4). The reverse implication is proved by using a "gliding hump" argument.

Corollary 1.2.26 (Abrahamsen, Nygaard, and Põldvere, 2006). Let X be a Banach space and $A \subset X^*$. The following statements are equivalent.

- (a) A is weak^{*}-thin.
- (b) There exists a sequence $(x_n) \subset X$ and $x^* \in X^* \setminus A$ such that $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} |x^*(x_n)|$ diverges, but $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} |x^*(x_n)| < \infty$ for all $x^* \in A$.
 - In [19] Elton proved the theorem stated below.

Theorem 1.2.27 (Elton, 1981). Let X be a Banach space. The following statements are equivalent.

- (a) X contains a copy of c_0 .
- (b) There exists a divergent series $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} x_n$ in X such that $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} |x^*(x_n)| < \infty$ for all $x^* \in \operatorname{ext} B_{X^*}$.

Fonf proved in [25, Theorem 3*] that a separable Banach space X contains c_0 whenever the set $\omega^* - \exp B_{X^*}$ is weak*-thin. He then combined this result with the well known Bessaga-Pełczyński Theorem [10] and deduced that the set $ext B_{X^*}$ can be replaced by the set $\omega^* - \exp B_{X^*}$ in the above theorem of Elton [25, Theorem 6].

Using the Nikodým-Grothendieck Boundedness Theorem one can prove the following important result of Dieudonné and Grothendieck (cf. [16, p. 16]).

Theorem 1.2.28 (Dieudonné and Grothendieck). Let X be a Banach space and let F be an X-valued set function defined on a σ -algebra Σ . Suppose that x^*F is bounded and finitely additive for each x^* belonging to some total subset A of X^* . Then F is a bounded vector measure.

Note that the additivity of F is immediate from the totality of Γ .

Theorem 1.2.28 may fail for algebras which are not σ -algebras. A stronger property is needed in this case. Indeed, if "total" is replaced by "weak*-thick" in this Theorem 1.2.28, then we get a test for boundedness of vector measures defined merely on algebras. In fact, we also get a new characterization of weak*thick sets (cf. Propositions 2.3.2 and 2.3.3)

Theorem 1.2.29 (Abrahamsen, Nygaard, and Põldvere, 2006). Let X be a Banach space and A a subset of X^* . The following statements are equivalent.

- (a) For every algebra ℱ and every set function F : ℱ → X, the function F is a bounded vector measure whenever the function x*F is bounded and finitely additive for each x* ∈ A.
- (b) A is weak^{*}-thick.

1.2.2 Further results and a generalized thickness notion

Let $|\cdot|$ denote the distance function on K. Recall that a function f from a topological linear space X into the real numbers is said to be *lower semi*countinuous if $f(x) \leq \liminf_{\alpha} f(x_{\alpha})$ whenever (x_{α}) is a net in X converging to some element $x \in X$. A function f is called *convex* if $f(tx + (1 - t)y) \leq$ tf(x) + (1 - t)f(y) for every $x, y \in X$ and $0 \leq t \leq 1$.

It is not difficult to see that Theorem 1.2.19 can be continued by

(f) Whenever a sequence of functions {f_n : Y → K}, with the properties that for every natural number n, |·| ∘ f_n is lower semi-continuous and convex, is pointwise bounded on A, then this sequence is uniformly bounded on B_Y.

Evidently every linear functional in a dual Banach space is lower semicontinuous and convex when left composed with $|\cdot|$, so (f) implies (d) in Theorem 1.2.19 above. The fact that (e) in Theorem 1.2.19 implies (f), follows from the same argument as in (e) implies (d) in Theorem 1.2.19. Indeed, assume that Ais thick and put $A_n = \{y \in Y \cap A : \sup_k |f_k(y)| \le n\}$. By the pointwise boundedness, (A_n) form an increasing, countable covering of A. Since A is thick, there exists a natural number m such that A_m is norming. By Lemma 1.2.11, there exists a real number $\delta > 0$ such that $\overline{absconv}(A_m) \supset \delta B_Y$. Finally, observe that we only need $|\cdot| \circ f_n$ to be convex and lower semi-continuous, to conclude that $\sup_k \sup_{y \in B_Y} |f_k(y)| \le \frac{m}{\delta}$.

A similar argument as in the preceding paragraph proves that Theorem 1.2.20 can be continued by

(f) Whenever a sequence of functions $\{f_n : Y^* \to \mathbb{K}\}$, with the properties that for every natural number $n, |\cdot| \circ f_n$ is weak^{*}-lower semi-continuous and convex, is pointwise bounded on A, then this sequence is uniformly bounded on B_{Y^*} .

As already mentioned, second category sets in a Banach space are thick. The converse is not true. A standard counterexample is the set of 0-1 sequences in ℓ_{∞} which is thick by Nikodým-Grothendieck Boundedness Theorem and Theorem 1.2.19. The set is nowhere dense, so it is trivially of the first category. Based on this on can ask: Which Banach spaces contain thick sets of the first category? The interesting and surprising answer is that indeed *every* Banach space does. This follows from the fact that every Banach space contains a Hamelbasis of the first category [9, Proposition 3.2] and Theorem 1.2.19. In other words we can conclude from this that every Banach space contains a set on which (the category version of) the Banach-Steinhaus Uniform Boundedness Principle does not apply, but Theorem 1.2.19 does.

Let X be a Banach space and assume \mathcal{F} is a subset of X^* . Suppose we want to determine whether \mathcal{F} is bounded or not. From Theorem 1.2.19, we know that \mathcal{F} is bounded if and only if it is pointwise bounded on a thick set A in X. But suppose we know in addition that \mathcal{F} belongs to some (weak*-dense linear) subset Γ of X^* . Can we then weaken the restrictions on A and still have an equivalence as in Theorem 1.2.19? We can state the following problem.

Problem 1.2.30. Let A be a subset of a Banach space X and let $\mathcal{F} \subset \Gamma$ where Γ is a weak*-dense linear subset of X*. Which condition (P_{Γ}) must A fulfill so

that boundedness of \mathcal{F} can be deduced from testing pointwise boundedness of \mathcal{F} on A?

Note that for $A \subset X$ in case $\Gamma = X \subset X^{**}$, (P_{Γ}) is exactly the weak*boundedness property for A.

Let A be a subset of a Banach space X. The following list of examples are special cases of the problem above:

- (a) If Y and Z are Banach spaces, $X = \mathcal{L}(Y, Z)$, and $\Gamma = Y \otimes Z^*$.
- (b) If Γ is the (norm closed) linear span of the extreme points of B_{X^*} (or of any James boundary).
- (c) If X has a Schauder basis and Γ is the (norm closed) linear span of the biorthogonal functionals in X^* associated with the basis.
- (d) If Y is a Banach space and $T: X \to Y$ is a bounded linear injection and $\Gamma = T^*(Y^*)$.
- (e) If X is a dual Y^* and Γ is the Baire functionals, Ba(Y), in Y^{**} .

Motivated by Problem 1.2.30 and the definitions of norming and weak*norming and thin and weak*-thin sets, we make the following definition.

Definition 1.2.31. Let X be a Banach space and Γ a weak*-dense linear subset of X*. A subset A of X is called Γ -norming if $\sup_{x \in A} |x^*(x)| : x^* \in S_{X^*} \cap \Gamma \} > 0$. If the set A is not Γ -norming, then it is called non- Γ -norming. Moreover, A is said to be Γ -thin if it can be written as a countable increasing union of non- Γ -norming sets. If it is not Γ -thin, then it is called Γ -thick.

Note that a bounded set is Γ -norming if and only if it is $\overline{\Gamma}$ -norming (norm closure in X^*). Thus a set Γ and its norm closure share the same thick sets. However, is the converse true, i.e. is it so that two sets $\Gamma_1, \Gamma_2 \subset X^*$ which share the same thick sets have the same norm closures? Indeed, the following result answers this question in the affirmative, and hence provides a good reason to study the special cases of Problem 1.2.30 listed above.

Theorem 1.2.32. Let X be a Banach space and let $\Gamma_1 \subset \Gamma_2$ be weak^{*}-dense linear subspaces of X^{*}. Then Γ_1 and Γ_2 share the same thick sets if and only if Γ_1 and Γ_2 have the same norm-closure.

We sketch a proof of this result.

Proof. As noted in the paragraph above Γ_1 and Γ_2 share the same thick sets if they have the same norm closures. For the converse one can assume that Γ_1 is not norm-dense in $\overline{\Gamma_2}$, then choose $x^* \in \overline{\Gamma_2} \setminus \overline{\Gamma_1}$ and put $A = \ker x^*$. It is evident that A now is Γ_2 -thin and not to hard to show using [16, Lemma 2] that A is Γ_1 -norming. This latter fact in combination with Banach's lemma (see e.g. [33, Lemma 82]), is then used to prove that A is Γ_1 -thick.

From the proof of Theorem 1.2.32, the next corollary follows.

Corollary 1.2.33. Let X be a Banach space. Suppose Γ is a weak^{*}-dense linear subspace of X^* and $\overline{\Gamma} \neq X^*$. If $x^* \in X^* \setminus \Gamma$, then ker x^* is a thin, but Γ -thick, set.

Note that this result generalizes [60, Corollary 2.2] of Nygaard presented in Theorem 1.2.15.

1.3 Background on approximation properties and *u*-ideals

A fundamental question in functional analysis is whether compact operators, from a Banach space Y into a Banach space X, can be approximated in norm by sequences of finite rank operators. (This has been called the approximation problem for obvious reasons.) A Banach space X for which this is true for every Banach space Y, is said to have the approximation property. The first formal treatment of the approximation property was done by Grothendieck [32] in his doctoral thesis from 1955. In his thesis he produced equivalent formulations of the approximation property. It is, however, clear from [67] that Banach and his collaborators, knew many of these equivalences.

In [32], Grothendieck defined stronger forms of the approximation property, e.g. the bounded approximation property and the metric approximation property. A powerful and important result concerning the latter of these two properties, says that for separable dual spaces, the approximation property implies the metric approximation property. This result has never been generalized to non-separable Banach spaces. However, in some unpublished lecture notes (see [16, p. 256]), Rosenthal has shown that for a Banach space with the Radon-Nikodým property which is 1-complemented in its bidual, the approximation property implies the metric approximation property. Thus for a dual Banach space with the Radon-Nikodým property, the approximation property implies the metric approximation property. The result of Rosenthal is actually also implicit in Grothendieck's thesis [32].

Lima and Oja [55] have recently made a new approach to answer the problem of whether Grothendieck's result holds for non-separable spaces. They did so by introducing the weak metric approximation property. The weak metric approximation property is weaker than the metric approximation property and strictly stronger than the approximation property [55, Proposition 2.2]. For dual spaces, however, Lima and Oja has proved that the approximation property implies the weak metric approximation property [55, Corollary 3.4]. So the problem of determining whether Grothendieck's result generalizes to nonseparable spaces still remains, but now we are left with the question of whether the weak metric approximation property implies the metric approximation property for non-separable dual spaces.

Most recently [44] the weak metric approximation property has been characterized in terms of ideals of finite rank operators and Hahn-Banach extension operators. The article [1], which constitutes Chapter 3 in this thesis, contains generalized forms of characterizations of the weak metric approximation property obtained in [55] and [44].

The study of *u*-ideals and the unconditional metric approximation property, emerged from the article [11] by Casazza and Kalton. Casazza and Kalton proved that for a separable reflexive Banach space X with the approximation property, $\mathcal{K}(X, X)$ is a *u*-ideal in $\mathcal{L}(X, X)$ if and only if X has the unconditional metric approximation property. Lima [50] generalized this result by showing that it holds when the unconditional metric approximation property is replaced by the unconditional metric compact approximation property and when only assuming X to have the Radon-Nikodým property. However, removing the Radon-Nikodým property from the assumption, Lima and Lima [45] showed that the above result is equivalent to $\mathcal{K}(Y,X)$ being a *u*-ideal in $\mathcal{L}(Y,X)$ for every Banach space Y which in turn is equivalent to $\mathcal{K}(\hat{X},X)$ being a *u*-ideal in $\mathcal{L}(\hat{X},X)$ for every equivalent renorming \hat{X} of X. A similar result for dual spaces having the unconditional metric compact approximation property with conjugate operators, was also obtained in [45].

In the article [2], which constitutes Chapter 4 in this thesis, we look at the finite rank operators and obtain characterizations for when they are u-ideals in the space of weakly compact operators.

1.3.1 Basic results on approximation properties and *u*ideals

A sequence (x_n) in a Banach space X is called a *Schauder basis* for X if for each $x \in X$ there is a unique sequence (α_n) of scalars such that

$$x = \lim_{n} \sum_{k=1}^{n} \alpha_k x_k.$$

On page 111 in the famous book *Théorie des Opération Linéaires* [7] from 1932, the following problem appears: "Does every separable Banach space have a Schauder basis?" This problem, known as the basis problem, remained open for a long time and was solved in the negative by Enflo [20] in 1973. Enflo constructed a separable, reflexive Banach space without the approximation property, and by doing so he also solved the approximation problem.

Definition 1.3.1 (Grothendieck, 1955). A Banach space X has the approximation property (AP) if for every compact set K in X and every $\varepsilon > 0$, there is an operator $T: X \to X$ of finite rank such that $||Tx - x|| < \varepsilon$, for every $x \in K$. If these approximating finite rank operators can be chosen with $||T|| \leq \lambda$, for some $\lambda \geq 1$, then X is said to have the λ -bounded approximation property (λ -BAP). A Banach space is said to have the bounded approximation property (BAP) if it has λ -BAP for some λ . We say that X has the metric approximation property if it has 1-BAP.

A Banach space with a Schauder basis has the BAP and hence the AP. So Enflo's space is, in particular, an example of a separable Banach space without a Schauder basis. Right after Enflo's construction was published, Davie [12] simplified it and showed that c_0 and ℓ_p , for p > 2, have subspaces without the AP. Later the same decade, Szankowski [74] proved that also ℓ_p , for $1 \le p < 2$, have subspaces without the AP. Szankowski [75] has also proved that the space of bounded linear operators on an infinite dimensional Hilbert space fails the AP.

In 1973, using Enflo's example, Figiel and Johnson [23] showed that there is a Banach space with the AP which fails the BAP. In 1987 Szarek [76] showed that there exists a reflexive Banach space without a basis which has the BAP. It has also been proved that there are Banach spaces with the BAP which fail the MAP (cf. e.g. [57, p. 42]).

In many cases, however, the AP implies the MAP. A powerful and surprising result of Grothendieck [32] (see e.g. [57, p. 39] for a nice proof of this) reads.

Theorem 1.3.2 (Grothendieck, 1955). Let X be a separable Banach space which is isometric to a dual space and which has the AP. Then X has the MAP.

It is, however, still an open problem whether this result holds for nonseparable spaces.

Problem 1.3.3. Does the AP of the dual space X^* of a Banach space X imply the MAP?

The obvious reason why it is still unknown whether Theorem 1.3.2 holds for non-separable spaces, is that the proof does not generalize to such spaces. The fact that in a separable dual Banach space X^* , the sets B_{X^*} and $B_{X^{**}}$ are compact metric in their corresponding weak^{*} topologies, are crucial parts of the proof.

In 1974 Davis, Figiel, Johnson, and Pełczyński [13, Corollary 1] proved that every weakly compact operator factors through a reflexive Banach space. Lima, Nygaard, and Oja later improved this result in [51, Theorems 2.3 and 2.4] by showing that the factorization can by done isometrically and even uniformly with respect to finite dimensional subspaces. Their proof is based on the Davis-Figiel-Johnson-Pełczyński construction. However, in the Lima-Nygaard-Oja version of the Davis-Figiel-Johnson-Pelczyński construction, the number 2 is replaced by \sqrt{a} for a > 1. This seemingly minor change, turns out to be important.

Let a > 1 and let K be a closed absolutely convex subset of the unit ball B_X of a Banach space X. For each positive integer n, put $B_n = a^{\frac{n}{2}}K + a^{-\frac{n}{2}}B_X$ and denote by $\|\cdot\|_n$ the equivalent norm on X defined by the gauge on B_n . Let $\|x\|_K = (\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \|x\|_n)^{\frac{1}{2}}$, $X_K = \{x \in X : \|x\|_K < \infty\}$, $C_K = \{x \in X : \|x\|_K \le 1\}$, and let J_K denote the identity embedding of X_K into X. Finally, define $f: (1, \infty) \to \mathbb{R}$ by

$$f(a) = \left(\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{a^n}{(a^n+1)^2}\right)^{1/2}.$$

It can be shown that there is a unique $\tilde{a} \in (1, \infty)$ such that $f(\tilde{a}) = 1$. For this fixed number \tilde{a} , Lima, Nygaard, and Oja proved in Lemmas 1.1 and 2.1 in [51], the following isometric version of Lemma 1 in [13].

Lemma 1.3.4 (Lima, Nygaard, and Oja, 2000). Let K be a closed absolutely convex subset of the unit ball B_X of a Banach space X. If $a \in (1, \infty)$ is such that f(a) = 1, then

- (a) $K \subset C_K \subset B_X$
- (b) $(X_K, \|\cdot\|_K)$ is a Banach space with closed unit ball C_K , and $J_K \in \mathcal{L}(X_K, X)$ with $\|J_K\| \leq 1$.
- (c) J_K^{**} is injective.
- (d) X_K is reflexive if and only if K is weakly compact.
- (e) The X-norm and the X_K -norm topologies coincide on K.
- (f) The weak topologies defined by X^* and X_K^* coincide on C_K .

(g) C_K as a subset of X is compact, weakly compact, or separable if and only if K has the same property.

Davis, Figiel, Johnson, and Pełczyński used their version of the preceding result to prove that every weakly compact operator factors through a reflexive space. Similarly Lima, Nygaard, and Oja applied their quantitative modified version to prove that the factorization can be done isometrically and uniformly in the following way.

Theorem 1.3.5 (Lima, Nygaard, and Oja, 2000). Let F be a finite dimensional subspace of W(Y, X). Then there exist a reflexive space Z, a norm one operator $J: Z \to X$, and a linear isometry $\Phi: F \to W(Y, Z)$ such that $T = J \circ \Phi(T)$ for all $T \in F$. Moreover,

- (a) $Z = X_K$ and $J = J_K$ for the weakly compact absolutely convex set $K = \overline{\text{conv}}\{Ty: T \in B_F \text{ and } y \in B_Y\}$ whenever the number a is fixed so that f(a) = 1.
- (b) T is compact if and only if $\Phi(T)$ is compact.
- (c) T has finite rank if and only if $\Phi(T)$ has finite rank.

Corollary 1.3.6 (Lima, Nygaard, and Oja, 2000). Let F be a finite dimensional subspace of $\mathcal{W}(X, Y)$. Then there exist a reflexive space Z, a norm one operator $J: X \to Z$, and a linear isometry $\Phi: F \to \mathcal{W}(Z, Y)$ such that $T = \Phi(T) \circ J$ for all $T \in F$. Moreover,

- (a) T is compact if and only if $\Phi(T)$ is compact.
- (b) T has finite rank if and only if $\Phi(T)$ has finite rank.

Using their version of the Davis-Figiel-Johnson-Pełczyński construction, Lemma 1.3.4, Lima, Nygaard, and Oja proved in [51, Corollary 1.5] that the approximation property has a "metric" equivalent.

Theorem 1.3.7 (Lima, Nygaard, and Oja, 2000). Let X be a Banach space. The following statements are equivalent.

- (a) X has the approximation property.
- (b) For every Banach space Y and every T ∈ W(Y, X), there is a net (T_α) in F(Y, X) with sup_α ||T_α|| ≤ ||T|| such that T_α → T in the strong operator topology.
- (c) For every separable reflexive Banach space Y and every $T \in \mathcal{K}(Y, X)$, there is a net (T_{α}) in $\mathcal{F}(Y, X)$ with $\sup_{\alpha} ||T_{\alpha}|| \leq ||T||$ such that $T_{\alpha} \to T$ in the strong operator topology.

One can show that Theorem 1.3.7 can be continued by

(d) For every Banach space Y and every $T \in \mathcal{W}(Y,X)$, there is a net (S_{α}) in $\mathcal{F}(X,X)$ with $\sup_{\alpha} ||S_{\alpha}T|| \leq ||T||$ such that $S_{\alpha} \to I_X$ uniformly on compact sets in X. (e) For every separable reflexive Banach space Y and every $T \in \mathcal{K}(Y, X)$, there is a net (S_{α}) in $\mathcal{F}(X, X)$ with $\sup_{\alpha} ||S_{\alpha}T|| \leq ||T||$ such that $S_{\alpha} \to I_X$ uniformly on compact sets in X.

Proof. We only need to show that (b) \Rightarrow (d). To this end, first note that the net (T_{α}) in (b) may be assumed to converge uniformly on compact sets in Y. Now, let $\varepsilon > 0$ and $T \in \mathcal{W}(Y,X)$ of norm one. Let $u_k = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} x_{k,n}^* \otimes x_{k,n} \in X^* \hat{\otimes}_{\pi} X = (\mathcal{L}(X,X),\tau)^*$ for k = 1, ..., m where τ is the topology of uniform convergence on compact sets in X (see e.g. [57, Proposition 1.e.3]). Assume $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} ||x_{k,n}^*|| < \infty$ and $1 \geq ||x_{k,n}|| \to 0$ for each k = 1, ..., m. Put $K = \overline{\operatorname{conv}} \{ \pm T(B_Y) \cup \{x_{k,n}\} : k = 1, ..., m; n = 1, 2, ... \} \subset B_X$. Let Z be the Banach space constructed from K in Lemma 1.3.4, and let $J : Z \to X$ be the identity embedding of Z into X. Now Z is reflexive and $J \in \mathcal{W}(Z,X)$ is of norm one. From (b) in Theorem 1.3.7 and the two first lines in this paragraph, there is a net $(J_{\alpha}) \subset \mathcal{F}(Z, X)$ with $\sup_{\alpha} ||J_{\alpha}|| \leq ||J|| = 1$ such that $J_{\alpha} \to J$ uniformly on compact sets in Z. By Lemma 1.3.4 J^*X^* is norm-dense in Z^* and thus we can write $J_{\alpha} = S_{\alpha}J$ where S_{α} is in $\mathcal{F}(X,X)$. For each $x_{k,n}$ and k = 1, ..., m, n = 1, ... choose $z_{k,n} \in B_Z$ and S in (S_{α}) such that $Jz_{k,n} = x_{k,n}$ and

$$\varepsilon > \max_{1 \le k \le m} |\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \langle SJz_{k,n}, x_{k,n}^* \rangle - \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \langle Jz_{k,n}, x_{k,n}^* \rangle |$$
$$= \max_{1 \le k \le m} |\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \langle Sx_{k,n}, x_{k,n}^* \rangle - \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \langle x_{k,n}, x_{k,n}^* \rangle |.$$

Thus (d) follows from (b).

In [55] Lima and Oja introduced the weak metric approximation property.

Definition 1.3.8. A Banach space X has the weak metric approximation property (weak MAP) if for every Banach space Y and for every $T \in \mathcal{W}(X, Y)$, there is a net (S_{α}) in $\mathcal{F}(X, X)$ with $\sup_{\alpha} ||TS_{\alpha}|| \leq ||T||$ such that $S_{\alpha} \to I_X$ uniformly on compact sets in X.

Note that the only difference between Definition 1.3.8 and statement (d) in Theorem 1.3.7 is that the roles of X and Y are interchanged. Comparing definitions it is immediate that MAP \Rightarrow weak MAP \Rightarrow AP. The fact that the weak MAP is strictly stronger than the AP follows from [55, Proposition 2.1]. Recently, Oja [66, Corollary 1] showed that if a Banach space has the weak MAP, then it has the MAP if either its dual or its bidual have the Radon-Nikodým property. It is still unknown if the weak MAP implies the MAP in general. However, in [55, Corollary 3.4] it is shown that for dual spaces the AP implies the weak MAP. Hence Problem 1.3.3 can be restated as follows.

Problem 1.3.9. Does the weak MAP of the dual space X^* of a Banach space X imply the MAP?

In [55, Theorem 2.4] Lima and Oja proved the following characterization of the weak MAP.

Theorem 1.3.10 (Lima and Oja, 2005). Let X be a Banach space. The following statements are equivalent.

- (a) X has the weak MAP.
- (b) For every separable reflexive Banach space Y and for every operator $T \in \mathcal{K}(X,Y)$, there exists a net $(S_{\alpha}) \subset \mathcal{F}(X,X)$ with $\sup_{\alpha} ||TS_{\alpha}|| \leq ||T||$ such that $S_{\alpha} \to I_X$ in the strong operator topology.
- (c) For every separable reflexive Banach space Y and for every operator $T \in \mathcal{K}(X,Y)$, there exists a net $(S_{\alpha}) \subset \mathcal{F}(X,X)$ with $\sup_{\alpha} ||TS_{\alpha}|| \leq ||T||$ such that $TS_{\alpha} \to T$ in the strong operator topology.
- (d) For every Banach space Y, for every operator $T \in \mathcal{W}(X,Y)$ with ||T|| = 1, and for all sequences $(x_n) \subset X$, and $(y_n^*) \subset Y^*$ with $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} ||x_n|| ||y_n^*|| < \infty$, one has the inequality

$$|\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} y_n^*(Tx_n)| \le \sup_{\|TS\| \le 1, S \in \mathcal{F}(X,X)} |\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} y_n^*(TSx_n)|.$$

In [29] Godefroy, Kalton, and Saphar introduced the notion of an ideal.

Definition 1.3.11. A closed subspace X of a Banach space Y is an *ideal* in Y if the annihilator X^{\perp} is the kernel of a linear norm one projection on Y^* . Such a projection is called an *ideal projection*.

It is straightforward to show that ideals can be expressed in terms of Hahn-Banach extension operators.

Definition 1.3.12. Let X be a subspace of a Banach space Y. A linear operator $\phi : X^* \to Y^*$ is called a *Hahn-Banach extension operator* if $\phi(x^*)(x) = x^*(x)$ and $\|\phi(x^*)\| = \|x^*\|$ for every $x \in X$ and $x^* \in X^*$. We write $\operatorname{IB}(X, Y)$ for the set of all Hahn-Banach extension operators from X^* into Y^* .

The justification for this terminology comes from the Hahn-Banach Theorem, which tells us that every element $x^* \in X^*$ has a norm-preserving extension to Y. A Hahn-Banach extension operator extends all elements in X^* linearly.

The connection between ideals and Hahn-Banach extension operators was announced above. Indeed, if $i_X : X \to Y$ is the natural inclusion and $\phi \in$ $\operatorname{IB}(X,Y)$, then the operator $P = \phi \circ i_X^*$ is an ideal projection on Y^* with ker $P = X^{\perp}$ (*P* is usually called the corresponding ideal projection to ϕ). Conversely, if X is an ideal in Y with an ideal projection *P*, then $\phi : X^* \to Y^*$ defined by $\phi x^* = Py^*$, where $y^* \in \operatorname{IB}(x^*)$, the set of norm-preserving extensions of x^* to Y, is a Hahn-Banach extension operator (ϕ is called the corresponding Hahn-Banach extension operator to *P*). Thus $\operatorname{IB}(X,Y) \neq \emptyset$ if and only if X is an ideal in Y.

Lima [44, Theorem 2.6 and Proposition 3.1] has showed that the weak MAP can be characterized in terms of ideals of finite rank operators and Hahn-Banach extension operators.

Theorem 1.3.13 (Lima). Let X be a Banach space. The following statements are equivalent.

- (a) X has the weak MAP.
- (b) For every Banach space Y, $\mathcal{F}(Y, X)$ is an ideal in $\mathcal{W}(Y, X^{**})$.

- (c) For every separable reflexive Banach space Y, $\mathcal{F}(Y, X)$ is an ideal in $\mathcal{K}(Y, X^{**})$.
- (d) There exists a Hahn-Banach extension operator $\phi \in \mathbf{B}(X, X^{**})$ such that for every choice of sequences $(x_n^*)_{n=1}^{\infty} \subset X^*$ and $(x_n^{**})_{n=1}^{\infty} \subset X^{**}$ with $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \|x_n^*\| \|x_n^{**}\| < \infty$ and $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} x_n^*(x) x_n^{**} = 0$, for all $x \in X$ we have

$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \phi(x_n^*)(x_n^{**}) = 0$$

- (e) There exists a Hahn-Banach extension operator $\phi \in \mathcal{B}(X, X^{**})$ such that for every reflexive Banach space Y and operator $T \in \mathcal{W}(Y, X^{**})$ we have $\phi^*|_{X^{**}}T \in \mathcal{F}(Y, X)^{**}$.
- (f) There exists a Hahn-Banach extension operator φ ∈ B(X, X^{**}) such that for every reflexive Banach space Y and operator T ∈ K(Y, X^{**}) we have φ^{*}|_{X^{**}}T ∈ F(Y, X)^{**}.

In [1] (cf. Theorem 3.2.4) we generalize Theorem 1.3.13 by proving that the extension operator $\phi \in \operatorname{IB}(X, X^{**})$, can be replaced by an extension operator $\phi_P \in \operatorname{IB}(X, X^{**})$ such that $P = \phi_P^*|_{X^{**}}$ is a projection on X^{**} . The fact that this can be done, follows from the result below (cf. Theorem 3.2.1). We state Theorem 3.2.1 in a slightly different manner here.

Theorem 1.3.14 (Abrahamsen, 2007). Let X be a Banach space.

- (a) If P is a norm one projection on X^{**} with $X \subset P(X^{**})$, then $\varphi_P = P^*k_{X^*} \in H\!\!B(X, X^{**})$.
- (b) If there exists a Hahn-Banach extension operator φ ∈ HB(X, X^{**}) such that φ^{*}|_{X^{**}} is in the weak^{*}-closure of F(X, X) in L(X^{**}, X^{**}), then there exists a norm one projection P on X^{**} with X ⊂ P(X^{**}) such that P is in the weak^{*}-closure of F(X, X) in L(X^{**}, X^{**}).

Using Theorem 1.3.14 in combination with Lemma 1.3.4 and a result of Godefroy and Saphar [30, Theorem 1.5], one can prove that the following holds (cf. Proposition 3.2.2).

Proposition 1.3.15 (Abrahamsen, 2007). Let X be a Banach space with the weak MAP. Then there exists a projection P on X^{**} with $X \subset P(X^{**})$ such that for every reflexive Banach space Y and for every $T \in \mathcal{W}(X,Y)$, there exists a net $(S_{\alpha}) \subset \mathcal{F}(X,X)$ with $\limsup_{\alpha} ||TS_{\alpha}|| \leq ||T||$ such that $S_{\alpha} \to P$ weak^{*} in $\mathcal{L}(X^{**}, X^{**})$.

Of course Proposition 1.3.15 holds for every Banach space Y and not just for reflexive Y. Indeed, this is immediate from Corollary 1.3.6 by putting F =span{T} for $T \in \mathcal{W}(X, Y)$. On the basis of this, Proposition 1.3.15 should be compared with Definition 1.3.8.

Prior to the notion an ideal, Alfsen and Effors had introduced the notion of an *M*-ideal in a Banach space in their fundamental article [4] from 1972. Part of their aim was to generalize structure theories for C^* -algebras and L_1 preduals. This becomes transparent from the definition below and the fact that in C^* -algebras *M*-ideals are exactly the closed two-sided algebraic ideals. **Definition 1.3.16.** Let Y be a Banach space. A linear projection P on Y is called an *L*-projection if

$$||y|| = ||Py|| + ||y - Py||$$
 for all $y \in Y$.

A closed subspace $X \subset Y$ is called an *L*-summand in *Y* if it is the range of an *L*-projection. If the annihilator $X^{\perp} \subset Y^*$ of *X* is an *L*-summand, then *X* is called an *M*-ideal in *Y*.

Vaguely spoken, if X is an M-ideal in Y, then the norm of Y^* resembles the ℓ_1 -norm and the norm of Y thus ought to resemble the max-norm. M-ideals have been thoroughly studied in many articles. The reader should confer the book [35] for a nice and exhaustive presentation of M-ideal theory.

From the definitions it is immediate that M-ideals are stronger forms of ideals. Also properties intermediate that of being an M-ideal and that of being an ideal, have been studied in the literature (see e.g. [37], [62]). An unconditional ideal is one such property. The notion of an unconditional ideal was introduced by Kalton and Casazza in [11].

Definition 1.3.17. A closed subspace X of a Banach space Y is an unconditional ideal (*u-ideal*) in Y if there exists a linear projection P on Y^* with ker $P = X^{\perp}$ such that ||I - 2P|| = 1.

It is straightforward to show that this definition is equivalent to $||v + x^{\perp}|| = ||v - x^{\perp}||$ for every $v \in P(Y^*)$ and $x^{\perp} \in X^{\perp}$. Thus, if X is a u-ideal in Y, the norm on Y^* fulfills a symmetry condition.

In [56] Lindenstrauss and Rosenthal showed that finite dimensional subspaces of the bidual of a Banach space X, are more or less the same as those of X. This fact is commonly referred to as the *Principle of Local Reflexivity*. The version of this principle listed below was proved in [41] and is a slightly stronger form of that of Lindenstrauss and Rosenthal.

Theorem 1.3.18 (Principle of Local Reflexivity, 1969). Let X be a Banach space, and let E and F be finite dimensional subspaces of X^{**} and X^* , respectively. Then, for each $\varepsilon > 0$ there is an injective operator $L : E \to X$ with the following properties:

- (a) L(x) = x for all $x \in E \cap X$,
- (b) $||L|| \cdot ||L^{-1}|| \le 1 + \varepsilon$,
- (c) $\langle Lx^{**}, x^{**} \rangle = \langle x^{**}, x^* \rangle$ for all $x^{**} \in E$ and $x^* \in F$.

Every Banach space X is an ideal in its bidual, since the natural embedding $k_{X^*}: X^* \to X^{***}$ is a Hahn-Banach extension operator. In fact, every ideal in a Banach space can be characterized in terms of local structure similarly to the Principle of Local Reflexivity. This follows from results of Fakhoury [21] and Kalton [42]. Of course Fakhoury and Kalton did not use the term "ideal" which was introduced later, as mentioned above.

Theorem 1.3.19 (Fakhoury, 1972 and Kalton, 1984). Let X be a subspace of a Banach space Y. Then the following statements are equivalent.

(a) X is an ideal in Y.

- (b) For every finite dimensional subspace E of Y and every $\varepsilon > 0$, there exists a linear operator $L: E \to X$ such that
 - (i) L(x) = x for all $x \in E \cap X$,
 - (ii) $||L|| \leq 1 + \varepsilon$.

Godefroy, Kalton, and Saphar showed that also u-ideals have a local characterization. From [29, Lemma 2.2 and Proposition 3.6] and we have the following result.

Theorem 1.3.20 (Godefroy, Kalton, and Saphar, 1993). Let Y be a Banach space and let X be a subspace of Y. The following statements are equivalent.

- (a) X is a u-ideal in Y.
- (b) There exists a Hahn Banach extension operator φ ∈ HB(X, Y) such that for every y ∈ Y there is a net (x_α) in X such that φ^{*}(y) = lim_α x_α in the weak^{*}-topology and lim sup_α ||y − 2x_α|| ≤ ||y||.
- (c) For every finite dimensional subspace E of Y and every $\varepsilon > 0$, there is a linear map $L: E \to X$ such that
 - (1) L(y) = y for every $y \in E \cap X$, and
 - (2) $||y 2L(y)|| \le (1 + \varepsilon)||y||$ for every $y \in E$.

There are approximation properties linked to the notion of u-ideals.

Definition 1.3.21. A Banach space X has the unconditional metric approximation property (UMAP) if there is a net (T_{α}) in $\mathcal{F}(X, X)$ with $\limsup_{\alpha} ||I - 2T_{\alpha}|| \leq 1$ such that $T_{\alpha}x \to x$ for every $x \in X$. If the net (T_{α}) is in $\mathcal{K}(X, X)$ instead of $\mathcal{F}(X, X)$ we say that X has the unconditional metric compact approximation property (UMKAP).

The obvious reason for this terminology is given by the following result of Casazza and Kalton [11, Theorem 3.8].

Theorem 1.3.22 (Casazza and Kalton, 1990). A separable Banach space X has the UMAP if and only if for every $\varepsilon > 0$ there exists a sequence $(T_n) \in \mathcal{F}(X, X)$ with $\sup_n ||T_n|| < \infty$ and $T_n x \to x$ for all $x \in X$, so that if $A_n = T_n - T_{n-1}$ for $n \in \mathbb{N}$ (with $T_0 = 0$) then for every $N \in \mathbb{N}$ and all $\eta_i = \pm 1$, i = 1, 2, ..., N we have

$$\left\|\sum_{n=1}^{N}\eta_{i}A_{i}\right\| \leq 1+\epsilon$$

In [29, Theorem 8.1] Godefroy, Kalton, and Saphar showed that Theorem 1.3.22 holds when UMAP and \mathcal{F} is replaced by UMKAP and \mathcal{K} respectively.

Casazza and Kalton also proved in [11, Theorem 3.9] that UMAP is related to u-ideals of compact operators in the following way.

Theorem 1.3.23 (Casazza and Kalton, 1990). Let X be a separable reflexive Banach space with the approximation property. Then the following statements are equivalent.

- (a) X has UMAP.
- (b) $\mathcal{K}(X, X)$ is a u-ideal in $\mathcal{L}(X, X)$.

In [29, Theorem 8.3] Godefroy, Kalton, and Saphar showed that Theorem 1.3.23 holds when UMAP is replaced by UMKAP without assuming X to have the AP. Lima soon generalized this result by showing that the assumptions can be reduced to X having the RNP or $B_{X^*} = \overline{\text{conv}}(\omega^* \operatorname{-str-exp} B_{X^*})$ [50, Theorem 4.3]. Note that if X has the AP, then $\mathcal{K}(X, X)$ is the norm closure of $\mathcal{F}(X, X)$. Thus [50, Theorem 4.3] of Lima also generalize Theorem 1.3.23. Theorems 5.2 and 6.1 in [45] show that the following holds without any assumptions on the Banach space X.

Theorem 1.3.24 (Lima and Lima, 2004). Let X be a Banach space. The following statements are equivalent.

- (a) X has UMKAP.
- (b) $\mathcal{K}(Y,X)$ is a u-ideal in $\mathcal{L}(Y,X)$ for every Banach space Y.
- (c) $\mathcal{K}(\hat{X}, X)$ is a u-ideal in $\mathcal{L}(\hat{X}, X)$ for every equivalent renorming \hat{X} for X.

Theorem 1.3.25 (Lima and Lima, 2004). Let X be a Banach space. The following statements are equivalent.

- (a) X^* has UMKAP with conjugate operators.
- (b) $\mathcal{K}(X,Y)$ is a u-ideal in $\mathcal{L}(X,Y)$ for every Banach space Y.
- (c) $\mathcal{K}(X, \hat{X})$ is a u-ideal in $\mathcal{L}(X, \hat{X})$ for every equivalent renorming \hat{X} for X.

The results also hold when compact operators and UMKAP are replaced by finite rank operators and UMAP respectively.

The next result was proved is Theorem 3.3 in [51].

Theorem 1.3.26 (Lima, Nygaard, and Oja, 2000). Let X be a Banach space. The following statements are equivalent.

- (a) X has the AP.
- (b) $\mathcal{F}(Y, X)$ is an ideal in $\mathcal{W}(Y, X)$ for every Banach space Y.
- (c) $\mathcal{F}(Y,X)$ is an ideal in $\mathcal{K}(Y,X)$ for every separable reflexive Banach space Y.

Next we prove that Theorem 1.3.26 can be continued by the following statements:

- (d) $\mathcal{F}(Y,X)$ is an ideal in span $(\mathcal{F}(Y,X), \{T\})$ for every Banach space Y and every $T \in \mathcal{W}(Y,X)$.
- (e) $\mathcal{F}(Y,X)$ is an ideal in span $(\mathcal{F}(Y,X), \{T\})$ for every separable reflexive Banach space Y and every $T \in \mathcal{K}(Y,X)$.

Proof. We only have to prove (e) \Rightarrow (c). To do this, we use the ideas from the proofs of [51, Lemma 1.4] and [2, Proposition 2.5].

Let Y be a separable reflexive Banach space and let $T \in \mathcal{K}(Y, X)$. We want to show that $\mathbb{B}(\mathcal{F}(Y, X), \mathcal{K}(Y, X)) \neq \emptyset$. Since $\mathcal{F}(Y, X)$ is an ideal in $\mathcal{B} = \operatorname{span}(\mathcal{F}(Y, X), \{T\})$ we can, by using Goldstine's theorem, find a net $(T_{\alpha}) \subset$ $\mathcal{F}(Y, X)$ with $\sup_{\alpha} ||T_{\alpha}|| \leq ||T||$ such that $T_{\alpha} \to \Phi_T^*(T)$ weak*, where $\Phi_T \in$ $\mathbb{B}(\mathcal{F}(Y, X), \mathcal{B})$ is the extension operator. Now, assume that $y \in B_Y$ is a strongly exposed point. Then by Lemma 3.4 in [50] $x^* \otimes y$ has a unique norm-preserving extension from $\mathcal{F}(Y, X)$ to $\mathcal{L}(Y, X)$ and hence $\Phi_T(x^* \otimes y) = x^* \otimes y$. Since Y has the RNP we get $\Phi_T(x^* \otimes y)$ for every $x^* \in X^*$ and $y \in Y$ by linearity and continuity. By a theorem of Feder and Saphar [22, Theorem 1] $\mathcal{F}(Y, X)^*$ is a quotient of $X^* \hat{\otimes}_{\pi} Y$ and it follows that Φ_T is just the identity and hence unique. A straightforward calculation shows that $\Phi_T^*(T) = T$. Thus the operator $\Psi = I_{X^*} \otimes I_Y \in \mathbb{B}(\mathcal{F}(Y, X), \mathcal{K}(Y, X))$ and (c) follows.

If the roles of X and Y are interchanged in Theorem 1.3.26, we get a characterization of the dual of X having the AP [51, Theorem 3.4].

The metric approximation property has also been characterized in terms of ideals of operators similarly to the approximation property.

Theorem 1.3.27 (Lima and Lima, 2004). Let X be a Banach space. The following statements are equivalent.

- (a) X has the MAP.
- (b) $\mathcal{F}(Y, X)$ is an ideal in $\mathcal{L}(Y, X)$ for every Banach space Y.
- (c) $\mathcal{F}(Y, X)$ is an ideal in $\mathcal{L}(Y, X)$ for every separable Banach space Y.
- (d) $\mathcal{F}(\hat{X}, X)$ is an ideal in $\mathcal{L}(\hat{X}, X)$ for every equivalent renorming \hat{X} of X.

If the roles of X and Y are interchanged in Theorem 1.3.27, we get a characterization of the dual of X having the MAP with conjugate operators [45, Theorem 1.2].

From [52, Theorem 5.1] and [53, Theorem 4.4] (resp. [53, Theorem 4.3]) we have the following result when the space of compact operators is considered as a subspace of the space of weakly compact operators.

Theorem 1.3.28 (Lima and Oja, 1999 and 2004). Let X be a closed subspace of a Banach space Z. Then $\mathcal{F}(Y, X)$ is a u-ideal in $\mathcal{W}(Y, Z)$ (resp. $\mathcal{K}(Y, Z)$) for all Banach spaces Y if and only if $\mathcal{F}(Y, X)$ is a u-ideal in $\mathcal{W}(Y, Z)$ (resp. $\mathcal{K}(Y, Z)$) for all (resp. separable) reflexive Banach spaces Y.

In [2], which is presented in Chapter 4 in this thesis, we study when the space of finite rank operators is a u-ideal in the space of compact and weakly compact operators as in Theorems, 1.3.29, 1.3.30, 1.3.31, and 1.3.32 below (cf. Theorems 4.3.2, 4.3.8, 4.4.4, and 4.4.6 respectively).

Theorem 1.3.29 (Abrahamsen, Lima, and Lima). Let X be a Banach space. The following statements are equivalent.

- (a) $\mathcal{F}(Y, X)$ is a u-ideal in $\mathcal{W}(Y, X)$ for every Banach space Y.
- (b) $\mathcal{F}(Y,X)$ is a u-ideal in span $(\mathcal{F}(Y,X), \{T\})$ for every $T \in \mathcal{W}(Y,X)$ and for every reflexive Banach space Y.

- (c) For every reflexive Banach space Y there exists a Hahn-Banach extension operator $\Psi \in H\!\!B(\mathcal{F}(Y,X),\mathcal{W}(Y,X))$ such that for every $T \in \mathcal{W}(Y,X)$ there is a net $(T_{\alpha}) \subset \mathcal{F}(Y,X)$ with $\limsup_{\alpha} \|T - 2T_{\alpha}\| \leq \|T\|$ such that $T_{\alpha} \to \Psi^{*}(T) = T$ weak^{*} in $\mathcal{F}(Y,X)^{**}$.
- (d) For every weakly compact set $K \subset X$ there is a net $(S_{\alpha}) \subset \mathcal{F}(X, X)$ with $\lim_{\alpha} \sup_{x \in K} ||x 2S_{\alpha}x|| \leq \sup_{x \in K} ||x||$ such that $S_{\alpha} \to I_X$ uniformly on compact subsets of K.
- (e) For every Banach space Y and $T \in \mathcal{W}(Y, X)$ there is a net $(S_{\alpha}) \subset \mathcal{F}(X, X)$ with $\limsup_{\alpha} ||T 2S_{\alpha}T|| \leq ||T||$ such that $S_{\alpha} \to I_X$ uniformly on compact sets in X.
- (f) For every Banach space Y and $T \in \mathcal{W}(Y, X)$ there is a net $(S_{\alpha}) \subset \mathcal{F}(X, X)$ with $\limsup_{\alpha} ||T 2S_{\alpha}T|| \leq ||T||$ such that $S_{\alpha} \to I_X$ in the strong operator topology.
- (g) For every reflexive Banach space Y and $T \in \mathcal{W}(Y, X)$ there is a net $(S_{\alpha}) \subset \mathcal{F}(X, X)$ with $\limsup_{\alpha} ||T 2S_{\alpha}T|| \leq ||T||$ such that $S_{\alpha}T \to T$ in the strong operator topology.

Theorem 1.3.30 (Abrahamsen, Lima, and Lima). Let X be a Banach space. The following statements are equivalent.

- (a) $\mathcal{F}(X,Y)$ is a u-ideal in $\mathcal{W}(X,Y)$ for every Banach space Y.
- (b) $\mathcal{F}(X,Y)$ is a u-ideal in $\mathcal{W}(X,Y)$ for every reflexive Banach space Y.
- (c) $\mathcal{F}(X,Y)$ is a u-ideal in span $(\mathcal{F}(X,Y), \{T\})$ for every $T \in \mathcal{W}(X,Y)$ and for every reflexive Banach space Y.
- (d) For every reflexive Banach space Y there exists a Hahn-Banach extension operator Ψ ∈ BB(F(X,Y),W(X,Y)) such that for every T ∈ W(X,Y) there is a net (T_α) ⊂ F(X,Y) with lim sup_α ||T − 2T_α|| ≤ ||T|| such that T_α → Ψ*(T) = T weak* in F(X,Y)**.
- (e) For every weakly compact compact set $K \subset X^*$ there is a net $(S_\alpha) \subset \mathcal{F}(X, X)$ with $\lim_{\alpha} \sup_{x^* \in K} ||x^* 2S_\alpha^* x^*|| \leq \sup_{x^* \in K} ||x^*||$ such that $S_\alpha^* \to I_{X^*}$ uniformly on compact subsets of K.
- (f) For every Banach space Y and $T \in \mathcal{W}(X,Y)$ there is a net $(S_{\alpha}) \subset \mathcal{F}(X,X)$ such that $\limsup_{\alpha} ||T 2TS_{\alpha}|| \leq ||T||$ and $S_{\alpha}^* \to I_{X^*}$ uniformly on compact sets in X^* .
- (g) For every Banach space Y and $T \in \mathcal{W}(X,Y)$ there is a net $(S_{\alpha}) \subset \mathcal{F}(X,X)$ such that $\limsup_{\alpha} ||T 2TS_{\alpha}|| \leq ||T||$ and $S_{\alpha}^* \to I_{X^*}$ in the strong operator topology.
- (h) For every reflexive Banach space Y and $T \in \mathcal{W}(X,Y)$ there is a net $(S_{\alpha}) \subset \mathcal{F}(X,X)$ such that $\limsup_{\alpha} ||T 2TS_{\alpha}|| \leq ||T||$ and $S_{\alpha}^*T^* \to T^*$ in the strong operator topology.

Theorem 1.3.31 (Abrahamsen, Lima, and Lima). Let X be a Banach space. The following statements are equivalent.

- (a) $\mathcal{F}(Y, X)$ is a u-ideal in $\mathcal{W}(Y, X^{**})$ for every Banach space Y.
- (b) X is a u-ideal in its bidual with unconditional Hahn-Banach extension operator ψ ∈ HB(X, X^{**}) such that for every Banach space Y and T ∈ W(Y, X^{**}) there is a net (S_α) ⊂ F(X, X) with lim sup_α ||T − 2S^{**}_αT|| ≤ ||T|| such that S^{**}_αT → ψ^{*}T weak^{*} in L(Y, X^{**}).
- (c) There exists a Hahn-Banach extension operator $\psi \in \mathbf{B}(X, X^{**})$ such that for every Banach space Y and $T \in \mathcal{W}(Y, X^{**})$ there is a net $(S_{\alpha}) \subset \mathcal{F}(X, X)$ with $\limsup_{\alpha} \|T - 2S_{\alpha}^{**}T\| \leq \|T\|$ such that $S_{\alpha}^{**}T \to \psi^*T$ weak^{*} in $\mathcal{L}(Y, X^{**})$.
- (d) For every weakly compact compact set $K \subset X^{**}$ there is a net $(S_{\alpha}) \subset \mathcal{F}(X, X)$ with $\lim_{\alpha} \sup_{x^{**} \in K} ||x^{**} 2S_{\alpha}^{**}x^{**}|| \leq \sup_{x^{**} \in K} ||x^{**}||$ such that $S_{\alpha} \to I_X$ uniformly on compact subsets of $K \cap X$.
- (e) For every Banach space Y and $T \in \mathcal{W}(Y, X^{**})$, there is a net $(S_{\alpha}) \subset \mathcal{F}(X, X)$ with $\limsup_{\alpha} ||T 2S_{\alpha}^{**}T|| \leq ||T||$ such that $S_{\alpha} \to I_X$ uniformly on compact sets in X.
- (f) For every reflexive Banach space Y and $T \in \mathcal{W}(Y, X^{**})$, there is a net $(S_{\alpha}) \subset \mathcal{F}(X, X)$ with $\limsup_{\alpha} ||T 2S_{\alpha}^{**}T|| \leq ||T||$ such that $S_{\alpha} \to I_X$ uniformly on compact sets in X.

Theorem 1.3.32 (Abrahamsen, Lima, and Lima). Let X be a Banach space. The following statements are equivalent.

- (a) $\mathcal{F}(Y, X)$ is a u-ideal in $\mathcal{K}(Y, X^{**})$ for every Banach space Y.
- (b) X is a u-ideal in X^{**} with unconditional Hahn-Banach extension ψ such that $\psi^*|_{X^{**}}$ is in the weak*-closure of the $\mathcal{F}(X, X)$ in $\mathcal{L}(X^{**}, X^{**})$.
- (c) X is a u-ideal in its bidual with unconditional Hahn-Banach extension operator $\psi \in B(X, X^{**})$ such that for every Banach space Y and $T \in \mathcal{K}(Y, X^{**})$ there is a net $(S_{\alpha}) \subset \mathcal{F}(X, X)$ with $\limsup_{\alpha} \|T - 2S_{\alpha}^{**}T\| \le \|T\|$ such that $S_{\alpha}^{**}T \to \psi^*T$ weak^{*} in $\mathcal{L}(Y, X^{**})$.
- (d) For every Banach space Y and $T \in \mathcal{K}(Y, X^{**})$ there is a net $(S_{\alpha}) \subset \mathcal{F}(X, X)$ with $\limsup_{\alpha} ||T 2S_{\alpha}^{**}T|| \leq ||T||$ such that $S_{\alpha} \to I_X$ uniformly on compact sets in X.
- (e) For every separable reflexive Banach space Y and $T \in \mathcal{K}(Y, X^{**})$ there is a net $(S_{\alpha}) \subset \mathcal{F}(X, X)$ with $\limsup_{\alpha} ||T 2S_{\alpha}^{**}T|| \leq ||T||$ such that $S_{\alpha} \to I_X$ uniformly on compact sets in X.

Note that when "u-ideal" is replaced by "ideal" in statement (a) in Theorem 1.3.31 and in (a) in Theorem 1.3.32, these statements are equivalent. This is part of Theorem 1.3.13. On the basis of this, it is interesting to note that the statements in Theorem 1.3.31 are in fact strictly stronger than those in Theorem 1.3.32. Indeed, as remarked in [2] (see Chapter 4) the equivalently renormed version $\hat{\ell}_2$ of ℓ_2 obtained by Oja in [62, Example 3], fulfills the statements in Theorem 1.3.32, but fails to satisfy those of Theorem 1.3.31 (or equivalently Theorems 1.3.29, 1.3.30 since $\hat{\ell}_2$ is reflexive (see the next subsection)). In the next subsection, this renorming is discussed in more detail.

From Theorem 1.3.26, [73], and [49, Corollary 2] (see also [42, Theorem 5.1], [35, p. 138], and [65, Proposition 2.1]) we get the following proposition.

Proposition 1.3.33 (Lima, 1993; Lima, Nygaard, and Oja, 2000). Let X be a Banach space. The following statements are equivalent.

- (a) $\mathcal{F}(Y,X)$ is an ideal in $\mathcal{W}(Y,X)$ for every Banach space Y.
- (b) X has the AP.
- (c) Every separable ideal Z in X has the AP.
- (d) $\mathcal{F}(Y,Z)$ is an ideal in $\mathcal{W}(Y,Z)$ for every Banach space Y and separable ideal Z in X.

In [2] (cf. Proposition 4.3.6) we were able to show that the following analogue to Theorem 1.3.33 holds for u-ideals.

Proposition 1.3.34 (Abrahamsen, Lima, and Lima). Let X be a Banach space and assume $\mathcal{F}(Y, X)$ is a u-ideal in $\mathcal{W}(Y, X)$ for every Banach space Y. Then a closed subspace Z of X has the AP if and only if $\mathcal{F}(Y, Z)$ is a u-ideal in $\mathcal{W}(Y, Z)$ for every Banach space Y.

By using Theorem 1.3.33 the next result is immediate.

Corollary 1.3.35. Let X be a Banach space. The following are equivalent.

- (a) $\mathcal{F}(Y, X)$ is a u-ideal in $\mathcal{W}(Y, X)$ for every Banach space Y.
- (b) $\mathcal{F}(Y,Z)$ is a u-ideal in $\mathcal{W}(Y,Z)$ for every Banach space Y and ideal Z in X.

1.3.2 U-ideals and open problems

Before we start to discuss u-ideals, we will take a detour into some related properties. It turns out that known results about these properties are important also in the setting of u-ideals.

The Hahn-Banach theorem asserts that a linear functional defined on a subspace of a normed linear space has at least one norm-preserving extension to the whole space. In some cases, however, this extension is unique (e.g. reflexive spaces). Following Phelps [68] we define.

Definition 1.3.36. Let X be a closed subspace of a normed linear space Y. Then X has property U in Y if every element $x^* \in X^*$ has a unique normpreserving extension y^* to Y.

Generalizing the concept of an M-ideal, Hennefeld [37] introduced and investigated the concept of \mathbb{B} -subspaces.

Definition 1.3.37. A closed subspace X of a normed linear space Y is said to be an *B*-subspace in Y (or X has property **B** in Y) if its annihilator X^{\perp} is complemented in Y^* by a subspace X_* such that whenever $x_* \in X_*$ and $x^{\perp} \in X^{\perp} \setminus \{0\}$, then $\|x_* + x^{\perp}\| \ge \|x^{\perp}\|$ and $\|x_* + x^{\perp}\| > \|x_*\|$.

It is straightforward to verify that an **B**-subspace has property U. Indeed, let X be an **B**-subspace in Y and let P be the induced projection on Y^{*} defined by $P(x^{\perp} + x_*) = x_*$. Then, for $x^* \in X^*$ and $y^* \in \mathbf{B}(x^*)$, we get $Py^* = y^*$ since $Py^* \in \mathbf{B}(x^*)$. Now, if y_1^* and y_2^* are in $\mathbf{B}(x^*)$, then $y_1^* - y_2^* \in \ker P$. Thus $y_1^* = Py_1^* = Py_2^* = y_2^*$ which shows that X has property U in Y.

There are, however, subspaces with property U which fail to be **H**-subspaces. Producing such an example took some years, but finally Oja succeeded in [61] (see also Example 1 in [62]). In fact, Oja showed that there is a subspace of ℓ_{∞}^{3} with property U which fails the property SU [61] (see also [62, Example 1]). The property SU is stronger than the property U. This follows by the same argument as for **H**-subspaces.

Definition 1.3.38. Let X be a closed subspace of a normed linear space Y. Then X has the property SU in Y if its annihilator X^{\perp} is complemented in Y^* by a subspace X_* such that whenever $x_* \in X_*$ and $x^{\perp} \in X^{\perp} \setminus \{0\}$, then $||x_* + x^{\perp}|| > ||x_*||$.

It is clear from the definitions that IB-subspaces must have property SU, so Oja's example shows in particular that the property IB is strictly stronger than property U. For a subspace with the property SU failing the property IB see Example 2 in [62]. Thus the property SU is strictly between the properties U and IB.

The property U is locally determined in the sense that a subspace X of a Banach space Y has this property in Y if and only X has this property in every subspace Z of Y in which X has codimension 1. Similar results also holds for the properties SU and HB.

Theorem 1.3.39. Let X be a closed subspace of a Banach space Y. The following statements are equivalent.

- (a) X has property U (resp. SU, HB) in Y.
- (b) X has property U (resp. SU, HB) in $Z = span(X, \{y\})$ for every $y \in Y$.

To prove this we will use results which require the following definition [48].

Definition 1.3.40. Let X be a subspace of a Banach space Y and let $n \geq 3$ be a natural number. Then X is said to have the *n.Y. intersection property* (n.Y.I.P) if for every family $(B(x_i, r_i))_{i=1}^n$ of n closed balls with centers $(x_i)_{i=1}^n$ in X and $Y \cap \bigcap_{i=1}^n B(x_i, r_i) \neq \emptyset$, then $X \cap \bigcap_{i=1}^n B(x_i, r_i + \varepsilon) \neq \emptyset$ for every $\varepsilon > 0$.

From [48, Theorem 3.1], [52, Proposition 2.1], and [63, Theorem 1.2] we have the following results.

Theorem 1.3.41 (Lima, 1983; Lima and Oja, 1999). Let X be a closed subspace of a Banach space Y. The following are equivalent.

- (a) X is an ideal in $Z = span(X, \{y\})$ for every $y \in Y$.
- (b) X has the n.Y.I.P for all n.
- (c) If $n \in \mathbb{N}$ $x_1^*, ..., x_n^* \in X^*$ are such that $x_1^* + x_2^* + ... + x_n^* = 0$, then for i = 1, ..., n there exist $y_i^* \in H\!\!B(x_i^*)$ such that $y_1^* + ... + y_n^* = 0$.

Theorem 1.3.42 (Oja, 1991). Let X be a closed subspace of a Banach space Y. Then the following statements are equivalent.

- (a) X is an $H\!B$ subspace of Y.
- (b) X has property U in Y and there exists an ideal projection P on Y^* satisfying ||I - P|| = 1.

Proof of the U-case of Theorem 1.3.39. (a) \Rightarrow (b). Let $y \in Y \setminus X$ and put $Z = \operatorname{span}(X, \{y\})$. Let $x^* \in X^*$ and $z_1^*, z_2^* \in \operatorname{IB}(x^*) \subset Z^*$. Choose $y_i^* \in \operatorname{IB}(z_i^*) \subset Y^*$ for i = 1, 2. Then $y_1^* = y_2^* \in \operatorname{IB}(x^*)$, so $z_1^* = z_2^*$.

(b) \Rightarrow (a). Let $x^* \in X^*$. Suppose that $y_1^*, y_2^* \in \operatorname{IB}(x^*) \subset Y^*$ and that $y_1^* \neq y_2^*$. Choose $y \in Y \setminus X$ such that $y_1^*(y) \neq y_2^*(y)$ and let $Z = \operatorname{span}(X, \{y\})$. Since $y_1^*|_Z$ and $y_2^*|_Z$ are extensions of x^* to Z, they have to be equal on Z by assumption, and we get a contradiction.

Proof of the SU-case of Theorem 1.3.39. (a) \Rightarrow (b). Let $y \in Y \setminus X$ and put $Z = \text{span}(X, \{y\})$. Since X has property U in Z and is an ideal in Z the result follows from [62, Theorem].

(b) \Rightarrow (a). By [62, Theorem] it suffices to show that X possesses properties 3.Y.I.P and U in Y. But this follows from Proposition 1.3.41 and Theorem 1.3.39 (U-case).

Proof of the *B*-case of Theorem 1.3.39. (a) \Rightarrow (b). Let $y \in Y \setminus X$, and define $Z = \operatorname{span}(X, \{y\})$. Let $z^* \in Z^*$, and let $y^* \in \operatorname{I\!B}(z^*)$. Since *B*-subspaces have property SU it follows from Theorem 1.3.39 (SU-case) that X has property SU in Z. Denote by $i_{X,Z} : X \to Z$, $i_{Z,Y} : Z \to Y$, and $i_{X,Y} : X \to Y$ the natural embeddings. Then $i_{X,Y} = i_{Z,Y} \circ i_{X,Z}$, so $(i_{X,Y})^* = (i_{X,Z})^* \circ (i_{Z,Y})^*$. Let P_{Y^*} and P_{Z^*} denote the unique ideal projections on Y^* and Z^* respectively. Write $P_{Y^*} = \phi \circ (i_{X,Y})^*$ and $P_{Z^*} = \psi \circ (i_{X,Z})^*$ where $\phi \in \operatorname{I\!B}(X,Y)$ and $\psi \in \operatorname{I\!B}(X,Z)$. We get

$$\begin{aligned} \|z^* - P_{Z^*} z^*\| &= \|z^* - \psi(i_{X,Z})^* z^*\| = \|z^* - \phi(i_{X,Z})^* z^*|_Z\| \\ &= \|z^* - \phi(i_{X,Z})^* (i_{Z,Y})^* y^*|_Z\| \le \|y^* - \phi(i_{X,Y})^* y^*\| \\ &= \|y^* - P_{Y^*} y^*\| \le 1. \end{aligned}$$

Thus the result follows from Theorem 1.3.42.

(b) \Rightarrow (a). From Theorem 1.3.39 (SU-case) we get that X has property SU in Y. Let $y^* \in Y^*$ and $y \in B_Y$ and put $Z = \text{span}(X, \{y\})$. Then

$$\langle y^* - \phi(i_{X,Y})^* y^*, y \rangle = \langle y^* - \phi_Z(i_{X,Z})^* (i_{Z,Y})^* y^*, y \rangle = \langle (I_{Z^*} - P_{Z^*})(i_{Z,Y})^* y^*, y \rangle$$

and the result follows from Theorem 1.3.42.

The article [48] of Lima, left open the following two questions: Do there exist Banach spaces X and Y, such that X or Y^* has the metric approximation property, for which $\mathcal{K}(Y,X)$ has property U in $\mathcal{L}(Y,X)$, but is not an \mathbb{B} -subspace in $\mathcal{L}(Y,X)$? Could a Banach space have property U in its bidual without being a \mathbb{B} -subspace in its bidual?

A few years after the article of Lima, both of these questions was answered in the negative by Oja in Examples 3 and 4 in [62]. In [62, Example 3], Oja defined a renorming $\hat{\ell}_2$ of ℓ_2 for which $\mathcal{K}(Y, \hat{\ell}_2)$ has property SU in $\mathcal{W}(Y, \hat{\ell}_2)$ for every normed linear space Y, but such that $\mathcal{K}(\ell_1, \hat{\ell}_2)$ fails to be an **B**-subspace in $\mathcal{W}(\ell_1, \hat{\ell}_2)$. This renorming of ℓ_2 is done in the following manner:

$$\|(\xi_1,\xi_2,...)\| = \left(\frac{1}{3}\sum_{i=1}^{\infty}\xi_i^2 + \frac{2}{3}\sup_{n\geq 2}(\xi_1^2,(\frac{\xi_1}{\sqrt{2}}+\xi_n)^2)\right)^{1/2},$$

where $(\xi_1, \xi_2, ...) \in \ell_2$.

In Example 4 in [62], Oja showed that for 0 < r < 1, the equivalently renormed versions c_{0r} of c_0 , due to Johnson and Wolfe [40], have property SU in their biduals, but in fact fail to be B-subspaces in their biduals. For $0 < r \leq 1$, the Johnson-Wolfe renorming of c_0 is done in the following manner:

$$\|(\xi_1,\xi_2,...)\| = \sup\{|\xi_1|/r, |\xi_1 - \xi_2|,...\},\$$

where $(\xi_1, \xi_2, ...) \in c_0$.

Later, in [64, p. 127], Oja also showed that for 0 < r < 1 the spaces $\mathcal{K}(c_{0r}, c_{0r}), \mathcal{K}(\ell_1, c_{0r}), \text{ and } \mathcal{K}(\hat{\ell}_2, \hat{\ell}_2)$ all have property U, in fact SU, in $\mathcal{L}(c_{0r}, c_{0r}), \mathcal{L}(\ell_1, c_{0r}), \text{ and } \mathcal{L}(\hat{\ell}_2, \hat{\ell}_2)$ respectively. However, all of them fail to be B-subspaces. Observe that $\mathcal{L}(\hat{\ell}_2, \hat{\ell}_2) = \mathcal{K}(\hat{\ell}_2, \hat{\ell}_2)^{**}$, so $\hat{\ell}_2$ is also an example of a Banach space for which $\mathcal{K}(\hat{\ell}_2, \hat{\ell}_2)$ has property U, actually SU, in its bidual, without being an B-subspace in its bidual. If we combine this fact with Theorem 1.3.22, we get that $\hat{\ell}_2$ does not have the UMAP. Thus the UMAP is not preserved under equivalent renormings since ℓ_2 has the UMAP.

Note that, if X is a u-ideal in a Banach space Y, and X has property U in Y, then X is an B-subspace of Y. Indeed, let P be the unconditional projection on Y^{*} satisfying ||I - 2P|| = 1. Then writing $I - P = \frac{I}{2} + \frac{I-2P}{2}$ and using the triangle inequality, this follows. Since $\mathcal{K}(\ell_1, \ell_2)$ is not an B-subspace of $\mathcal{W}(\ell_1, \ell_2)$, it now follows that ℓ_2 does not fulfill Theorem 1.3.31 as claimed in the last paragraph of subsection 1.3.1.

It now also follows from the examples in the preceding paragraphs that for 0 < r < 1, c_{0r} and $\mathcal{K}(\hat{\ell_2}, \hat{\ell_2})$ are not *u*-ideals in their biduals. These two examples leave us with the problem of determining when Banach spaces are *u*-ideals in their biduals. Some results in this direction are known. If a Banach space X is a *u*-ideal in its bidual, then from [29, Corollary 4.1] we know that every Banach space being $(1+\varepsilon)$ -isomorphic to a $(1+\varepsilon)$ -complemented subspace of X, is a *u*-ideal in its bidual. In particular 1-complemented subspaces of X possess this property. However, it is not known if ideals in X also possess this property. Based on this, one can ask:

Problem 1.3.43. Suppose a Banach space is a u-ideal in its bidual. Which subspaces of this Banach space inherits the property of being u-ideals in their biduals? In particular, do we have that every ideal in a Banach space is a u-ideal in its bidual whenever the space itself is?

Godefroy, Kalton, and Saphar proved a result related to this problem, but for h-ideals instead of u-ideals [29, Theorem 6-7]. H-ideals are complex analogues to u-ideals.

Definition 1.3.44. A closed subspace X of a complex Banach space Y is called an *h-ideal* in Y if there exists a projection P on Y^{*} with ker $P = X^{\perp}$ such that $||I - (1 + \lambda)P|| = 1$ for all λ with $|\lambda| = 1$. **Theorem 1.3.45** (Godefroy, Kalton, and Saphar, 1993). Suppose X is a separable Banach space and X is an h-ideal in its bidual. Let $\phi \in H\!\!B(X, X^{**})$ be the corresponding Hahn-Banach extension operator. Then every closed subspace Z of X such that $\phi^*(Z^{\perp\perp}) \subset Z^{\perp\perp}$, inherits the property of being an h-ideal in its bidual.

Actually the proof can be modified so that the result holds for arbitrary Banach spaces being u-ideals in their biduals (see [2, Theorem 2.4])

Theorem 1.3.13, Theorem 1.3.26, and its dual counterpart [51, Theorem 3.4], gives reason to study the following statements. This is done in [2], which constitutes Chapter 4 in this thesis.

- (A) $\mathcal{F}(X,Y)$ is a u-ideal in $\mathcal{W}(X,Y)$ for every Banach space Y.
- (B) $\mathcal{F}(Y, X)$ is a u-ideal in $\mathcal{W}(Y, X^{**})$ for every Banach space Y.
- (C) $\mathcal{F}(Y, X)$ is a u-ideal in $\mathcal{W}(Y, X)$ for every Banach space Y.

If X is a reflexive Banach space, then (A), (B), and (C) are equivalent. Indeed, this follows from [2, Theorems 3.2 and 3.5] and [50, Theorem 4.3] using the isometries $\mathcal{F}(X, X) = \mathcal{F}(X^*, X^*)$ and $\mathcal{W}(X, X) = \mathcal{W}(X^*, X^*)$.

For a general Banach space X it is evident that (B) implies (C) by using the local characterization of u-ideals Theorem 1.3.19.

Note that if (A) holds, then X^* has the AP [51, Theorem 3.4]. From [44, Proposition 3.3] we have that $\mathcal{F}(Y, X)^{**} = \mathcal{W}(Y, X^{**})$ for every reflexive Banach space Y if and only if X^* has the AP. Thus, if (A) implies (B) and X is a space satisfying (A), then $\mathcal{F}(Y, X)$ becomes a u-ideal in its bidual for every reflexive Banach space Y.

From [35, Example 4.1], it follows that ℓ_p for $1 fulfills (C) and thus (B) and (A) by the paragraph above. In [2] it is remarked that <math>\ell_1$ fulfills (C), but fails (A). Note that this shows that the statement (A) is strictly stronger than the similar statements in [51, Theorem 3.4] for ideals.

We will now prove that also ℓ_1 fulfills statement (B). To do this we will use the recently established fact that $\mathcal{F}(Y, X)$ is a *u*-ideal in $\mathcal{W}(Y, X^{**})$ for every Banach spaces Y if and only if $\mathcal{F}(Y, X)$ is a *u*-ideal in span ($\mathcal{F}(Y, X), \{T\}$) for every Banach space Y and $T \in \mathcal{W}(Y, X^{**})$ [47].

Proof. Let Y be a Banach space and let $T \in \mathcal{W}(Y, \ell_1^{**})$. By the above paragraph, it suffices to prove that $\mathcal{F}(Y, \ell_1)$ is a u-ideal in \mathcal{B} =span $(\mathcal{F}(Y, \ell_1), \{T\})$ for every Banach space Y and $T \in \mathcal{W}(Y, \ell_1^{**})$. Let $(S_i)_{i=1}^3 \subset \mathcal{F}(Y, \ell_1)$. Since c_0 is an *M*-ideal in its bidual [35, p. 105], there exists an *L*-projection, *P*, from ℓ_1^{**} onto ℓ_1 . Denote by $P_n : \ell_1 \to \ell_1$ the canonical projection onto the first *n* coordinates. We may assume that $S_i = P_n S_i$ for i = 1, 2, 3 for some large *n*. For $y \in B_Y$, using the fact that *P* and P_n are *L*-projections, we get that

$$\begin{aligned} \|(T+S_i - 2P_nPT)y\| &= \|Ty - PTy\| + \|PTy + S_iy - 2P_nPTy\| \\ &= \|Ty - PTy\| + \|PTy - P_nPTy\| + \|P_nPTy - S_iy\| \\ &= \|Ty - PTy\| + \|PTy - S_iy\| \\ &= \|Ty - S_iy\| \le \|T - S_i\|. \end{aligned}$$

This means that $2P_nPT \in \mathcal{F}(Y, \ell_1) \cap \bigcap_{i=1}^3 B_{\mathcal{B}}(T+S_i, ||T-S_i||)$, and the result now follows from [46, Theorem 1.3]. If we have $||S_i - P_nS_i|| < \varepsilon$ for i = 1, 2, 3, then we get $2P_nPT \in \mathcal{F}(Y, \ell_1) \cap \bigcap_{i=1}^3 B_{\mathcal{B}}(T+S_i, ||T-S_i|| + 2\varepsilon)$.

In [2] it is also remarked that c_0 fulfills (A), (B), and (C), but that ℓ_{∞} fails (C) and hence also (B). Note that this shows that the statements in Theorems 1.3.26 and 1.3.13 are strictly weaker than statements (C) and (B) respectively. As far as the author knows, it is open whether ℓ_{∞} fails (A). Also, from [75] it follows that $X = \ell_2 \hat{\otimes}_{\pi} \ell_2$ does not fulfill (A), but does this X fulfill (C) or (B)?

The discussion in this paragraph leaves open the following problem, which seems to be of some importance.

Problem 1.3.46. Do we have that $(A) \Rightarrow (B)$? Moreover, are the implications $(A) \Rightarrow (B) \Rightarrow (C)$ strict?

Another interesting question is whether Corollary 1.3.35 holds when "ideals" Z in X are replaced by "separable ideals". As far as the author knows this question is not answered even with "*M*-ideal" in place of "*u*-ideal".

Bibliography

- T. A. Abrahamsen, Weak metric approximation properties and nice projections, To appear in: Acta Comment. Univ. Tartu. Math. 11 (2007).
- [2] T. A. Abrahamsen, V. Lima, and Å. Lima, Unconditional ideals of finite rank operators, Preprint.
- [3] T. A. Abrahamsen, O. Nygaard, and M. Põldvere, On weak integrability and boundedness in Banach spaces, J. Math. Anal. Appl. **314** (2006), no. 1, 67–74. MR 2183537
- [4] E. M. Alfsen and E. G. Effros, Structure in real Banach spaces. Parts I and II, Ann. of Math. 96 (1972), no. 2, 98–173.
- [5] L. R. Baire, Sur les fonctions de variables réelles, Ann. Mat. Pura Appl. 3 (1899), no. 3, 1–122.
- [6] S. Banach, Sur les opérations dans les ensembles abstraits et leur application aux équations intégrales, (1922), pp. 133–181.
- [7] _____, Théorie des opérations linéaires, (Monogr. Mat. 1) Warszawa: Subwncji Funduszu Narodowej. VII, 254 S., (1932).
- [8] S. Banach and H. Steinhaus, Sur le principe de la condensation de singularités, Fund. Math. 9 (1927), 50-61.
- [9] T. Bartoszyński, M. Džamonja, L. Halbeisen, E. Murtinová, and A. Plichko, On bases in Banach spaces, Studia Math. 170 (2005), no. 2, 147–171. MR 2184103
- [10] C. Bessaga and A. Pełczyński, On bases and unconditional convergence of series in Banach spaces, Studia Math. 17 (1958), 151–164. MR x0115069 (22 #5872)

- [11] P. G. Casazza and N. J. Kalton, Notes on approximation properties in separable Banach spaces, Geometry of Banach Spaces, Proc. Conf. Strobl 1989, London Mathematical Society Lecture Note Series 158 (P. F. X. Müller and W. Schachermayer, eds.), Cambridge University Press, (1990), pp. 49–63.
- [12] A. M. Davie, The approximation problem for Banach spaces, Bull. London Math. Soc. 5 (1973), 261–266. MR 0338735 (49 #3499)
- [13] W. J. Davis, T. Figiel, W. B. Johnson, and A. Pełczyński, Factoring weakly compact operators, J. Functional Analysis 17 (1974), 311–327. MR 50 #8010
- [14] J. Diestel, Applications of weak compactness and bases to vector measures and vectorial integration, Rev. Roumaine Math. Pures Appl. 18 (1973), 211-224. MR 0317042 (47 #5590)
- [15] _____, Sequences and series in Banach spaces, Springer, Berlin-Heidelberg-New York, (1984).
- [16] J. Diestel and J. J. Uhl, Vector measures, Mathematical Surveys 15, American Mathematical Society, Providence, Rhode Island, (1977).
- [17] J. Dieudonné, History of functional analysis, North-Holland Mathematics Studies, vol. 49, North-Holland Publishing Co., Amsterdam, (1981), Notas de Matemática [Mathematical Notes], 77. MR 605488 (83d:46001)
- [18] D. B. Dimitrov, A remark on the Gel'fand integral, Funkcional. Anal. i Priložen 5 (1971), no. 2, 84–85. MR 0282199 (43 #7912)
- [19] J. Elton, Extremely weakly unconditionally convergent series, Israel J. Math. 40 (1981), no. 3-4, 255-258 (1982). MR 654581 (83e:46015)
- [20] P. Enflo, A counterexample to the approximation problem, Acta Math. 130 (1973), 309-317.
- [21] H. Fakhoury, Sélections linéaires associées au théorème de Hahn-Banach, J. Funct. Anal. 11 (1972), 436–452.
- [22] M. Feder and P. Saphar, Spaces of compact operators and their dual spaces, Israel J. Math. 21 (1975), 38–49.
- [23] T. Figiel and W. B. Johnson, The approximation property does not imply the bounded approximation property, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 41 (1973), 197-200. MR 0341032 (49 #5782)
- [24] V. P. Fonf, Weakly extremal properties of Banach spaces, Mat. Zametki 45 (1989), no. 6, 83–92, 112. MR 1019040 (90k:46032)
- [25] _____, On exposed and smooth points of convex bodies in Banach spaces, Bull. London Math. Soc. 28 (1996), no. 1, 51–58. MR 1356826 (96k:46024)
- [26] V. P. Fonf and M. I. Kadets', Two theorems on the massiveness of the boundary in a reflexive Banach space, Funktsional. Anal. i Prilozhen. 17 (1983), no. 3, 77–78. MR 714229 (84j:46022)

- [27] V. P. Fonf and J. Lindenstrauss, Boundaries and generation of convex sets, Israel J. Math. 136 (2003), 157–172. MR 1998108 (2004g:46021)
- [28] J. B. Garnett, Bounded analytic functions, Academic Press, New York, (1981).
- [29] G. Godefroy, N. J. Kalton, and P. D. Saphar, Unconditional ideals in Banach spaces, Studia Math. 104 (1993), 13-59.
- [30] G. Godefroy and P. Saphar, Duality in spaces of operators and smooth norms on Banach spaces, Illinois J. Math. 32 (1988), 672-695.
- [31] M. González, Properties and applications of Tauberian operators, Extracta Math. 5 (1990), no. 3, 91–107. MR 1125675 (92k:47002)
- [32] A. Grothendieck, Produits tensoriels topologiques et espaces nucléaires, Mem. Amer. Math. Soc. 16 (1955).
- [33] P. Habala, P. Hájek, and V. Zizler, Introduction to BAnach spaces I, II., Prague: Matfyzpress. 329 p., (1996).
- [34] H. Hahn, Über Folgen linearer Operationen, Monatsh. Math. Phys. 32 (1922), 3–88.
- [35] P. Harmand, D. Werner, and W. Werner, *M*-ideals in Banach spaces and Banach algebras, Lecture Notes in Mathematics, vol. 1547, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, (1993). MR 94k:46022
- [36] E. Helly, Über lineare Funktionaloperationen, Sitzber. Akad. Wiss. Wien 121 (1912), 265–297.
- [37] J. Hennefeld, M-ideals, HB-subspaces, and compact operators, Indiana Univ. Math. J. 28 (1979), 927–934.
- [38] T. H. Hildebrandt, On uniform limitedness of sets of functional operations, Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. 93 (1923), 309–315.
- [39] S. Hui, An extension of a theorem of J. Fernández, Bull. London Math. Soc. 20 (1988), no. 1, 34–36. MR 916071 (89d:30037)
- [40] J. Johnson and J. Wolfe, On the norm of the canonical projection of E^{***} onto E[⊥], Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. **75** (1979), 50–52.
- W. B. Johnson, H. P. Rosenthal, and M. Zippin, On bases, finite dimensional decompositions and weaker structures in Banach spaces, Israel J. Math. 9 (1971), 488-506. MR 0280983 (43 #6702)
- [42] N. J. Kalton, Locally complemented subspaces and L_p-spaces for 0 Math. Nachr. 115 (1984), 71–97. MR 86h:46006
- [43] H. Lebesgue, Sur les intégrales singulières, Ann. Fac. Sci. Toulouse Sci. Math. Sci. Phys. (3)1 (1909), 25–117.
- [44] V. Lima, The weak metric approximation property and ideals of operators, J. Math. Anal. Appl. (to appear).

- [45] V. Lima and Å. Lima, Ideals of operators and the metric approximation property, J. Funct. Anal. 210 (2004), no. 1, 148–170. MR 2052117 (2004m:46047)
- [46] _____, A three ball property for u-ideals, (preprint).
- [47] _____, Private communication.
- [48] Å. Lima, Uniqueness of Hahn-Banach extensions and liftings of linear dependences, Math. Scand. 53 (1983), 97–113.
- [49] _____, The metric approximation property, norm-one projections and intersection properties of balls, Israel J. Math. 84 (1993), 451-475.
- [50] _____, Property (wM*) and the unconditional metric compact approximation property, Studia Math. 113 (1995), 249–263.
- [51] A. Lima, O. Nygaard, and E. Oja, Isometric factorization of weakly compact operators and the approximation property, Israel J. Math. 119 (2000), 325– 348. MR 1802659 (2002b:46031)
- [52] Å. Lima and E. Oja, Ideals of finite rank operators, intersection properties of balls, and the approximation property, Studia Math. 133 (1999), no. 2, 175–186. MR 2000c:46026
- [53] _____, Ideals of compact operators, J. Aust. Math. Soc. 77 (2004), no. 1, 91–110. MR 2069027
- [54] _____, Ideals of operators, approximability in the strong operator topology, and the approximation property, Michigan Math. J. 52 (2004), no. 2, 253– 265. MR 2069799 (2005b:47162)
- [55] _____, The weak metric approximation property, Math. Ann. 333 (2005), no. 3, 471–484. MR 2198796 (2006i:46025)
- [56] J. Lindenstrauss and H. P. Rosenthal, The \mathcal{L}_p spaces, Israel J. Math. 7 (1969), 325–349.
- [57] J. Lindenstrauss and L. Tzafriri, Classical Banach spaces I, Springer, Berlin-Heidelberg-New York, (1977).
- [58] R. E. Megginson, An introduction to Banach space theory, Springer-Verlag, New York, (1998). MR 99k:46002
- [59] O. Nygaard, Boundedness and surjectivity in normed spaces, Int. J. Math. Math. Sci. 32 (2002), no. 3, 149–165. MR 2003h:46024
- [60] _____, Thick sets in Banach spaces and their properties, Quaest. Math. 29 (2006), no. 1, 59–72. MR 2209791 (2007a:46016)
- [61] E. Oja, On the uniqueness of the norm-preserving extension of a linear functional in the Hahn-Banach theorem., Izv. Akad. Nauk Est. SSR 33 (1984), 424-438, (Russian).

- [62] _____, Strong uniqueness of the extension of linear continuous functionals according to the Hahn-Banach theorem, Mat. Zametki 43 (1988), no. 2, 237-246, 302, (Russian) English translation in Math. Notes 43 (1988), 134-139. MR 939524 (89e:46019)
- [63] _____, Extension of functionals and the structure of the space of continuous linear operators, Tartu. Gos. Univ., Tartu, (1991), (Russian). MR 1114543 (92g:46019)
- [64] _____, HB-subspaces and Godun sets of subspaces in Banach spaces, Mathematika 44 (1997), no. 1, 120–132. MR 1464382 (98j:46008)
- [65] _____, Operators that are nuclear whenever they are nuclear for a larger range space, Proc. Edinb. Math. Soc. (2) 47 (2004), no. 3, 679–694. MR 2097268 (2005g:46040)
- [66] _____, The impact of the Radon-Nikodým property on the weak bounded approximation property, Rev. R. Acad. Cien. Serie A. Mat. 100 (2006), no. 1-2, 325-331.
- [67] A. Pełczyński, Certain problems of Banach, Wiadom Mat. (2) 15 (1972), 3-11. MR 0493269 (58 #12298)
- [68] R. R. Phelps, Uniqueness of Hahn-Banach extensions and unique best approximation, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 95 (1960), 238-255.
- [69] W. Rudin, Functional analysis, McGraw-Hill, New York, (1973).
- [70] _____, Real and complex analysis, third ed., McGraw-Hill, New York, (1986).
- [71] J. Schur, Uber lineare Transformationen in der Theorie der unendlichen Reihen, Reine Angew. Math. 151 (1920), 79–111.
- [72] G. L. Seever, Measures on F-spaces, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 133 (1968), 267–280. MR 0226386 (37 #1976)
- [73] B. Sims and D. Yost, *Linear Hahn-Banach extension operators*, Proc. Edinburgh Math. Soc. **32** (1989), 53–57.
- [74] A. Szankowski, Subspaces without the approximation property, Israel J. Math. 30 (1978), no. 1-2, 123–129. MR 80b:46032
- [75] _____, B(H) does not have the approximation property, Acta Math. 147 (1981), no. 1-2, 89–108. MR 83a:46033
- [76] S. J. Szarek, A Banach space without a basis which has the bounded approximation property, Acta Math. 159 (1987), no. 1-2, 81–98. MR 906526 (88f:46029)
- [77] O. Toeplitz, Uber allegemeine lineare mittelbildungen, Prece Mat.-Fiz 22 (1913), 113–119.

Chapter 2

On weak integrability and boundedness in Banach spaces

2.1 Introduction

Let X be a Banach space. A subset $B \subset X^*$ is said to be *weak*^{*}-norming if $\inf_{x \in S_X} \sup_{x^* \in B} |x^*(x)| > 0$. Equivalently, the set B is weak^{*}-norming if and only

if its weak*-closed absolutely convex hull contains some ball. The set B is said to be weak*-non-norming if it is not weak*-norming. In [9] Fonf defined a set $A \subset X^*$ to be weak*-thin if it can be represented as a non-decreasing countable union of weak*-non-norming sets. (Remark that Fonf used the term "thin" instead of "weak*-thin".) As in [14] and [15], let us say that the set A is weak*-thick if it is not weak*-thin. For characterizations of weak*-thick sets in terms of uniform boundedness of families of functionals in X, and surjectivity of conjugate operators, we refer to [10, Proposition 1] and [15, Theorems 3.4 and 4.6] (see also Theorem 2.4.4 of the present paper for the summary of these characterizations).

In [9, Theorem 1], Fonf proved that if X does not contain any closed subspaces isomorphic to c_0 , then $\operatorname{ext} B_{X^*}$, the set of extreme points of the dual unit ball, is weak*-thick. From this he deduced (see [9, Theorem 4]) that if X is separable and does not contain any isomorphic copies of c_0 , then whenever (Ω, Σ, μ) is a finite measure space and a function $f: \Omega \to X$ is such that $x^*f \in L^1(\mu)$ for all $x^* \in \operatorname{ext} B_{X^*}$, one has $x^*f \in L^1(\mu)$ for all $x^* \in X^*$, i.e., f is weakly integrable (and thus Pettis integrable by a well known result of Dimitrov and Diestel (see [4] or [3, Theorem 7, p. 54])). The main objective of this paper is to generalize this result by giving the following new characterization of weak*-thick sets.

Main theorem A subset $A \subset X^*$ is weak*-thick if and only if whenever (Ω, Σ, μ) is a measure space and $f: \Omega \to X$ is an essentially separable valued function such that $x^*f \in L^1(\mu)$ for all $x^* \in A$, then $x^*f \in L^1(\mu)$ for all $x^* \in X^*$.

In Section 2.2, we prove the Main Theorem. As a corollary, it specializes to

give a characterization of weak*-thick sets in X^* in terms of weakly unconditionally Cauchy series. In Section 2.3, we prove a characterization of weak*-thick sets in terms of boundedness of vector measures. In Section 2.4, we explain how "thickness", a notion dual to "weak*-thickness", is related to the theory of barrelled spaces.

Throughout this paper, X will be a Banach space. Our notation is standard. The unit ball and the unit sphere of X are denoted, respectively, by B_X and S_X . For a set $A \subset X$, we denote by extA the set of extreme points of A, and by absconv(A) its absolutely convex hull. If some subsets $A_j \subset X$, $j \in \mathbb{N}$, are such that $A_1 \subset A_2 \subset A_3 \subset \ldots$, then, for their union, we sometimes write $\bigcup_{j=1}^{\infty} A_j \uparrow$.

2.2 Thickness and weak integrability

The "if" part of the Main Theorem is an immediate consequence of the following lemma which will be used also in Section 2.3.

Lemma 2.2.1. Let a subset $A \subset X^*$ be weak*-thin, and let $\alpha_j \in \mathbb{R}$, $\alpha_j > 0$, $j \in \mathbb{N}$. Then there are $x_j \in X$, $j \in \mathbb{N}$, $z^* \in X^* \setminus A$, an increasing sequence of indices $(\nu_j)_{j=1}^{\infty}$, and a real number $\delta > 0$ such that

$$\sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \alpha_j |x^*(x_j)| < \infty \text{ for all } x^* \in A,$$

but $\alpha_{\nu_i} |z^*(x_{\nu_i})| > \delta$ for all $j \in \mathbb{N}$.

Corollary 2.2.2. Let a subset $A \subset X^*$ be weak*-thin, and let (Ω, Σ, μ) be a measure space such that there are pairwise disjoint sets $A_j \in \Sigma$ with $0 < \mu(A_j) < \infty$, $j \in \mathbb{N}$. Then there is a strongly measurable function $f: \Omega \to X$ such that $\int_{\Omega} |x^*f| \, d\mu < \infty$ for all $x^* \in A$, but $\int_{\Omega} |z^*f| \, d\mu = \infty$ for some $z^* \in X^* \setminus A$.

Proof. The assertion follows by applying Lemma 2.2.1 for $\alpha_j = \mu(A_j), j \in \mathbb{N}$, and putting $f = \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \chi_{A_j} x_j$.

Proof of Lemma 2.2.1. Since A is weak*-thin, it has a representation $A = \bigcup_{j=1}^{\infty} A_j \uparrow$ where all the A_j are weak*-non-norming, i.e., $\inf_{x \in S_X} \sup_{x^* \in A_j} |x^*(x)| = 0, j \in \mathbb{N}$.

Thus we can pick a sequence $(x_j) \subset X$ with $\alpha_j ||x_j|| = 2^j, j \in \mathbb{N}$, such that

$$\sup_{x^* \in A_j} \alpha_j |x^*(x_j)| \le \frac{1}{2^j} \text{ for all } j \in \mathbb{N}.$$

Note that whenever $x^* \in A$, then there is some $m \in \mathbb{N}$ such that $x^* \in A_j$ for all $j \geq m$, and thus

$$\sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \alpha_j |x^*(x_j)| = \sum_{j=1}^{m-1} \alpha_j |x^*(x_j)| + \sum_{j=m}^{\infty} \alpha_j |x^*(x_j)|$$
$$\leq \sum_{j=1}^{m-1} \alpha_j |x^*(x_j)| + \sum_{j=m}^{\infty} \frac{1}{2^j} < \infty.$$

Next pick a sequence $(x_j^*) \subset X^*$ with $||x_j^*|| \leq \frac{1}{2^j}, j \in \mathbb{N}$, such that

$$\alpha_j |x_j^*(x_j)| > 1 - \frac{1}{4}, \ j \in \mathbb{N}.$$

Now there are two alternatives:

1)
$$\lim_{j\to\infty} \alpha_j |x_{i_0}^*(x_j)| \neq 0$$
 for some $i_0 \in \mathbb{N}$;
2) $\lim_{j\to\infty} \alpha_j |x_i^*(x_j)| = 0$ for all $i \in \mathbb{N}$.

In the case 1), choose an increasing sequence of indices (ν_j) such that, for some $\delta > 0$, one has $\alpha_{\nu_j} |x_{i_0}^*(x_{\nu_j})| > \delta$ for all $j \in \mathbb{N}$, and put $z^* = x_{i_0}^*$.

In the case 2), put $\nu_1 = 1$ and proceed as follows. Given indices $\nu_1 < \nu_2 < \ldots < \nu_{j-1}$ $(j \in \mathbb{N}, j \ge 2)$, pick an index $\nu_j > \nu_{j-1}$ such that

$$\sum_{i=1}^{j-1} \alpha_{\nu_j} |x_{\nu_i}^*(x_{\nu_j})| < \frac{1}{4} \quad \text{and} \quad \frac{2^{\nu_{j-1}}}{2^{\nu_j}} \le \frac{1}{2^{j+1}}.$$

Denoting $z^* = \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} x_{\nu_i}^*$ (this series converges because it converges absolutely), it remains to observe that, whenever $j \in \mathbb{N}$ and i > j, one has

$$\alpha_{\nu_j} |x_{\nu_i}^*(x_{\nu_j})| \le \alpha_{\nu_j} ||x_{\nu_j}|| ||x_{\nu_i}^*|| \le \frac{2^{\nu_j}}{2^{\nu_i}} \le \frac{2^{\nu_{i-1}}}{2^{\nu_i}} \le \frac{1}{2^{i+1}},$$

and thus, for all $j \in \mathbb{N}$,

$$\begin{aligned} \alpha_{\nu_j} \left| z^*(x_{\nu_j}) \right| &\ge \alpha_{\nu_j} \left| x^*_{\nu_j}(x_{\nu_j}) \right| - \sum_{i=1}^{j-1} \alpha_{\nu_j} \left| x^*_{\nu_i}(x_{\nu_j}) \right| - \sum_{i=j+1}^{\infty} \alpha_{\nu_j} \left| x^*_{\nu_i}(x_{\nu_j}) \right| \\ &\ge 1 - \frac{1}{4} - \frac{1}{4} - \sum_{i=j+1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{2^{i+1}} \ge \frac{1}{4}. \end{aligned}$$

Proof of the Main Theorem. Sufficiency has been proven in Corollary 2.2.2.

Necessity has been essentially proven in [9, Theorem 4]. For the sake of completeness, we shall give the details also here.

Let $A \subset X^*$ be weak*-thick, let (Ω, Σ, μ) be a measure space, and let an essentially separable valued function $f: \Omega \to X$ be such that $x^* f \in L^1(\mu)$ for all $x^* \in A$. Denote $A_j = \{x^* \in A: \int_{\Omega} |x^* f| \, d\mu \leq j\}, \quad j \in \mathbb{N}$. Then $A = \bigcup_{j=1}^{\infty} A_j \uparrow$, and the thickness of A implies the existence of some $m \in \mathbb{N}$ and $\delta > 0$ such that $\overline{absconv}^{w^*}(A_m) \supset \delta B_{X^*}$. Thus it clearly suffices to show that $x^* f \in L^1(\mu)$ for all $x^* \in \overline{absconv}^{w^*}(A_m)$. Fix an arbitrary $x^* \in \overline{absconv}^{w^*}(A_m)$. Since f is essentially separable valued, there is a sequence $(y_n^*) \subset absconv(A_m)$ such that $y_n^* f \to x^* f \mu$ -almost everywhere on Ω ; hence $x^* f$ is measurable. Since, for any $y^* \in absconv(A_m)$, one has $\int_{\Omega} |y^* f| \, d\mu \leq m$, by courtesy of Fatou's lemma, also $\int_{\Omega} |x^* f| \, d\mu \leq m$; thus $x^* f \in L^1(\mu)$.

By the Banach-Steinhaus theorem, from [15, Theorem 3.4] (see also Theorem 2.4.4 of the present paper) it follows that any Banach space is a weak^{*}thick subset of its bidual. Thus the Main Theorem yields the following corollary (which is probably known although the authors do not know any reference for it). **Corollary 2.2.3.** Let (Ω, Σ, μ) be a measure space, and let $f: \Omega \to X^*$ be an essentially separable-valued function. If $xf \in L^1(\mu)$ for all $x \in X$, then $x^{**}f \in L^1(\mu)$ for all $x^{**} \in X^{**}$.

Recall that a series $\sum_{j=1}^{\infty} x_j$ in X is said to be *weakly unconditionally Cauchy* if $\sum_{j=1}^{\infty} |x^*(x_j)| < \infty$ for all $x^* \in X^*$. Observing that, for any $x^* \in X^*$, $\sum_{j=1}^{\infty} |x^*(x_j)| = \int_{\mathbb{N}} |x^*f| \, dc$, where c is the counting measure on $\mathcal{P}(\mathbb{N})$ and the function $f \colon \mathbb{N} \to X$ is defined by $f = \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \chi_{\{j\}} x_j$, then from the Main Theorem and the proof of Corollary 2.2.2 we immediately get

Corollary 2.2.4. A set $A \subset X^*$ is weak*-thick if and only if every series $\sum_{j=1}^{\infty} x_j$ in X satisfying $\sum_{j=1}^{\infty} |x^*(x_j)| < \infty$ for all $x^* \in A$ is weakly unconditionally Cauchy.

The "only if" part of Corollary 2.2.4 gives the known link between Fonf's theorem stating that if X does not contain any isomorphic copies of c_0 , then $\operatorname{ext} B_{X^*}$ is weak*-thick (see [9, Theorem 1]), and a theorem of Elton (see [5, Corollary] or [2, Theorem 15, p. 169]).

2.3 Thickness and bounded vector measures

Let \mathcal{F} be an algebra of subsets of a set Ω , and let $F: \mathcal{F} \to X$ be a vector measure (i.e., let F be a finitely additive set function). It is standard (see [3, Proposition 11, p. 4]) that F has bounded range if and only if it is of bounded semi-variation, i.e., $||F||(\Omega) = \sup_{x^* \in B_{X^*}} |x^*F|(\Omega) < \infty$ (see [3, p. 2] for the definitions of the variation and the semivariation of a vector measure).

An important consequence of the Nikodým boundedness theorem is the following result of Dieudonné and Grothendieck.

Proposition 2.3.1 (see [3, p. 16]). Let F be an X-valued set function defined on a σ -algebra Σ of subsets of a set Ω , and suppose that, for each x^* belonging to some total subset $\Gamma \subset X^*$, the function x^*F is bounded and finitely additive. Then F is a bounded vector measure.

The interesting part of the theorem is of course the test for boundedness: if Σ is a σ -algebra, then it is enough to test on a total subset $\Gamma \subset X^*$. In general, Proposition 2.3.1 may fail for algebras that are not σ -algebras. We now show that there is a general test for boundedness also if the vector measure is defined merely on an algebra.

Proposition 2.3.2. Let F be an X-valued set function defined on an algebra \mathcal{F} of subsets of a set Ω , and suppose that, for each x^* belonging to some weak^{*}-thick subset $\Gamma \subset X^*$, the function x^*F is bounded and finitely additive. Then F is a bounded vector measure.

Proof. By the Hahn-Banach theorem, the additivity of F follows easily from the weak*-denseness of span Γ in X^* , and it remains to show that F is bounded. Put $A_j = \{x^* \in \Gamma : |x^*F|(\Omega) \leq j\}, j \in \mathbb{N}$. Then $\Gamma = \bigcup_{j=1}^{\infty} A_j \uparrow$, and the weak*-thickness of Γ implies that there are some $m \in \mathbb{N}$ and $\delta > 0$ such that $\overline{absconv}^{w^*}(A_m) \supset \delta B_{X^*}$. Thus it clearly suffices to show that, for all $x^* \in \overline{absconv}^{w^*}(A_m)$, one has $|x^*F|(\Omega) \leq m$. Observing that the last inequality holds for all $x^* \in \operatorname{absconv}(A_m)$, it can be easily seen to hold also for all $x^* \in \operatorname{absconv}^{w^*}(A_m)$.

It is natural to ask whether Proposition 2.3.2 characterizes the weak*-thick sets in X^* . More precisely, if a subset $A \subset X^*$ is weak*-thin, then can one always find an algebra \mathcal{F} and an unbounded X-valued vector measure F on \mathcal{F} such that, for all $x^* \in A$, the scalar valued vector measure x^*F is bounded? The following proposition answers this question in the affirmative.

Proposition 2.3.3. Let a subset $A \subset X^*$ be weak*-thin. Then there is an unbounded X-valued vector measure F on the algebra $\mathcal{F}_{\mathbb{N}}$ of finite and cofinite subsets of \mathbb{N} such that $|x^*F|(\mathbb{N}) < \infty$ for every $x^* \in A$.

Proof. Applying Lemma 2.2.1 for $\alpha_j = 1, j \in \mathbb{N}$, produces some $z_j \in X$, $j \in \mathbb{N}, z^* \in X^*$, and $\delta > 0$ such that $\sum_{j=1}^{\infty} |x^*(z_j)| < \infty$ for all $x^* \in A$, but $\operatorname{Re} z^*(z_j) > \delta$ for all $j \in \mathbb{N}$ (just take $z_j = \frac{\overline{z^*(x_{\nu_j})}}{|z^*(x_{\nu_j})|} x_{\nu_j}$ in Lemma 2.2.1). It remains to define the vector measure $F: \mathcal{F}_{\mathbb{N}} \to X$ by

$$F(E) = \begin{cases} 0, & \text{if } E = \emptyset \text{ or } E = \mathbb{N}, \\ \sum_{j \in E} z_j, & \text{if } 0 < |E| < \infty, \\ -\sum_{j \in E^c} z_j, & \text{if } 0 < |E^c| < \infty. \end{cases}$$

2.4 Notes and remarks

There is a notion dual to "weak*-thickness", namely, "thickness". A subset $B \subset X$ is said to be norming if $\inf_{x^* \in S_{X^*}} \sup_{x \in B} |x^*(x)| > 0$. Equivalently, the set B is norming if and only if its closed absolutely convex hull contains some ball. The set B is said to be non-norming if it is not norming. In [11], Kadets and Fonf defined a set $A \subset X$ to be thin if it can be represented as a non-decreasing countable union of non-norming sets. As in [14] and [15], let us say that the set A is thick if it is not thin.

From [11, Proposition 1] and [15, Theorems 3.2 and 4.2], one has the following characterization of thick sets.

Theorem 2.4.1. Let $A \subset X$. The following assertions are equivalent.

- (i) The set A is thick.
- (ii) Whenever Y is a Banach space and $T: Y \to X$ is a continuous linear operator such that $TY \supset A$, then TY = X.
- (iii) Whenever a family of continuous linear operators from the space X to some Banach space is pointwise bounded on A, then this family is norm bounded.
- (iv) Whenever a family of functionals in the dual space X^* is pointwise bounded on A, then this family is norm bounded.

It is almost verbatim to the proof of the Main Theorem to show that Theorem 2.4.1 can be continued by

(v) Whenever (Ω, Σ, μ) is a measure space and a function $g: \Omega \to X^*$ is such that $xg \in L^1(\mu)$ for all $x \in A$, then $xg \in L^1(\mu)$ for all $x \in X$.

The perhaps most famous thick set is the set A of characteristic functions in $B(\Sigma)$, the space of bounded measurable functions on a measurable space (Ω, Σ) : Nikodym's boundedness theorem states that A satisfies the condition (iv) in $B(\Sigma)$, Seever's theorem states that A satisfies the condition (iii). Remark that both these theorems were proved before Theorem 2.4.1 was commonly known.

It is well known that every pointwise bounded family of continuous linear operators from a locally convex space (LCS) E to some other LCS is equicontinuous if and only if the space E is *barrelled*, i.e., every absolutely convex closed absorbing set (every *barrell*) in E is a neighbourhood of zero. The theory of barrelled LCS is by now well documented through many books, among them [17] and more recently [8] and [13]. If an LCS is metrizable, then it is barrelled if and only if it is *Baire-like*, i.e., it can not be represented as a countable non-decreasing union of absolutely convex, nowhere dense sets. In this definition, one may of course assume the sets to be closed. Observing that whenever a subset of a Banach space is thin, then its linear span is thin as well, just comparing the definitions gives

Proposition 2.4.2. A subset $A \subset X$ is thick if and only if its linear span is dense and barrelled.

Thus the equivalences $(i) \Leftrightarrow (ii)$ and $(i) \Leftrightarrow (ii)$ in Theorem 2.4.1 are, respectively, just a restatement for Banach spaces of the above-mentioned barrelledness criterion, and the following well-known result of Bennett and Kalton.

Theorem 2.4.3 (see [1, Proposition 1]). Let $Z \subset X$ be a dense subspace. Then Z is barrelled if and only if whenever Y is a Banach space and $T: Y \to X$ is a continuous linear operator such that $TY \supset Z$, then TY = X.

From [10, Proposition 1] and [15, Theorems 3.4 and 4.6] one has the following characterization of weak*-thick sets.

Theorem 2.4.4. Let $A \subset X^*$. The following assertions are equivalent.

- (i) The set A is weak^{*}-thick in X^* .
- (ii) Whenever Y is a Banach space and $T: X \to Y$ is a continuous linear operator such that $T^*Y^* \supset A$, then $T^*Y^* = X^*$.
- (iii) Whenever a family of elements of the space X is pointwise bounded on A, then this family is norm bounded.

On the contrary to Theorem 2.4.1, Theorem 2.4.4 has nothing to do with results from the theory of barrelled spaces: it does not say anything about the equicontinuity of weak*-continuous linear functionals, but it gives a test for the equicontinuity of norm continuous linear functionals.

The already mentioned theorem due to Fonf (see [9, Theorem 1]) states that if $ext B_{X^*}$ is weak*-thin in X^* , then X contains a copy of c_0 . If X is separable,

the same is true for $w^* - \exp B_{X^*}$, the set of weak*-exposed points of B_{X^*} , as is shown in [10, Theorem 3*].

Using results of Fonf, Nygaard showed in [15] that if both X^* and Y are c_0 -free, then the set $E = \operatorname{ext} B_{X^{**}} \otimes \operatorname{ext} B_{Y^*}$ is weak*-thick in $\mathcal{L}(X,Y)^*$. From this it follows that if both X^* and Y are c_0 -free, then $\operatorname{ext} B_{\mathcal{K}(X,Y)^*}$ is weak*-thick in $\mathcal{K}(X,Y)^*$. Note that even $\mathcal{K}(\ell_2)$ contains a copy of c_0 .

In the theory of analytic functions, a set A satisfying the condition (iv) of Theorem 2.4.1 is called a *uniform boundedness deciding set (UBD-set)* (see [7]). It has been shown by Fernandez ([6]) that the set of inner functions is a UBD-set in (H^{∞}, w^*) . Later it has been shown by H. Shapiro ([16]) that also the set of the Blaschke-products has this property. Whether the inner functions form a UBD-set in $(H^{\infty}, \|\cdot\|)$ is still unknown. In other words, it is unknown whether the linear span of the inner functions in H^{∞} is barrelled. What is known from [16] is that this linear span is not a Baire space, but the inner functions form a norming set in H^{∞} . In fact, the closed, convex hull of the Blaschke-products is exactly the unit ball in H^{∞} (see [12, Cor 2.6, p. 196]).

Bibliography

- G. Bennett and N. J. Kalton, Inclusion theorems for K-spaces, Canad. J. Math. 25 (1973), 511-524.
- [2] J. Diestel, Sequences and Series in Banach Spaces, Graduate Texts in Mathematics, vol. 92, Springer, 1984.
- [3] J. Diestel and J. J. Uhl, jr., Vector Measures, Math. Surveys, vol. 15, Amer. Math. Soc., 1977.
- [4] D. B. Dimitrov, A remark on the Gel'fand integral, Funktsional. Anal. i Prilozhen. 5 (1971), no. 2, 84-85; English translation in: Funct. Anal. Appl. 5 (1971), 158-160.
- [5] J. Elton, Extremely weakly unconditionally convergent series, Israel J. Math 40 (1981), 255-258.
- [6] J. Fernandez, A boundedness theorem for L_1/H_0^1 , Michigan. Math. J. 35 (1988), 227–231.
- [7] J. Fernandez, S. Hui, and H. Shapiro, Unimodular functions and uniform boundedness, Publ. Mat. 33 (1989), 139-146.
- [8] J. C. Ferrando, M. López Pellicer, and L. M. Sánchez Ruiz, Metrizable Barrelled Spaces, Pitman Research Notes in Math., vol. 322, Longman, 1995.
- [9] V. P. Fonf, Weakly extremal properties of Banach spaces, Mat. Zametki 45, no. 6, (1989), 83-92; English translation in: Math. Notes 45 (1989), 488-494.
- [10] _____, On exposed and smooth points of convex bodies in Banach spaces, Bull. London Math. Soc. 28 (1996), 51–58.

- [11] V. P. Fonf and M. I. Kadets, Two theorems on the massiveness of the boundary in a reflexive Banach space, Funktsional. Anal. i Prilozhen. 17 (1983), no. 3, 77–78; English translation in: Funct. Anal. Appl. 17 (1983), 227–228.
- [12] J. B. Garnett, Bounded Analytic Functions, Academic Press, 1981.
- [13] M. Kunzinger, Barrelledness, Baire-like- and (LF)-spaces, Pitman Research Notes in Math., vol. 298, Longman, 1993.
- [14] O. Nygaard, A strong Uniform Boundedness Principle in Banach spaces, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 129 (2001), 861–863.
- [15] _____, Boundedness and surjectivity in normed spaces, Int. J. Math. Math. Sci. 32 (2002), 149–165.
- [16] H.S. Shapiro, A uniform boundedness principle concerning inner functions, J. Analyse Mat. 50 (1988) 183-188
- [17] M. Valdivia, Topics in locally convex spaces, Math. Studies, vol. 67, North-Holland, 1982.

Chapter 3

Weak metric approximation properties and nice projections

3.1 Introduction

Let X and Y be Banach spaces. We denote by $\mathcal{L}(Y, X)$ the Banach space of bounded linear operators from Y to X, and by $\mathcal{F}(Y, X)$, $\mathcal{K}(Y, X)$, $\mathcal{W}(Y, X)$ its subspaces of finite rank operators, compact operators, and weakly compact operators, respectively.

We denote by $X \hat{\otimes}_{\pi} Y$ the (completed) projective tensor product of X and Y. Recall that we may identify the dual of $X \hat{\otimes}_{\pi} Y$ with $\mathcal{L}(Y, X^*)$ and that the action of an operator $T: Y \to X^*$, as a linear functional on $X \hat{\otimes}_{\pi} Y$, is given by

$$\left\langle T, \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} x_n \otimes y_n \right\rangle = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} (Ty_n)(x_n).$$

Let I_X denote the identity operator on X. Recall that X is said to have the approximation property (AP) if there exists a net $(S_\alpha) \subset \mathcal{F}(X, X)$ such that $S_\alpha \to I_X$ uniformly on compact sets in X. If the net (S_α) can be chosen such that $\sup_\alpha ||S_\alpha|| \leq 1$, then X is said to have the metric approximation property (MAP).

In [8] Lima and Oja introduced and studied the weak metric approximation property. Following Lima and Oja a Banach space X is said to have the weak metric approximation property (weak MAP) if, for every Banach space Y and every operator $T \in \mathcal{W}(X, Y)$, there exists a net $(S_{\alpha}) \subset \mathcal{F}(X, X)$ with $\sup_{\alpha} ||TS_{\alpha}|| \leq ||T||$ such that $S_{\alpha} \to I_X$ uniformly on compact sets in X.

It is immediate from the definitions that MAP \Rightarrow weak MAP \Rightarrow AP. However, the AP does not imply the weak MAP in general as was shown in [8, Proposition 2.2]. Recently it was also shown [10, Corollary 1] that if a Banach space has the weak MAP then it has the MAP if either its dual or its bidual has the Radon-Nikodým property (RNP). It is, however, not known whether the weak MAP and the MAP in general are equivalent properties. Let X be a subspace of a Banach space Y. A linear operator $\varphi : X^* \to Y^*$ is called a *Hahn-Banach extension operator* if $(\varphi x^*)(x) = x^*(x)$ and $\|\varphi x^*\| = \|x^*\|$ for every $x \in X$ and $x^* \in X^*$. We denote the set of Hahn-Banach extension operators $\varphi : X^* \to Y^*$ by $\operatorname{IB}(X, Y)$. It is easy to show that $\operatorname{IB}(X, Y)$ is non-void if and only if X is an ideal in Y (in the sense of Godefroy, Kalton and Saphar [2]).

The following result [5, Propositions 2.1 and 2.5] of Lima establishes a connection between the weak MAP and the existence of a Hahn-Banach extension operator.

Theorem 3.1.1 (Lima). Let X be a Banach space. Then X has the weak MAP if and only if there exists a Hahn-Banach extension operator $\varphi \in B(X, X^{**})$ such that $\varphi^*|_{X^{**}}$ is in the weak*-closure of $\mathcal{F}(X, X)$ in $\mathcal{L}(X^{**}, X^{**})$.

Note that we can consider $\mathcal{F}(X, X)$ as a subspace of $\mathcal{L}(X^{**}, X^{**})$ through the embedding operator which maps an operator $T \in \mathcal{F}(X, X)$ to its second adjoint $T^{**} \in \mathcal{L}(X^{**}, X^{**})$.

In Section 3.2 we improve Theorem 3.1.1 by showing that we can replace the Hahn-Banach extension operator $\varphi : X^* \to X^{***}$ by a Hahn-Banach extension operator $\varphi_P : X^* \to X^{***}$ such that $P = \varphi_P^*|_{X^{**}}$ is a projection on X^{**} . This result is then thereafter used to improve other characterizations of the weak MAP.

In Section 3.3 we establish similar characterizations to those in Section 3.2 for two, recently introduced [6], natural compact companions of the weak MAP.

We will consider Banach spaces over the real scalar field only. We use standard Banach space notation, as can be found e.g. in [9]. The closed unit ball of a Banach space X is denoted by B_X and the unit sphere of X by S_X . The closure of a set $A \subset X$ is denoted by \overline{A} , its linear span by spanA, and its convex hull by convA. We will write X^* for the dual of X.

3.2 The weak MAP

We might ask what more can we say about the Hahn-Banach extension operator in Theorem 3.1.1. In fact, by using a technique of Godefroy and Kalton from [1], we will prove that we can replace the Hahn-Banach extension operator $\varphi \in \operatorname{IB}(X, X^{**})$ in Theorem 3.1.1 by a Hahn-Banach extension operator $\varphi_P \in$ $\operatorname{IB}(X, X^{**})$ such that $P = \varphi_P^*|_{X^{**}}$ is a projection on X^{**} . More explicitly we have the following theorem.

Theorem 3.2.1. Let X be a Banach space.

- (a) If P is a norm one projection on X^{**} with $X \subset P(X^{**})$ such that P is in the weak*-closure of $\mathcal{F}(X, X)$ in $\mathcal{L}(X^{**}, X^{**})$, then there exists a Hahn-Banach extension operator $\varphi \in \mathcal{B}(X, X^{**})$ such that $\varphi^*|_{X^{**}}$ is in the weak*-closure of $\mathcal{F}(X, X)$ in $\mathcal{L}(X^{**}, X^{**})$.
- (b) If there exists a Hahn-Banach extension operator φ ∈ HB(X, X^{**}) such that φ^{*}|_{X^{**}} is in the weak^{*}-closure of F(X, X) in L(X^{**}, X^{**}), then there exists a norm one projection P on X^{**} with X ⊂ P(X^{**}) such that P is in the weak^{*}-closure of F(X, X) in L(X^{**}, X^{**}).

Proof. (a) Assume that there exists a norm one projection P on X^{**} with $X \subset P(X^{**})$ such that P is in the weak*-closure of $\mathcal{F}(X,X)$ in $\mathcal{L}(X^{**},X^{**})$. Then put $\varphi_P = P^*i_{X^*}$ where $i_{X^*}: X^* \to X^{***}$ is the natural embedding of X^* into X^{***} . Finally observe that $\varphi_P: X^* \to X^{***}$ is a Hahn-Banach extension operator such that $\varphi_P^*|_{X^{**}} = P$.

(b) We use an argument from the proof of [1, Theorem III.1]. Assume that there exists a Hahn-Banach extension operator $\varphi \in \mathbf{B}(X, X^{**})$ such that $\varphi^*|_{X^{**}}$ is in the weak*-closure of $\mathcal{F}(X, X)$ in $\mathcal{L}(X^{**}, X^{**})$. Now, pick a net $(S_{\alpha}) \subset \mathcal{F}(X, X)$ such that $S_{\alpha}^{**} \to \varphi^*|_{X^{**}}$ weak* in $\mathcal{L}(X^{**}, X^{**})$. Let \mathfrak{S} be the convex semi-group generated by the net (S_{α}^{**}) , i.e. the smallest convex semigroup that contains (S_{α}^{**}) . Let \mathfrak{S}^* denote the weak*-closure of \mathfrak{S} . Now \mathfrak{S}^* is a convex semi-group. To see this let U and V be in \mathfrak{S}^* and write

$$U = \omega^* - \lim U_{\alpha}^{**}$$
$$V = \omega^* - \lim V_{\beta}^{**},$$

where U_{α}^{**} and V_{β}^{**} are in \mathfrak{S} . Choose $u = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} x_n^* \otimes x_n^{**} \in X^* \hat{\otimes}_{\pi} X^{**}$ arbitrarily. Then it follows that

$$UV(u) = \lim_{\alpha} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \langle x_n^*, U_{\alpha}^{**} V x_n^{**} \rangle = \lim_{\alpha} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \langle U_{\alpha}^* x_n^*, V x_n^{**} \rangle$$
(3.2.1)
=
$$\lim_{\alpha} \lim_{\beta} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \langle U_{\alpha}^* x_n^*, V_{\beta}^{**} x_n^{**} \rangle = \lim_{\alpha} \lim_{\beta} (U_{\alpha} V_{\beta})^{**}(u).$$

Hence UV is in the weak*-closure of $\mathcal{F}(X, X)$ in $\mathcal{L}(X^{**}, X^{**})$. It is obvious that \mathfrak{S}^* is convex.

Now put $\mathfrak{S}_0^* = \{T \in \mathfrak{S}^* : T|_X = I_X, \|T\| = 1\}$. Note that $\mathfrak{S}_0^* \neq \emptyset$ since $\varphi^*|_{X^{**}} \in \mathfrak{S}_0^*$. Since \mathfrak{S}_0^* is closed under composition, it is a semi-group. It is straightforward to show that it is convex and weak*-closed.

Equip \mathfrak{S}_0^* with the order-relation \leq defined by $S \leq T$ if $||Sx^{**}|| \leq ||Tx^{**}||$ for every $x^{**} \in X^{**}$. Now let N be any maximal chain in (\mathfrak{S}_0^*, \leq) and for $S \in N$ let $N_S = \{T \in N : T \leq S\}$. We can write $N = \bigcup_{S \in N} N_S$. Note that each N_S is weak*-closed. Indeed, choose a net (V_α) in N_S and assume $V_\alpha \xrightarrow[]{\alpha} V'$ weak*, where $V' \in \mathfrak{S}_0^*$. Then for every $x^{**} \in X^{**}$ we get

$$\|V'x^{**}\| \le \liminf_{\alpha} \|V_{\alpha}x^{**}\| \le \|Sx^{**}\|.$$

By the maximality of N it follows that $V' \in N$ so N_S is weak*-closed. Now choose $(S_i)_{i=1}^n \subset N$ arbitrarily. Then $(N_{S_i})_{i=1}^n$ is a finite family of weak*-closed sets and

$$\bigcap_{i=1}^{n} N_{S_i} = \{T \in N : T \le \min_{1 \le i \le n} S_i\} \neq \emptyset.$$

Since \mathfrak{S}_0^* is weak*-compact, every family of closed sets having the finite intersection property has a non-void intersection. Hence $\bigcap_{S \in N} N_S \neq \emptyset$. By the Hausdorff maximality theorem every chain is contained in a maximal chain. Hence, by the above argument, every chain in \mathfrak{S}_0^* has a lower bound. It now follows by Zorn's lemma that \mathfrak{S}_0^* has a minimal element. Denote such a minimal element by P.

We now show that P is a projection of norm one. Since P is minimal and ||S|| = 1 for all $S \in \mathfrak{S}_0^*$ we have $||SPx^{**}|| = ||Px^{**}||$ for all $S \in \mathfrak{S}_0^*$ and all $x^{**} \in X^{**}$. Applying this observation to

$$S_n = \frac{1}{n} (\sum_{i=1}^n P^i),$$

which by convexity is in \mathfrak{S}_0^* , gives

$$\|(S_n P^2 - S_n P)x^{**}\| = \|S_n P(Px^{**} - x^{**})\|$$

= $\|P(Px^{**} - x^{**})\|$
= $\|P^2x^{**} - Px^{**}\|.$

Since we have that

$$S_n P^2 - S_n P = \frac{1}{n} (P^{n+2} - P^2),$$

we get that $||P^2x^{**} - Px^{**}|| \leq \frac{2}{n}$ for all $n \geq 1$. It follows that P is a projection on X^{**} such that P is in the weak*-closure of $\mathcal{F}(X, X)$ in $\mathcal{L}(X^{**}, X^{**})$. By the definition of \mathfrak{S}_0^* , P is of norm one and $X \subset P(X^{**})$.

In fact we can do slightly better than Theorem 3.2.1. The result below tells us that we may assume that the net converging weak^{*} to the projection, satisfies some boundedness property.

Proposition 3.2.2. Let X be a Banach space with the weak MAP. Then there exist a projection P on X^{**} with $X \subset P(X^{**})$ such that for every reflexive Banach space Y and for every $T \in \mathcal{W}(X, Y)$, there exists a net $(S_{\alpha}) \subset \mathcal{F}(X, X)$ with $\limsup_{\alpha} ||TS_{\alpha}|| \leq ||T||$ such that $S_{\alpha} \to P$ weak^{*} in $\mathcal{L}(X^{**}, X^{**})$.

Proof. Let $\epsilon > 0$, let Y be a reflexive Banach space, and let $T \in \mathcal{W}(X,Y)$ of norm one. Let $u_k = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} x_{k,n}^* \otimes x_{k,n}^{**} \in X^* \hat{\otimes}_{\pi} X^{**}$ for k = 1, ..., m. Assume $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} ||x_{k,n}^{**}|| < \infty$ and $1 \ge ||x_{k,n}^*|| \to 0$ for each k = 1, ..., m. Put $K = CONV\{\pm x_{k,n}^*: k = 1, ..., m; n = 1, 2, ...\} \subset B_{X^*}$. Let Z be the Banach space constructed from K in the factorization lemma [7, Lemma 1.1], and let $J : Z \to X^*$ be the identity embedding of Z into X^* . Now Z is separable, reflexive and $J \in \mathcal{K}(Z, X^*)$ is of norm one. Define a map $V : X \to Z^* \oplus_{\infty} Y$ by $Vx = (J^*x, Tx)$. Note that $V \in \mathcal{W}(X, Z^* \oplus_{\infty} Y)$. By Theorem 3.1.1 and Theorem 3.2.1 there exists a norm one projection P on X^{**} with $X \subset P(X^{**})$ such that P is in the weak*-closure of $\mathcal{F}(X, X)$ in $\mathcal{L}(X^{**}, X^{**})$. Note that $V^{**}P$ is in the weak*-closure of the convex set $\{V^{**}S^{**}: S \in \mathcal{F}(X, X)\}$ in $\mathcal{W}(X^{**}, Z^* \oplus_{\infty} Y)$. Since $Z^* \oplus_{\infty} Y$ is reflexive we have, by [3, Theorem 1.5], that $V^{**}P$ is in the weak*-closure of

$$\{V^{**}S^{**}: S \in \mathcal{F}(X, X), \|V^{**}S^{**}\| < \|V^{**}P\| + \epsilon\}$$

in $\mathcal{W}(X^{**}, Z^* \oplus_{\infty} Y)$, which again is a subset of the weak*-closure of

$$\{V^{**}S^{**}: S \in \mathcal{F}(X, X), \|VS\| < 1 + \epsilon\}$$

in $\mathcal{W}(X^{**}, Z^* \oplus_{\infty} Y)$. Now choose $z_{k,n} \in B_Z$ such that $Jz_{k,n} = x_{k,n}^*$ for all k and n. Find S in the above set such that

$$\begin{aligned} \epsilon &> \max_{1 \le k \le m} |V^{**}S^{**}(\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} (z_{k,n}, 0) \otimes x_{k,n}^{**}) - V^{**}P(\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} (z_{k,n}, 0) \otimes x_{k,n}^{**})| \\ &= \max_{1 \le k \le m} |\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \left\langle z_{k,n}, J^{*}S^{**}x_{k,n}^{**} \right\rangle - \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \left\langle z_{k,n}, J^{*}Px_{k,n}^{**} \right\rangle| \\ &= \max_{1 \le k \le m} |\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \left\langle x_{k,n}^{*}, S^{**}x_{k,n}^{**} \right\rangle - \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \left\langle x_{k,n}^{*}, Px_{k,n}^{**} \right\rangle|. \end{aligned}$$

Since $||TS|| \le ||VS|| \le 1 + \epsilon$, the result follows.

When the space X is separable and does not contain a copy of ℓ_1 , we know even more about the projection.

Corollary 3.2.3. Let X be a separable Banach space not containing ℓ_1 . Then there exists a Hahn-Banach extension operator $\varphi \in B(X, X^{**})$ such that $\varphi^*|_{X^{**}}$ is in the weak*-closure of $\mathcal{F}(X, X)$ in $\mathcal{L}(X^{**}, X^{**})$ if and only if there exist a norm one projection P on X^{**} with weak*-closed kernel and with $X \subset P(X^{**})$ such that P is in the weak*-closure of $\mathcal{F}(X, X)$ in $\mathcal{L}(X^{**}, X^{**})$.

Proof. This follows directly from Theorem 3.2.1 and [1, Claim III.2].

Building on Theorem 3.2.1, we arrive at the result below. This improves [5, Propositions 2.5 and 3.1 in the way that the Hahn-Banach extension operator $\varphi:X^*\to X^{***},$ in each of these results, is replaced by Hahn-Banach extension operator $\varphi_P: X^* \to X^{***}$ such that $P = \varphi_P^*|_{X^{**}}$ is a projection on X^{**} .

Theorem 3.2.4. Let X be a Banach space. The following statements are equivalent.

- (a) X has the weak-MAP.
- (b) There exists a norm one projection P on X^{**} with $X \subset P(X^{**})$ such that P is in the weak*-closure of $\mathcal{F}(X, X)$ in $\mathcal{L}(X^{**}, X^{**})$.
- (c) There exists a norm one projection P on X^{**} with $X \subset P(X^{**})$ such that, for every reflexive Banach space Y and every operator $T \in \mathcal{W}(Y, X^{**})$, one has $PT \in \mathcal{F}(Y, X)^{**}$.
- (d) There exists a norm one projection P on X^{**} with $X \subset P(X^{**})$ such that, for every separable reflexive Banach space Y and every operator $T \in$ $\mathcal{K}(Y, X^{**})$, one has $PT \in \mathcal{F}(Y, X)^{**}$.
- *Proof.* (a) \Leftrightarrow (b) follows from Theorem 3.1.1 and Theorem 3.2.1. $(b) \Rightarrow (c)$ is obtained by the same reasoning as in [5, Proposition 3.1 (a) \Rightarrow (b)]. $(c) \Rightarrow (d)$ is trivial. $(d) \Rightarrow (a)$ is obtained by the same reasoning as in [5, Proposition 3.1 (c) $\Rightarrow (a)$].

3.3 The weak MCAP and the very weak MCAP

Recently Lima and Lima [6] introduced and investigated two approximation properties that are natural compact companions of the weak MAP. Following [6], a Banach space X has the weak metric compact approximation property (weak MCAP) if, for every Banach space Y and every operator $T \in \mathcal{W}(X,Y)$, there exists a net $(S_{\alpha}) \subset \mathcal{K}(X,X)$ with $\sup_{\alpha} ||TS_{\alpha}|| \leq ||T||$ such that $S_{\alpha} \rightarrow I_X$ uniformly on compact sets in X. Moreover, X is said to have the very weak metric compact approximation property (very weak MCAP) if for every Banach space Y and every operator $T \in \mathcal{W}(X,Y)$ there exists a net $(S_{\alpha}) \subset \mathcal{K}(X,X^{**})$ with $\sup_{\alpha} ||T^{**}S_{\alpha}|| \leq ||T||$ such that $\lim_{\alpha} \operatorname{tr}(S_{\alpha}u) = \operatorname{tr}(I_Xu)$ for every $u \in X^* \hat{\otimes}_{\pi} X$. By comparing the definitions, it is immediate that the following implications hold: weak MAP \Rightarrow weak MCAP \Rightarrow very weak MCAP. As pointed out in [6, Remark 5.2], there is a space with the very weak MCAP, but without the weak MCAP. Moreover, the space of Willis [11, Proposition 4] has the weak MCAP, but not the weak MAP.

It should be noted that similar results to Theorem 3.2.1 also hold for the weak MCAP and the very weak MCAP. The results differ from Theorem 3.2.1 only in the way that $\mathcal{F}(X, X)$ is replaced by $\mathcal{K}(X, X)$ in the weak MCAP case, and $\mathcal{K}(X, X^{**})$ in the very weak MCAP case. The proofs of these results are verbatim to that of Theorem 3.2.1, using $\mathcal{K}(X, X)$ and $\mathcal{K}(X, X^{**})$ instead of $\mathcal{F}(X, X)$ respectively. The reason why the arguments work, is that the image of the second adjoint of a compact operator is a subspace of the range space of the operator itself. Hence the calculation in (3.2.1) holds.

Proposition 3.3.1. Let X be a Banach space.

- (a) If P is a norm one projection on X^{**} with $X \subset P(X^{**})$ such that P is in the weak*-closure of K(X, X) [$\mathcal{K}(X, X^{**})$] in $\mathcal{L}(X^{**}, X^{**})$, then there exists a Hahn-Banach extension operator $\varphi \in \mathcal{B}(X, X^{**})$ such that $\varphi^*|_{X^{**}}$ is in the weak*-closure of $\mathcal{K}(X, X)$ [$\mathcal{K}(X, X^{**})$] in $\mathcal{L}(X^{**}, X^{**})$.
- (b) If there exists a Hahn-Banach extension operator $\varphi \in B(X, X^{**})$ such that $\varphi^*|_{X^{**}}$ is in the weak*-closure of $\mathcal{K}(X, X)$ [$\mathcal{K}(X, X^{**})$] in $\mathcal{L}(X^{**}, X^{**})$, then there exists a norm one projection P on X^{**} with $X \subset P(X^{**})$ such that P is in the weak*-closure of K(X, X) [$\mathcal{K}(X, X^{**})$] in $\mathcal{L}(X^{**}, X^{**})$.

By applying these results in companion with the proof of [5, Proposition 3.1] and the proofs of [6, Theorem 4.3] and [6, Theorem 5.3], we obtain the following strengthenings of [6, Theorem 4.3] for the weak MCAP case, and [6, Theorem 5.3] for the very weak MCAP case. The results improve [6, Theorem 4.3] and [6, Theorem 5.3] in the way that the Hahn-Banach extension operator $\varphi : X^* \to$ X^{***} in each of these theorems is replaced by a Hahn-Banach extension operator $\varphi_P : X^* \to X^{***}$ such that $P = \varphi_P^*|_{X^{**}}$ is a projection on X^{**} .

Theorem 3.3.2. Let X be a Banach space. The following statements are equivalent.

- (a) X has the weak MCAP.
- (b) There exists a norm one projection P on X^{**} with $X \subset P(X^{**})$ such that P is in the weak*-closure of $\mathcal{K}(X, X)$ in $\mathcal{L}(X^{**}, X^{**})$.

- (c) There exists a norm one projection P on X^{**} with $X \subset P(X^{**})$ such that, for every reflexive Banach space Y and every $T \in \mathcal{W}(Y, X^{**})$, one has $PT \in \mathfrak{E}^{**}$ where $\mathfrak{E} = \{S^{**}T : S \in \mathcal{K}(X, X)\} \subset \mathcal{K}(Y, X)$.
- (d) There exists a norm one projection P on X^{**} with $X \subset P(X^{**})$ such that, for every separable reflexive Banach space Y and every $T \in \mathcal{K}(Y, X^{**})$, one has $PT \in \mathfrak{E}^{**}$ where \mathfrak{E} is as in (c).
- (e) There exists a norm one projection P on X^{**} with $X \subset P(X^{**})$ such that, for all sequences $(x_n^*) \subset X^*$ and $(x_n^{**}) \subset X^{**}$ with $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \|x_n^*\| \|x_n^*\| < \infty$ and $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} x_n^{**}(S^*x_n^*) = 0$ for all $S \in \mathcal{K}(X, X)$, one has $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} x_n^{**}(P^*x_n^*) = 0$.

Proof. (a)⇔(b) follows from [6, Theorem 4.3 (a)⇔(b)] and Proposition 3.3.1. (b)⇒(c) is similar to the proof of [5, Proposition 3.1 (a)⇒(b)]. (c)⇒(d) is trivial. (d)⇒(e) is similar to the proof of [6, Theorem 4.3 (f)⇒(g)]. (e)⇒(b) is trivial. □

Theorem 3.3.3. Let X be a Banach space. The following statements are equivalent.

- (a) X has the very weak MCAP.
- (b) There exists a norm one projection P on X^{**} with $X \subset P(X^{**})$ such that P is in the weak*-closure of $\mathcal{K}(X, X^{**})$ in $\mathcal{L}(X^{**}, X^{**})$.
- (c) There exists a norm one projection P on X^{**} with $X \subset P(X^{**})$ such that, for every reflexive Banach space Y and every $T \in \mathcal{W}(X,Y)$, one has $T^{**}P \in \mathfrak{E}^{**}$, where $\mathfrak{E} = \{T^{**}S : S \in \mathcal{K}(X,X^{**})\} \subset K(X,Y)$.
- (d) There exists a norm one projection P on X^{**} with $X \subset P(X^{**})$ such that, for every reflexive Banach space Y and every $T \in \mathcal{K}(X,Y)$, there exists a net $(S_{\alpha}) \subset \mathcal{K}(X,X^{**})$, with $\sup_{\alpha} ||T^{**}S_{\alpha}|| \leq ||T||$, such that ω^* - $\lim_{\alpha} S_{\alpha}^*T^*y = P^*T^*y^*$ in X^{***} for all $y^* \in Y^*$.
- (e) There exists a norm one projection P on X^{**} with $X \subset P(X^{**})$ such that, for every reflexive Banach space Y and every $T \in \mathcal{K}(X,Y)$, there exists a net $(S_{\alpha}) \subset \mathcal{K}(X,X^{**})$, with $\sup_{\alpha} ||T^{**}S_{\alpha}|| \leq ||T||$, such that $T^{**}S_{\alpha}^{**} \to T^{**}P$ in the strong operator topology.
- (f) There exists a norm one projection P on X^{**} with $X \subset P(X^{**})$ such that, for all sequences $(x_n^*) \subset X^*$ and $(x_n^{**}) \subset X^{**}$ with $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \|x_n^*\| \|x_n^{**}\| < \infty$ and $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} x_n^{**}(S^*x_n^*) = 0$ for all $S \in \mathcal{K}(X, X^{**})$, one has $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} x_n^{**}(P^*x_n^*) = 0$.

Proof. (a) \Leftrightarrow (b) follows from [6, Theorem 5.3 (a) \Leftrightarrow (b)] and Proposition 3.3.1.

 $(b)\Rightarrow(c)\Rightarrow(d)\Rightarrow(e)$ are similar to the proofs of $(b)\Rightarrow(c)\Rightarrow(d)\Rightarrow(e)$ in [6, Theorem 5.3] respectively.

(e) \Rightarrow (f). Let $\epsilon > 0$, let $u = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} x_n^* \otimes x_n^{**} \in X^* \hat{\otimes}_{\pi} X^{**}$, and assume $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \|x_n^*\| < \infty$ and $1 \ge \|x_n^*\| \to 0$. Put $K = \overline{\operatorname{conv}} \{\pm x_n^* : n = 1, 2, \ldots\} \subset B_{X^*}$. Let Z be the Banach space constructed from K in the factorization lemma [7, Lemma 1.1], and $J: Z \to X^*$ the identity embedding of Z into X^* . Now Z is separable, reflexive and $J \in \mathcal{K}(Z, X^*)$ is of norm one. Choose $z_n \in B_Z$ such

that $Jz_n = x_n^*$ for every $n \in \mathbb{N}$. From the assumption it follows that there exists a norm one projection P on X^{**} with $X \subset P(X^{**})$ and a net $(S_\alpha) \in \mathcal{K}(X, X^{**})$ with $\sup_\alpha ||(J^*|_X)^{**}S_\alpha|| \leq 1$ such that $(J^*|_X)^{**}S_\alpha^{**} \to (J^*|_X)^{**}P$ in the strong operator topology. Since $((J^*|_X)^{**}S_\alpha)$ is bounded, we may assume that the net converges to $(J^*|_X)^{**}P$ in the topology τ of uniform convergence on compact sets in X^{**} . By the description of $(\mathcal{L}(X^{**}, Z^*), \tau)^*$, due to Grothendieck [4] (see i.e. [9, Proposition 1.e.3]), it now follows that there exists an $S \in \mathcal{K}(X, X^{**})$ such that

$$\begin{aligned} \epsilon &> |\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \langle (J^*|_X)^{**} S^{**} x_n^{**}, z_n \rangle - \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \langle (J^*|_X)^{**} P x_n^{**}, z_n \rangle | \\ &= |\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \langle S^{**} x_n^{**}, J z_n \rangle - \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \langle P x_n^{**}, J z_n \rangle | \\ &= |\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \langle S^{**} x_n^{**}, x_n^{*} \rangle - \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \langle P x_n^{**}, x_n^{*} \rangle |, \end{aligned}$$

and we are done.

 $(f) \Rightarrow (b)$ is clear by using the Hahn-Banach theorem.

Bibliography

- G. Godefroy and N. J. Kalton, Approximating sequences and bidual projections, Quart. J. Math. Oxford Series (2) 48 (1997), no. 190, 179–202. MR 1458578 (2000c:46033)
- [2] G. Godefroy, N. J. Kalton, and P. D. Saphar, Unconditional ideals in Banach spaces, Studia Math. 104 (1993), 13-59.
- [3] G. Godefroy and P. Saphar, Duality in spaces of operators and smooth norms on Banach spaces, Illinois J. Math. 32 (1988), 672-695.
- [4] A. Grothendieck, Produits tensoriels topologiques et espaces nucléaires, Mem. Amer. Math. Soc. 16 (1955).
- [5] V. Lima, The weak metric approximation property and ideals of operators, J. Math. Anal. Appl. (to appear).
- [6] V. Lima and A. Lima, Geometry of spaces of compact operators, Preprint.
- [7] Å. Lima, O. Nygaard, and E. Oja, Isometric factorization of weakly compact operators and the approximation property, Israel J. Math. 119 (2000), 325– 348. MR MR1802659 (2002b:46031)
- [8] Å. Lima and E. Oja, The weak metric approximation property, Math. Ann.
 333 (2005), no. 3, 471–484. MR 2198796 (2006i:46025)
- [9] J. Lindenstrauss and L. Tzafriri, *Classical Banach spaces I*, Springer, Berlin-Heidelberg-New York, 1977.
- [10] E. Oja, The impact of the Radon-Nikodým property on the weak bounded approximation property, Rev. R. Acad. Cien. Serie A. Mat. 100 (2006), no. 1-2, 325-331.

[11] G. Willis, The compact approximation property does not imply the approximation property, Studia Math. 103 (1992), 99–108.

Chapter 4

Unconditional ideals of finite rank operators

4.1 Introduction

A closed subspace Z of a Banach space X is an *ideal* in X if the annihilator Z^{\perp} is the kernel of a norm one projection on X^* . A linear operator $\varphi: Z^* \to X^*$ is called a *Hahn-Banach extension operator* if $\varphi(z^*)(z) = z^*(z)$ and $\|\varphi(z^*)\| = \|z^*\|$ for every $z \in Z$ and $z^* \in Z^*$. We write $\operatorname{IB}(Z, X)$ for the set of all Hahn-Banach extension operators from Z^* into X^* . It is not difficult to see that $\operatorname{IB}(Z, X) \neq \emptyset$ if and only if Z is an ideal in X. If Z is a subspace of a normed space X, we say that Z is an ideal in X if \overline{Z} is an ideal in \overline{X} . The notion of an ideal was introduced and studied by Godefroy, Kalton, and Saphar in [5].

The stronger notion of an unconditional ideal (u-ideal for short) was introduced and studied by Casazza and Kalton in [2]. If Z is an ideal in X such that the corresponding projection P on X^* satisfies ||I - 2P|| = 1, then Z is called a u-ideal in X. The projection is called a u-projection and the corresponding $\varphi \in \mathbf{B}(Z, X)$ is called an unconditional Hahn-Banach extension operator. From Lemma 2.2 and Proposition 3.6 in [5], we can state the following result.

Theorem 4.1.1 (Godefroy, Kalton, and Saphar). Let X be a Banach space and let Z be a subspace of X. The following statements are equivalent.

- (a) Z is a u-ideal in X.
- (b) There exists a Hahn Banach extension operator φ ∈ HB(Z, X) such that whenever ε > 0, x ∈ X and A is a convex subset of Z such that φ^{*}(x) is in the weak^{*}-closure of A then there exists z ∈ A with ||x − 2z|| < ||x|| + ε.</p>
- (c) There exists a Hahn Banach extension operator $\varphi \in H\!B(Z, X)$ such that for every $x \in X$ there is a net (z_{α}) in Z such that $\varphi^*(x) = \lim_{\alpha} z_{\alpha}$ in the weak*-topology and $\limsup_{\alpha} ||x - 2z_{\alpha}|| \le ||x||$.
- (d) For every finite dimensional subspace F of X and every $\varepsilon > 0$, there is a linear map $L: F \to Z$ such that
 - (1) L(x) = x for every $x \in F \cap Z$, and

(2) $||x - 2L(x)|| \le (1 + \varepsilon)||x||$ for every $x \in F$.

Note that (1) can be substituted by the inequality $||L(x) - x|| \le \varepsilon ||x||$ for every $x \in F \cap Z$. We will sometimes use this fact.

Let X and Y be Banach spaces. We denote by $\mathcal{L}(Y, X)$ the Banach space of bounded linear operators from Y to X, and by $\mathcal{F}(Y, X)$, $\mathcal{K}(Y, X)$, and $\mathcal{W}(Y, X)$ its subspaces of finite rank operators, compact operators, and weakly compact operators, respectively.

In Section 4.2 we show that the set of Hahn-Banach extension operators $\operatorname{I\!B}(X,Y)$ is a face in the unit ball of $\mathcal{L}(X^*,Y^*)$. We show in Proposition 4.2.2 that an unconditional Hahn-Banach extension operator has to be a center of symmetry in $\operatorname{I\!B}(X,Y)$. If X contains a copy of ℓ_1 and is a u-ideal in its bidual, then we show that the diam $\operatorname{I\!B}(X,X^{**}) = 2$. We also show that in some important cases the set $\operatorname{I\!B}(X,Y)$ consists of a single element. The subspaces Z of X such that $\varphi^*|_{X^{**}}(Z^{\perp\perp}) \subset Z^{\perp\perp}$ where $\varphi \in \operatorname{I\!B}(X,X^{**})$ is unconditional are characterized.

In Section 4.3 we establish in Theorem 4.3.2 characterizations of the case when $\mathcal{F}(Y, X)$ is a u-ideal in $\mathcal{W}(Y, X)$ for every Banach space Y. The characterizations include a statement similar to Theorem 4.1.1 (b) involving a Hahn-Banach extension operator, a statement which is an approximation property for X and statements about approximating weakly compact operators by finite rank operators. In Theorem 4.3.8 we give similar characterizations of the case when $\mathcal{F}(X, Y)$ is a u-ideal in $\mathcal{W}(X, Y)$ for every Banach space Y.

In Section 4.4 we characterize the property that $\mathcal{F}(Y, X)$ is a u-ideal in $\mathcal{W}(Y, X^{**})$ for every Banach space Y in Theorem 4.4.4, and the property that $\mathcal{F}(Y, X)$ is a u-ideal in $\mathcal{K}(Y, X^{**})$ for every Banach space Y in Theorem 4.4.6 by statements similar to those in Theorems 4.3.2 and 4.3.8. An example due to Oja [25, Example 3] shows that the latter property is strictly weaker (see Remark 4.4.7 below). We define an unconditional version of the weak metric approximation property. We show by giving an example that this property is strictly weaker than $\mathcal{F}(Y, X)$ being a u-ideal in $\mathcal{K}(Y, X^{**})$ for every Banach space Y.

We will frequently use the isometric version of the Davis-Figiel-Johnson-Pełczyński factorization lemma [3] due to Lima, Nygaard, and Oja [16]. Let X be a Banach space and let K be a closed absolutely convex subset of the unit ball B_X of X. If Z is the Banach space constructed from K in the factorization lemma and J is the norm one identity embedding of Z into X (see [16, Lemma 1.1]), we will write

$$[Z, J] = \mathrm{DFJP}(K).$$

From the factorization lemma we know that Z is reflexive if and only if K is weakly compact. The factorization lemma also says that if K is compact, then Z is separable and J is compact.

From the isometric version of the factorization lemma proved by Lima, Nygaard, and Oja [16, Theorem 2.3] we get that if $G \subset \mathcal{W}(Y, X)$ is a finite dimensional subspace, then there exist a reflexive Banach space Z, a norm one operator $J: Z \to X$, and a linear isometry $\Phi: G \to \mathcal{W}(Y, Z)$ such that $T = J \circ \Phi(T)$ for every $T \in G$. We will write

$$[Z, J, \Phi] = \mathrm{DFJP}(G), \tag{4.1.1}$$

for this construction. Similarly, using [16, Corollary 2.4], we get that if $G \subset \mathcal{W}(X,Y)$ is a finite dimensional subspace, then there exists a reflexive Banach space Z, a norm one operator $J: X \to Z$, and a linear isometry $\Phi: G \to \mathcal{W}(Z,Y)$ such that $T = \Phi(T) \circ J$ for every $T \in G$. We will write

$$[Z, \Phi, J] = \mathrm{DFJP}(G), \tag{4.1.2}$$

for this construction.

We use standard Banach space notation as used by Lindenstrauss and Tzafriri in [23]. Only real Banach spaces are considered unless otherwise stated. The closed unit ball of a Banach space X is denoted by B_X and the identity operator on X is denoted by I_X . We will write X^* for the dual space of X. If $Z \subset X$ is a subspace of X, then we will write $i_Z : Z \to X$ for the canonical embedding. We will write $k_X : X \to X^{**}$ for the natural embedding of X into its bidual. ext B_X denotes the set of extreme points in B_X . If $T : X \to Y$ is an operator and $x \in X$, then we will write Tx instead of T(x) when there is no danger of confusion.

4.2 Unconditional Hahn-Banach extension operators

Let us start with a general result about the location and the size of the set of Hahn-Banach extension operators.

Proposition 4.2.1. Let Y be a Banach space. If X is an ideal in Y, then H(X,Y) is a face in $B_{\mathcal{L}(X^*,Y^*)}$.

Proof. Let $\phi_1, \phi_2 \in B_{\mathcal{L}(X^*,Y^*)}$ and suppose $\varphi = \frac{\phi_1 + \phi_2}{2} \in \operatorname{HB}(X,Y)$. We then get that

$$\frac{i_X^*\phi_1 + i_X^*\phi_2}{2} = i_X^*\varphi = I_{X^*} \in \operatorname{ext} B_{\mathcal{L}(X^*, X^*)}.$$

Thus $i_X^* \phi_i = I_{X^*}$ and $\phi_i \in \operatorname{HB}(X, Y)$ for i = 1, 2.

In Lemma 3.1 in [5] there is an algebraic proof of the fact that an unconditional Hahn-Banach extension operator is unique. Next we have a geometric proof. (Recall that x is a *center of symmetry* in a subset A of a linear space X if $2x - y \in A$ for every $y \in A$.)

Proposition 4.2.2. Let X be a u-ideal in Y with unconditional $\varphi \in B(X,Y)$. For $x^* \in X^*$, let $B(x^*) \subset Y^*$ be the set of norm preserving extensions of x^* to Y. Then $\varphi(x^*)$ is the center of symmetry in $B(x^*)$ for every $x^* \in X^*$.

In particular, the unconditional Hahn-Banach extension operator φ is unique, and φ is a center of symmetry in B(X, Y).

Proof. Let $y^* \in \mathbf{B}(x^*)$ and let $P_{\varphi} = \varphi i_X^*$ be the u-projection. Then $||x^*|| = ||y^*|| = ||(I - 2P_{\varphi})y^*|| = ||y^* - 2\varphi(x^*)||$, so that $2\varphi(x^*) - y^* \in \mathbf{B}(x^*)$. Hence $\varphi(x^*)$ is a center of symmetry in $\mathbf{B}(x^*)$. Since a center of symmetry in a convex bounded set is unique, it follows that there is at most one unconditional extension operator in $\mathbf{B}(X, Y)$.

If $\psi \in \mathbf{B}(X,Y)$ and $x^* \in X^*$, then $\psi(x^*) \in \mathbf{B}(x^*)$. Using that $\varphi(x^*)$ is a center of symmetry in $\operatorname{IB}(x^*)$ we get $2\varphi(x^*) - \psi(x^*) \in \operatorname{IB}(x^*)$. Hence we get $2\varphi - \psi \in \operatorname{IB}(X, Y)$ and φ is a center of symmetry in $\operatorname{IB}(X, Y)$.

The following result shows that if a Banach space X contains a subspace isomorphic to ℓ_1 and is a u-ideal in its bidual, then the diameter of $\operatorname{IB}(X, X^{**})$ is as large as possible.

Proposition 4.2.3. Let X be a Banach space which contains a subspace isomorphic to ℓ_1 . If X is a u-ideal in its bidual, then diam $H(X, X^{**}) = 2$.

Proof. Let $\pi = k_{X*}k_X^*$ and $P_{\varphi} = \varphi k_X^*$ respectively be the canonical projection and the u-projection on X^{***} . By Proposition 4.2.2 the unconditional Hahn-Banach extension operator φ is a center of symmetry in $\operatorname{IB}(X, X^{**})$, i.e. $\psi =$ $2\varphi - k_{X^*} \in \mathbf{B}(X, X^{**})$. Let $P_{\psi} = \psi k_X^*$ and note that P_{ψ} is an ideal projection on X^{***} . By Proposition 2.6 in [5] we have $||I - 2\pi|| = 3$, so

$$2 \ge ||P_{\psi} - \pi|| = ||2P_{\varphi} - 2\pi|| \ge ||I - 2\pi|| - ||I - 2P\varphi|| = 2.$$

Hence $\|\psi - k_{X^*}\| = \|P_{\psi} - \pi\| = 2$, so diam $\operatorname{IB}(X, X^{**}) = 2$.

Note that the proof of Proposition 1 in [1] shows that if a non-reflexive Banach space X is 1-complemented in its bidual by a projection P, then $\operatorname{IB}(X, X^{**})$ consists of at least two elements.

One direction of the following theorem was proved for separable h-ideals in [5, Theorem 6.7]. Our argument, as the proof of Theorem 6.7 in [5], is based on an application of Theorem 4.1.1 (b).

Theorem 4.2.4. Let X be a Banach space. Assume that X is a u-ideal in X^{**} with unconditional $\varphi \in B(X, X^{**})$. Let Z be a closed subspace of X. Then $\varphi^*(Z^{\perp\perp}) \subset Z^{\perp\perp}$ if and only if Z is a u-ideal in Z^{**} with unconditional Hahn-Banach extension operator $\psi \in H(Z, Z^{**})$ such that $i_Z^{**}\psi^*|_{Z^{**}} = \varphi^* i_Z^{**}$.

Proof. Suppose $\varphi^*(Z^{\perp\perp}) \subset Z^{\perp\perp}$. $i_Z: Z \to X$ is the natural embedding, so i_Z^* is the restriction and i_Z^{**} is weak^{*}-weak^{*} continuous, isometric, and onto $Z^{\perp\perp}$. Define $\psi: Z^* \to Z^{***}$ by

$$\psi(z^*) = \psi(x^* + Z^\perp) = i_Z^{***}\varphi(x^*)$$

for $z^* = x^* + Z^{\perp} \in Z^*$. Since $i_Z^{**}(Z^{**}) \subset Z^{\perp \perp}$ we get that ψ is well-defined:

$$\langle \psi(z^*), z^{**} \rangle = \langle x^* + Z^{\perp}, \varphi^*(i_Z^{**}(z^{**})) \rangle = \langle x^*, \varphi^*(i_Z^{**}(z^{**})) \rangle = \langle i_Z^{***}\varphi(x^*), z^{**} \rangle$$

for $z^{**} \in Z^{**}$. Thus we have $\psi(i_Z^*(x^*) = i_Z^{***}\varphi(x^*)$ for all $x^* \in X^*$. Taking adjoints we get $i_Z^{**}\psi^*|_{Z^{**}} = \varphi^* i_Z^{**}$.

Let us show that ψ is an unconditional Hahn-Banach extension operator. Clearly ψ is linear with norm at most one. For $z \in Z$ and $z^* = x^* + Z^{\perp} \in Z^*$ we have

$$\psi(z^*)(z) = \langle \varphi(x^*), i_Z(z) \rangle = \langle x^*, i_Z(z) \rangle = z^*(z).$$

Let $z^{**} \in B_{Z^{**}}$ and $\varepsilon > 0$. Since X is a u-ideal in X^{**} and $\varphi^*(i_Z^{**}(z^{**}))$ is in the w^{*}-closure of B_Z in X^{**} there exists a $z \in B_Z$ such that

$$||z^{**} - 2z|| = ||i_Z^{**}(z^{**}) - 2i_Z(z)|| < ||z^{**}|| + \varepsilon$$

by Theorem 4.1.1 (b). Thus there is a net $(z_{\alpha}) \subset B_Z$ with $\limsup_{\alpha} ||z^{**} - 2z_{\alpha}|| \leq ||z^{**}||$ such that $z_{\alpha} \to \psi^*(z^{**})$ weak^{*} in Z^{**} (here we used $i_Z^{**}\psi^*|_{Z^{**}} = \varphi^*i_Z^{**}$). Hence $||z^{**} - 2k_Z^{**}(\psi(z^{**}))|| \leq ||z^{**}||$ and ψ is unconditional.

For the converse assume that Z is a u-ideal in Z^{**} with unconditional $\psi \in \mathbf{B}(Z, Z^{**})$ such that $i_Z^{**}\psi^*|_{Z^{**}} = \varphi^*i_Z^{**}$. Let $x^{**} \in Z^{\perp\perp}$ in X^{**} and choose $z^{**} \in Z^{**}$ such that $i_Z^{**}(z^{**}) = x^{**}$, then $\varphi^*(x^{**}) = i_Z^{*}(\psi^* z^{**}) \in Z^{\perp\perp}$.

Recall that a Banach space X is said to have the approximation property (AP) if there exists a net $(S_{\alpha}) \subset \mathcal{F}(X, X)$ such that $S_{\alpha} \to I_X$ uniformly on compact sets in X. Lima, Nygaard, and Oja have proved [16, Theorem 3.3] that a Banach space X has the AP if and only if the set $\mathbb{B}(\mathcal{F}(Y, X), \mathcal{W}(Y, X))$ of Hahn-Banach extension operators is non-empty for every Banach space Y.

In some cases the set of Hahn-Banach extension operators consists of a single element. For example if X is an M-ideal in a Banach space Y, then $\operatorname{IB}(X, Y)$ contains a single element (see [7, Proposition 1.2]. Cf. [7, p. 1] for definition of an M-ideal). A Banach space X such that $\operatorname{IB}(X, X^{**})$ consists of a single element is said to have the unique extension property (UEP). This notion was introduced and studied by Godefroy and Saphar in [6]. They proved in [6, Corollary 5.4] that if X and Y are Banach spaces such that X is reflexive and Y^* has the Radon-Nikodým property (RNP) and contains no proper norming subspace, then $X \otimes_{\varepsilon} Y$ and $\mathcal{K}(X, Y)$ have the UEP. (Recall that a subspace Z of Y^* is norming if $||y|| = \sup\{y^*(y) : y^* \in Z, ||y^*|| \leq 1\}$ for $y \in Y$.)

From [24] we also know that $\operatorname{I\!B}(\mathcal{F}(Y,X),\mathcal{L}(Y,X))$ contains a single element for every Banach space Y whenever X is either ℓ_p or the Lorentz sequence space $d(\omega, p)$ for $1 (see also [7, Example 4.1] for the case <math>X = \ell_p$ and $Y = \ell_q$ where $1 < q \leq p < \infty$). Dually we also have that $\operatorname{I\!B}(\mathcal{F}(X,Y),\mathcal{L}(X,Y))$ contains a single element for every Y whenever X is either ℓ_p or $d(\omega, p)^*$ for 1 . From [26, Theorem 3] we have in addition that the above holds if $X is a closed subspace of either <math>\ell_p$, $d(\omega, p)$ or $d(\omega, p)^*$ with the AP. Also the set $\operatorname{I\!B}(\mathcal{F}(Y, c_0), \mathcal{L}(Y, c_0))$ consists of a single element for every Banach space Y $(\mathcal{F}(Y, c_0)$ is an M-ideal in $\mathcal{L}(Y, c_0)$, see [7, Example 4.1]). The next results tell us that in many more cases the set of Hahn-Banach extension operators consists of a single element.

Proposition 4.2.5. Let X and Y be Banach spaces. If X has the AP and Y is reflexive, then $H\!B(\mathcal{F}(Y, X), \mathcal{W}(Y, X))$ consists of one element only.

Proof. Let $\Phi \in \operatorname{IB}(\mathcal{F}(Y,X), \mathcal{W}(Y,X))$, let $x^* \in X^*$ and $y \in B_Y$. Assume that y is a strongly exposed point. Then by Lemma 3.4 in [15] $x^* \otimes y$ has a unique normpreserving extension from $\mathcal{F}(Y,X)$ to $\mathcal{W}(Y,X)$ and hence $\Phi(x^* \otimes y) = x^* \otimes y$. Since Y has the RNP we get $\Phi(x^* \otimes y)$ for every $x^* \in X^*$ and $y \in Y$ by linearity and continuity. By a theorem of Feder and Saphar [4, Theorem 1] $\mathcal{F}(Y,X)^*$ is a quotient of $X^* \otimes Y$ and it follows that Φ is just the identity and hence unique.

A Banach space X has the AP if and only if $\mathcal{F}(Y, X)$ is dense in $\mathcal{K}(Y, X)$ for every Banach space Y (cf. e.g. [23, Theorem 1.e.4]). By [17, Theorem 5.1] X has the AP if and only if $\mathcal{F}(Y, X)$ is a (trivially unconditional) ideal in $\mathcal{K}(Y, X)$ for every Banach space Y.

For Y reflexive, we can combine Proposition 4.2.5 with the isometries $\mathcal{F}(X, Y) = \mathcal{F}(Y^*, X^*)$ and $\mathcal{W}(X, Y) = \mathcal{W}(Y^*, X^*)$ and we get the following corollary.

Corollary 4.2.6. Let X and Y be Banach spaces. If X^* has the AP and Y is reflexive, then $\mathbb{H}(\mathcal{F}(X,Y),\mathcal{W}(X,Y))$ consists of one element only.

The dual of a Banach space X has the AP if and only if $\mathcal{F}(X, Y)$ is dense in $\mathcal{K}(X, Y)$ for every Banach space Y (cf. e.g. [23, Theorem 1.e.5]). By [17, Theorem 5.2] X* has the AP if and only if $\mathcal{F}(X, Y)$ is a (trivially unconditional) ideal in $\mathcal{K}(X, Y)$ for every Banach space Y.

4.3 $\mathcal{F}(Y, X)$ as a u-ideal in $\mathcal{W}(Y, X)$

From [17, Theorem 5.1] and [19, Theorem 4.4] (resp. [19, Theorem 4.3]) we have the following result.

Theorem 4.3.1 (Lima and Oja). Let X be a closed subspace of a Banach space Z. Then $\mathcal{F}(Y, X)$ is a u-ideal in $\mathcal{W}(Y, Z)$ (resp. $\mathcal{K}(Y, Z)$) for all Banach spaces Y if and only if $\mathcal{F}(Y, X)$ is a u-ideal in $\mathcal{W}(Y, Z)$ (resp. $\mathcal{K}(Y, Z)$) for all (resp. separable) reflexive Banach spaces Y.

The next theorem characterizes the property that $\mathcal{F}(Y, X)$ is a u-ideal in $\mathcal{W}(Y, X)$ for every Banach space Y in terms of convergence of nets of finite rank operators. The statements should be compared with their prototypes in similar results on ideals (see [11, Theorem 5.2] and [20, Theorem 2.3]).

Theorem 4.3.2. Let X be a Banach space. The following statements are equivalent.

- (a) $\mathcal{F}(Y,X)$ is a u-ideal in $\mathcal{W}(Y,X)$ for every Banach space Y.
- (b) $\mathcal{F}(Y,X)$ is a u-ideal in $span(\mathcal{F}(Y,X), \{T\})$ for every $T \in \mathcal{W}(Y,X)$ and for every reflexive Banach space Y.
- (c) For every reflexive Banach space Y there exists a Hahn-Banach extension operator $\Psi \in H\!\!B(\mathcal{F}(Y,X),\mathcal{W}(Y,X))$ such that for every $T \in \mathcal{W}(Y,X)$ there is a net $(T_{\alpha}) \subset \mathcal{F}(Y,X)$ with $\limsup_{\alpha} \|T - 2T_{\alpha}\| \leq \|T\|$ such that $T_{\alpha} \to \Psi^{*}(T) = T$ weak^{*} in $\mathcal{F}(Y,X)^{**}$.
- (d) For every weakly compact set $K \subset X$ there is a net $(S_{\alpha}) \subset \mathcal{F}(X, X)$ with $\lim_{\alpha} \sup_{x \in K} ||x 2S_{\alpha}x|| \leq \sup_{x \in K} ||x||$ such that $S_{\alpha} \to I_X$ uniformly on compact subsets of K.
- (e) For every Banach space Y and $T \in \mathcal{W}(Y, X)$ there is a net $(S_{\alpha}) \subset \mathcal{F}(X, X)$ with $\limsup_{\alpha} ||T 2S_{\alpha}T|| \leq ||T||$ such that $S_{\alpha} \to I_X$ uniformly on compact sets in X.
- (f) For every Banach space Y and $T \in \mathcal{W}(Y, X)$ there is a net $(S_{\alpha}) \subset \mathcal{F}(X, X)$ with $\limsup_{\alpha} ||T 2S_{\alpha}T|| \leq ||T||$ such that $S_{\alpha} \to I_X$ in the strong operator topology.
- (g) For every reflexive Banach space Y and $T \in \mathcal{W}(Y, X)$ there is a net $(S_{\alpha}) \subset \mathcal{F}(X, X)$ with $\limsup_{\alpha} ||T 2S_{\alpha}T|| \leq ||T||$ such that $S_{\alpha}T \to T$ in the strong operator topology.

Proof. (a) \Rightarrow (b) is immediate from the local characterization of u-ideals, Theorem 4.1.1.

(b) \Rightarrow (c). Assume that Y is reflexive and let $T \in \mathcal{W}(Y, X)$. Since $\mathcal{F}(Y, X)$ is a u-ideal in $\mathcal{B} = \operatorname{span}(\mathcal{F}(Y, X), \{T\})$ we can, using the local characterization of u-ideals Theorem 4.1.1, find a net $(T_{\alpha}) \subset \mathcal{F}(Y, X)$ with $\limsup_{\alpha} ||T - 2T_{\alpha}|| \leq$ ||T|| such that $T_{\alpha} \to \Phi_T^*(T)$ weak^{*}, where $\Phi_T \in \operatorname{IB}(\mathcal{F}(Y,X),\mathcal{B})$ is the unconditional extension operator. From the argument in the proof of Proposition 4.2.5 Φ_T is unique and of the form $\Phi_T = I_{X^*} \otimes I_Y$. A straightforward calculation shows that $\Phi_T^*(T) = T$. Thus the operator $\Psi = I_{X^*} \otimes I_Y \in$ $\operatorname{HB}(\mathcal{F}(Y,X),\mathcal{W}(Y,X))$ satisfies (c) in Theorem 4.1.1.

(c) \Rightarrow (d). Let $K \subset X$ be weakly compact, $\varepsilon > 0$, and $u = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} x_n^* \otimes x_n \in$ $X^* \hat{\otimes}_{\pi} X$. Assume that K is a symmetric subset of B_X . Assume also that $1 \geq 1$ $\|x_n\| \to 0$ and that $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \|x_n^*\| < \infty$. Put $[Z, J] = \text{DFJP}(\overline{\text{conv}}\{\pm K \cup x_n : n = 1, ..., \infty\})$. Now Z is reflexive, $J \in \mathcal{W}(Z, X)$, and $\|J\| \le 1$. Find $z_n \in B_Z$ such that $x_n = Jz_n$. Choose a net $(J_\alpha) \subset \mathcal{F}(Z,X)$ with $\limsup_{\alpha} \|J - 2J_\alpha\| \le \|J\|$ such that $J_{\alpha} \to J$ weak^{*} in $\mathcal{F}(Z, X)^{**}$. Since J^*X^* is norm-dense in Z^* [16, Lemma 1.1] we can write $J_{\alpha} = S_{\alpha}J$ where $(S_{\alpha}) \subset \mathcal{F}(X,X)$ (see the proof of [21, Theorem 3.2]). Now we can find an S among the S_{α} 's such that

$$\varepsilon > |\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \langle SJz_n, x_n^* \rangle - \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \langle Jz_n, x_n^* \rangle | = |\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \langle Sx_n, x_n^* \rangle - \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \langle x_n, x_n^* \rangle |$$

and $\sup_{x \in K} \|x - 2Sx\| \le \sup_{z \in B_Z} \|Jz - 2SJz\| \le \|J - 2SJ\| < 1 + \varepsilon$. (d) \Rightarrow (e). Let Y be a Banach space and let $T \in \mathcal{W}(Y, X)$ of norm one. Let $C \subset B_X$ be compact and let $\varepsilon > 0$. Define $K = \overline{\operatorname{conv}}(\pm (C \cup T(B_Y)))$ and note that $K \subset B_X$ and weakly compact. By assumption there is $S \in \mathcal{F}(X, X)$ with $\sup_{x \in K} \|x - 2Sx\| < 1 + \varepsilon$ and $\sup_{x \in C} \|x - Sx\| < \varepsilon$. From this (e) follows. (e) \Rightarrow (f) and (f) \Rightarrow (g) are trivial.

(g) \Rightarrow (a). Let Y be a Banach space, let $\varepsilon > 0$, and choose a finite dimensional subspace $F \subset \mathcal{W}(Y, X)$. Put $[Z, J, \Phi] = \mathrm{DFJP}(F)$ (see (4.1.1)) and let $G = F \cap \mathcal{F}(Y, X)$. Then

$$K = \overline{\bigcup_{T \in B_G} T(B_Y)}$$

is a compact subset of X and of Z. It follows from the assumptions that we can find an $S \in \mathcal{F}(X, X)$ with $||J - 2SJ|| \le 1 + \varepsilon$ such that $||z - Sz|| \le \varepsilon$ for every $z \in K$. Define $L: F \to \mathcal{F}(Y, X)$ by L(T) = ST. Then $||T - L(T)|| \leq C$ $\|\Phi(T)\|\|J-SJ\| \leq \varepsilon \|T\|$ for every $T \in G$ and $\|T-2L(T)\| = \|T-2ST\| \leq \varepsilon$ $\|\Phi(T)\|\|J-2SJ\| \leq (1+\varepsilon)\|T\|$ for $T \in F$. The result now follows from local characterization of u-ideals in Theorem 4.1.1.

Remark 4.3.3. Let $\hat{\ell}_2$ be the equivalently renormed version of ℓ_2 defined by Oja and denoted F in Example 3 in [25]. The space $\mathcal{F}(\ell_1, \ell_2)$ is not a u-ideal in $\mathcal{W}(\ell_1, \hat{\ell}_2)$ (by [25, Example 3] and [27, Theorem 1.2] or [28, Proposition 1]). Since $\hat{\ell}_2$ has the AP, $\mathcal{F}(Y, \hat{\ell}_2)$ is an ideal in $\mathcal{W}(Y, \hat{\ell}_2)$ for all Banach spaces Y (see [25, Example 3] or [16, Theorem 3.3]). Thus statement (a) in Theorem 4.3.2 is strictly stronger than statement (a) in Proposition 4.3.5 below. Note that this implies that the bound $\limsup_{\alpha} ||T - 2S_{\alpha}T|| \le ||T||$ in statement (f) in 4.3.2 is strictly stronger than the bound $\limsup_{\alpha} \|T_{\alpha}\| \leq \|T\|$ in (iii) in Corollary 1.5 in [16].

Since $\hat{\ell}_2$ is reflexive, we also get that $\mathcal{F}(\hat{\ell}_2^*, \ell_\infty)$ is not a u-ideal in $\mathcal{W}(\hat{\ell}_2^*, \ell_\infty)$. Hence, also ℓ_∞ is an example of a Banach space X such that $\mathcal{F}(Y, X)$ is an ideal in $\mathcal{W}(Y, X)$ for all Banach spaces Y, without being a u-ideal for all Y. Also, if for 0 < r < 1, Y_r are the equivalently renormed versions of c_0 defined in [8], then $\mathcal{F}(\ell_1, Y_r)$ is not a u-ideal in $\mathcal{W}(\ell_1, Y_r)$ for any 0 < r < 1, even though $\mathcal{F}(Y, Y_r)$ is an ideal in $\mathcal{W}(Y, Y_r)$ for all Banach spaces Y and 0 < r < 1 (see last paragraph in [25]).

Remark 4.3.4. Let X be a Banach space and let $K \subset B_X$ be a weakly compact subset. If X has the AP, then there is a net $(S_\alpha) \subset \mathcal{F}(X, X)$ with $\sup_{x \in K} ||S_\alpha x|| \leq 1$ such that $S_\alpha \to I_X$ uniformly on compact sets in X. Indeed, put $[Z, J] = \text{DFJP}(\overline{\text{conv}}(\pm K))$. Using [4, Theorem 1] we get that $B_{\mathcal{F}(Z,X)}$ cannot be strongly separated from $\operatorname{conv}(S_\alpha J)$. This should be compared with statement (d) in Theorem 4.3.2.

A Banach space X is said to have the unconditional metric approximation property (UMAP) if there is a net $(T_{\alpha}) \subset \mathcal{F}(X, X)$ with $\limsup_{\alpha} ||I_X - 2T_{\alpha}|| \leq 1$ such that $T_{\alpha}(x) \to x$ for all $x \in X$. Like u-ideals, also the notion of the UMAP (for separable spaces using sequences) was introduced by Casazza and Kalton in [2].

In Theorem 5.2 in [11] it was proved that X has the UMAP if and only if $\mathcal{F}(Y, X)$ is a u-ideal in $\mathcal{L}(Y, X)$ for every Banach space Y.

If X is reflexive, then (d) in Theorem 4.3.2 says that X has the UMAP. By [2, Theorem 3.9], it follows that in this case $\mathcal{F}(Y, X)$ is a u-ideal in $\mathcal{W}(Y, X)$ for all Banach spaces Y if and only if $\mathcal{F}(X, X)$ is a u-ideal in $\mathcal{W}(X, X)$.

From [16, Theorem 3.3] and [14, Corollary 2] (see also [9, Theorem 5.1], [30, Proposition 2.1]) we get the following proposition.

Proposition 4.3.5. Let X be a Banach space. The following are equivalent.

- (a) $\mathcal{F}(Y,X)$ is an ideal in $\mathcal{W}(Y,X)$ for every Banach space Y.
- (b) X has the AP.
- (c) Every separable ideal Z in X has the AP.
- (d) $\mathcal{F}(Y,Z)$ is an ideal in $\mathcal{W}(Y,Z)$ for every Banach space Y and separable ideal Z in X.

For u-ideals we have the following result.

Proposition 4.3.6. Let X be a Banach space and assume $\mathcal{F}(Y, X)$ is a u-ideal in $\mathcal{W}(Y, X)$ for every Banach space Y. Then a closed subspace Z of X has the AP if and only if $\mathcal{F}(Y, Z)$ is a u-ideal in $\mathcal{W}(Y, Z)$ for every Banach space Y.

Proof. One direction is immediate from Proposition 4.3.5.

For the reverse direction let Y be a reflexive Banach space, Z a subspace of X with the AP, and $T \in \mathcal{W}(Y,Z)$. Put $\hat{T} = i_Z \circ T$, choose a compact subset K of Z, and let $\varepsilon > 0$. By Theorem 4.3.2 there is a net $(S_\alpha) \subset \mathcal{F}(X,X)$ with $\limsup_{\alpha} \|\hat{T} - 2S_\alpha \hat{T}\| \le \|\hat{T}\| = \|T\|$ such that $S_\alpha \to I_X$ uniformly on compact sets. Since Z has the AP, there is a net $(U_\beta) \subset \mathcal{F}(Z,Z)$ such that $U_\beta \to I_Z$ uniformly on compact sets. After switching to the product index set we may suppose that (U_β) is indexed by the same set as (S_α) . Hence we shall write

 (U_{α}) from now on.

Now let $u \in \mathcal{F}(Y, X)^*$. Since Y is reflexive and X has the AP $\mathcal{F}(Y, X)^*$ is isometrically isomorphic to a quotient of $X^* \hat{\otimes}_{\pi} Y$ by a theorem of Feder and Saphar [4, Theorem 1]. Choose a representation $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} x_n^* \otimes y_n$ for u. For the net $T_{\alpha} = S_{\alpha} i_Z T - i_Z U_{\alpha} T$, we have

$$\langle u, T_{\alpha} \rangle = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \langle x_n^*, (S_{\alpha} i_Z T - i_Z U_{\alpha} T)(y_n) \rangle$$

$$\rightarrow \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \langle i_Z^* x_n^*, T y_n \rangle - \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \langle i_Z^* x_n^*, T y_n \rangle = 0.$$

Hence $T_{\alpha} \to 0$ weakly in $\mathcal{F}(Y, X)$. Consequently a suitable net of convex combinations of T_{α} converges in norm to 0. Thus there exist α_0 , $\hat{S}_{\alpha_0} \in \operatorname{co}\{S_{\alpha} : \alpha > \alpha_0\}$, and $\hat{U}_{\alpha_0} \in \operatorname{co}\{U_{\alpha} : \alpha > \alpha_0\}$ such that $\|\hat{S}_{\alpha_0}i_Z T - i_Z \hat{U}_{\alpha_0} T\| \leq \varepsilon$, $\sup_{z \in K} \|\hat{U}_{\alpha_0}(z) - z\| \leq \varepsilon$, and $\|\hat{T} - 2\hat{S}_{\alpha_0}\hat{T}\| \leq \|\hat{T}\| + \varepsilon$. We get that

$$\|i_Z T - 2i_Z \hat{U}_{\alpha_0} T\| \le \|i_Z T - 2\hat{S}_{\alpha_0} i_Z T\| + 2\|\hat{S}_{\alpha_0} i_Z T - i_Z \hat{U}_{\alpha_0} T\| \le \|\hat{T}\| + 3\varepsilon.$$

Hence $||T - 2\hat{U}_{\alpha_0}T|| \leq ||T|| + 3\varepsilon$, and the result follows from the local characterization of u-ideals Theorem 4.1.1.

Remark 4.3.7. If $\mathcal{F}(Y,Z)$ is a u-ideal in $\mathcal{W}(Y,Z)$ for every Banach space Yand subspace Z of X with the AP, then $\mathcal{F}(Y,X)$ is not necessarily a u-ideal in $\mathcal{W}(Y,X)$ for every Banach space Y. Indeed, for 1 , choose a subspace<math>X of ℓ_p such that X does not have the AP (cf. e.g. [23, p. 91]). X cannot be complemented and hence is not an ideal in ℓ_p . It is probably well known that $\mathcal{F}(Y,\ell_p)$ is a u-ideal in $\mathcal{W}(Y,\ell_p)$ for all Banach spaces Y. (It can be proved by using that the standard basis of ℓ_p is 1-unconditional and then Theorem 4.3.2 (g).) By Proposition 4.3.6 $\mathcal{F}(Y,Z)$ is a u-ideal in $\mathcal{W}(Y,Z)$ for every subspace Z of X with the AP. But X does not have the AP so $\mathcal{F}(Y_0,X)$ is not even an ideal in $\mathcal{W}(Y_0,X)$ for some Banach space Y_0 by [16, Theorem 3.3].

Let X be a Banach space. In the next theorem we want to study when $\mathcal{F}(X,Y)$ is a u-ideal in $\mathcal{W}(X,Y)$ for all Banach spaces Y. In Theorem 6.5 in [11] it was proved that (a) $\mathcal{K}(X,Y)$ is a u-ideal in $\mathcal{L}(X,Y)$ for all Banach spaces Y is equivalent to (c) there is a net $(T_{\alpha}) \subset \mathcal{K}(X,X)$ with $\limsup_{\alpha} \|I - 2T_{\alpha}\| \leq 1$ such that $T_{\alpha}x \to x$ for all $x \in X$ and $T_{\alpha}^*x^* \to x^*$ for all $x^* \in X^*$ which in turn is equivalent to (e) X has the metric compact approximation property and X has property (wM^*) . Note that the equivalence of (c) and (e) follows from the equivalence of (3°) and (2°) in Corollary 4.5 in [29] by taking a = 1 and $B = \{-2\}$. In all these statements $\mathcal{K}(X,X)$ (resp. $\mathcal{K}(X,Y)$) may be replaced by $\mathcal{F}(X,X)$ (resp. $\mathcal{F}(X,Y)$) (see the text after Corollary 4.6 in [29]).

Theorem 4.3.8. Let X be a Banach space. The following statements are equivalent.

- (a) $\mathcal{F}(X,Y)$ is a u-ideal in $\mathcal{W}(X,Y)$ for every Banach space Y.
- (b) $\mathcal{F}(X,Y)$ is a u-ideal in $\mathcal{W}(X,Y)$ for every reflexive Banach space Y.
- (c) $\mathcal{F}(X,Y)$ is a u-ideal in $span(\mathcal{F}(X,Y), \{T\})$ for every $T \in \mathcal{W}(X,Y)$ and for every reflexive Banach space Y.

- (d) For every reflexive Banach space Y there exists a Hahn-Banach extension operator Ψ ∈ B(𝔅(𝔅, 𝔅), 𝔅(𝔅, 𝔅)) such that for every 𝔅 ∈ 𝔅(𝔅, 𝔅) there is a net (𝔅_𝔅) ⊂ 𝔅(𝔅, 𝔅) with lim sup_𝔅 ||𝔅 − 2𝔅_𝔅|| ≤ ||𝔅|| such that 𝔅_𝔅 → Ψ^{*}(𝔅) = 𝔅 weak^{*} in 𝔅(𝔅, 𝔅)^{**}.
- (e) For every weakly compact compact set $K \subset X^*$ there is a net $(S_{\alpha}) \subset \mathcal{F}(X,X)$ with $\lim_{\alpha} \sup_{x^* \in K} \|x^* 2S_{\alpha}^* x^*\| \leq \sup_{x^* \in K} \|x^*\|$ such that $S_{\alpha}^* \to I_{X^*}$ uniformly on compact subsets of K.
- (f) For every Banach space Y and $T \in \mathcal{W}(X,Y)$ there is a net $(S_{\alpha}) \subset \mathcal{F}(X,X)$ such that $\limsup_{\alpha} ||T 2TS_{\alpha}|| \leq ||T||$ and $S_{\alpha}^* \to I_{X^*}$ uniformly on compact sets in X^* .
- (g) For every Banach space Y and $T \in \mathcal{W}(X,Y)$ there is a net $(S_{\alpha}) \subset \mathcal{F}(X,X)$ such that $\limsup_{\alpha} ||T 2TS_{\alpha}|| \leq ||T||$ and $S_{\alpha}^* \to I_{X^*}$ in the strong operator topology.
- (h) For every reflexive Banach space Y and $T \in \mathcal{W}(X,Y)$ there is a net $(S_{\alpha}) \subset \mathcal{F}(X,X)$ such that $\limsup_{\alpha} ||T 2TS_{\alpha}|| \leq ||T||$ and $S_{\alpha}^*T^* \to T^*$ in the strong operator topology.

Proof. If Y is a reflexive Banach space, we have isometries $\mathcal{F}(X, Y) = \mathcal{F}(Y^*, X^*)$ and $\mathcal{W}(X, Y) = W(Y^*, X^*)$. Using this observation, Theorem 4.3.8, for reflexive spaces Y, follows from Theorem 4.3.2.

It now suffices to show that the statements in (a) and (f) hold whenever they hold for reflexive spaces Y. Indeed, to see that (a) holds we can use the local characterization of u-ideals in Theorem 4.1.1 and an argument similar to (g) \Rightarrow (a) in Theorem 4.3.2 (use (4.1.2) instead of (4.1.1)).

To see that (f) holds we put $[Z, \Phi, J] = \text{DFJP}(\text{span}(\{T\}))$ where Y is a Banach space and $T \in \mathcal{W}(X, Y)$. Since Z is reflexive and $J \in \mathcal{W}(X, Z)$ there is a net $(S_{\alpha}) \subset \mathcal{F}(X, X)$ with $\limsup_{\alpha} \|J - 2JS_{\alpha}\| \leq \|J\| = 1$ such that $S_{\alpha}^{*} \to I_{X^{*}}$ uniformly on compact sets in X^{*} . Finally, write $\limsup_{\alpha} \|T - 2TS_{\alpha}\| \leq \lim \sup_{\alpha} \|\Phi(T)\| \|J - 2JS_{\alpha}\| \leq \|T\|$ and we are done.

Remark 4.3.9. By [16, Theorem 3.4] we get that $\mathcal{F}(\ell_1, Y)$ is an ideal in $\mathcal{W}(\ell_1, Y)$ for every Banach space Y. In Remark 4.3.3 we noticed that $\mathcal{F}(\ell_1, \hat{\ell}_2)$ is not a u-ideal in $\mathcal{W}(\ell_1, \hat{\ell}_2)$ where $\hat{\ell}_2$ is the equivalent renorming of ℓ_2 constructed by Oja in [25]. Thus ℓ_1 does not fulfill statement (a) in Theorem 4.3.8.

Note that Proposition 2.3 in [22] for M-ideals also holds for u-ideals by using the local characterization of u-ideals in Theorem 4.1.1 instead of the 3-ballproperty used in [22, Proposition 2.3] (see [13, Theorem 6.17], [7, Theorem I.2.2] or [22, Theorem 2.1]). Thus if a dual space X^* contains a copy of c_0 , then $\mathcal{F}(\ell_1, Y)$ is a u-ideal in $\mathcal{W}(\ell_1, Y)$ whenever $\mathcal{F}(X, Y)$ is a u-ideal in $\mathcal{W}(X, Y)$. If $\hat{\ell}_2$ is the equivalently renormed version of ℓ_2 constructed by Oja, it follows from the preceding paragraph that $\mathcal{F}(X, \hat{\ell}_2)$ fails to be a u-ideal in $\mathcal{W}(X, \hat{\ell}_2)$ whenever X^* contains a copy of c_0 .

Remark 4.3.10. Recall that a u-ideal Z in X is strict if the u-complement of Z^{\perp} in X^* is a norming subspace for X, i.e. if $\varphi(Z^*)$ is a norming subspace of X^* where $\varphi \in \operatorname{IB}(Z, X)$ is the unconditional Hahn-Banach extension operator.

If Y is a reflexive Banach space and $\mathcal{F}(Y, X)$ is a u-ideal in $\mathcal{W}(Y, X)$ then it is in fact a strict u-ideal. This is easily seen from the proof of Proposition 4.2.5. Indeed, in this case there is a unique Hahn-Banach extension operator $\Phi \in \mathbf{HB}(\mathcal{F}(Y,X),\mathcal{W}(Y,X))$ which is of the form $\Phi = I_{X^*} \otimes I_Y$. Since $B_{X^*} \otimes B_Y \subset \mathcal{W}(Y,X)^*$ is norming for $\mathcal{W}(Y,X)$ the claim follows. Similarly by Corollary 4.2.6, if Y is reflexive, then $\mathcal{F}(X,Y)$ is a strict u-ideal in $\mathcal{W}(X,Y)$ whenever it is a u-ideal.

If X is a Banach space it follows from [16, Theorem 3.4] and [12, Proposition 2.5] that $\mathcal{F}(X, Y)$ is an ideal in $\mathcal{W}(X, Y)$ for every Banach space Y if and only if $\mathcal{F}(Z, Y)$ is an ideal in $\mathcal{W}(Z, Y)$ for every Banach space Y and for every separable ideal Z in X. For u-ideals we have the following result.

Proposition 4.3.11. Let X be a Banach space. If $\mathcal{F}(X,Y)$ is a u-ideal in $\mathcal{W}(X,Y)$ for every Banach space Y, then $\mathcal{F}(Z,Y)$ is a u-ideal in $\mathcal{W}(Z,Y)$ for every ideal Z in X and Banach space Y.

Proof. Let Y be a Banach space and let Z be an ideal in X with corresponding Hahn-Banach extension operator $\varphi \in \operatorname{HB}(Z, X)$. Let G be a finite dimensional subspace of $\mathcal{W}(Z, Y)$ and define the map $L: G \to \mathcal{W}(X, Y)$ by

$$L(T) = T^{**} \circ \varphi^*|_X, \quad T \in G.$$

Let $\varepsilon > 0$. By the local characterization of u-ideals, Theorem 4.1.1, there is an operator $M : L(G) \to \mathcal{F}(X, Y)$ such that M(S) = S for every $S \in \mathcal{F}(X, Y) \cap L(G)$ and $||S - 2M(S)|| \le (1 + \varepsilon)||S||$ for every $S \in L(G)$. Now define an operator $N : G \to \mathcal{F}(Z, Y)$ by

$$N(T) = M(L(T)) \circ i_Z.$$

It is straightforward to verify that the operator N fulfills (d) in Theorem 4.1.1 and the result follows.

4.4 $\mathcal{F}(Y, X)$ as a u-ideal in $\mathcal{K}(Y, X^{**})$ and $\mathcal{W}(Y, X^{**})$

From [17, Theorem 5.1] and [19, Proposition 2.10] we have the following result.

Proposition 4.4.1 (Lima and Oja). Let X be a closed subspace of a Banach space Y. If $\mathcal{F}(Z, X)$ is a u-ideal in $\mathcal{K}(Z, Y)$ for every reflexive Banach space Z, then X is a u-ideal in Y.

The next result tells us more.

Proposition 4.4.2. Let X be a closed subspace of a Banach space Y and let Z be a reflexive Banach space. Assume $\mathcal{F}(Z, X)$ is a u-ideal in $\mathcal{K}(Z, Y)$ with unconditional extension operator Ψ . Then X is a u-ideal in Y with unconditional extension operator ψ satisfying

$$\Psi(x^* \otimes z) = (\psi x^*) \otimes z$$

for all $z \in Z$ and $x^* \in X^*$.

Moreover, if the above assumption holds for every separable reflexive Banach space Z, then $\psi^*|_Y$ is in the w^* -closure of $\mathcal{F}(Y, X)$ in $\mathcal{L}(Y, X^{**})$.

Proof. We proceed as in the proof of [18, Theorem 2.3]. Let $\Psi \in \mathbf{B}(\mathcal{F}(Z, X), \mathcal{K}(Z, Y))$ be the unconditional Hahn-Banach extension operator and denote the corresponding ideal projection on $\mathcal{K}(Z, Y)^*$ by P_{Ψ} . Since Z is reflexive, it follows from [18, Theorem 1.3] that there exist $\{\psi_i : i = 1, ..., n\} \subset \mathbf{B}(X, Y)$ such that

$$Z = \sum_{i=1}^n \oplus_1 Z_{\Psi\psi_i}, \quad Z_{\Psi\psi_i} \neq \{0\} \text{ for all } 1 \leq i \leq n,$$

where

2

$$Z_{\Psi\psi_i} = \{ z \in Z : \Psi(x^* \otimes z) = (\psi_i x^*) \otimes z, \forall x^* \in X^* \}.$$

Let (P_{ψ_i}) be the corresponding ideal projections on Y^* . It now follows that for $z \in Z_{\Psi\psi_i}$ and $y^* \in Y^*$

$$\begin{aligned} \|z\|\|y^*\| &= \|y^* \otimes z\| \ge \|(I - 2P_{\Psi})(y^* \otimes z)\| = \|y^* \otimes z - 2P_{\Psi}(y^* \otimes z)\| \\ &= \|y^* \otimes z - 2(P_{\psi_i}y^*) \otimes z\| = \|(y^* - 2P_{\psi_i}y^*) \otimes z\| = \|z\|\|y^* - 2P_{\psi_i}y^*\|. \end{aligned}$$

Hence every ψ_i is unconditional and by uniqueness, see Proposition 4.2.2, they are all equal. With $\psi = \psi_i$ we have $Z = Z_{\Psi\psi}$.

Furthermore, if $\mathcal{F}(Z, X)$ is a u-ideal in $\mathcal{K}(Z, X)$ for all separable reflexive Z, then by Lemma 2.1 in [20] there is for every such Z and $T \in \mathcal{K}(Z, Y)$ a net (T_{α}) in $\mathcal{F}(Z, X)$ with $\sup_{\alpha} ||T_{\alpha}|| \leq ||T||$ such that $T_{\alpha}^* \to T^*\psi$ in the strong operator topology. By boundedness we may also assume that $\langle u, T_{\alpha} \rangle \to \langle u, T \rangle$ for all $u \in X^* \hat{\otimes}_{\pi} Z$.

Choose $u = \sum_n x_n^* \otimes y_n \in X^* \hat{\otimes}_{\pi} Y$ and assume that $\sum_n \|x_n^*\| = 1$ and $1 \geq \|y_n\| \to 0$ and put $[Z, J] = \text{DFJP}(\overline{\text{conv}}\{\pm y_n : n = 1, ..., \infty\})$. Then Z is a separable reflexive Banach space and $J \in \mathcal{K}(Z, Y)$ with $\|J\| \leq 1$. Pick a net $(J_{\alpha}) \subset \mathcal{F}(Z, X)$ with $\sup_{\alpha} \|J_{\alpha}\| \leq \|J\|$ such that $J_{\alpha}^* \to J^*\psi$ uniformly on compact sets. As in the proof of $(c) \Rightarrow (d)$ in Theorem 4.3.2 we may assume that each $J_{\alpha}^* = J^*S_{\alpha}^*$ for some $S_{\alpha} \in \mathcal{F}(Y, X)$. Now choose $\varepsilon > 0$ and let $z_n \in B_Z$ such that $y_n = Jz_n$. Since $J_{\alpha}^* \to J^*\psi$ uniformly on compact sets, it follows that there is an operator $S \in \mathcal{F}(Y, X)$ such that

$$\varepsilon > |\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \langle J^* S^* x_n^*, z_n \rangle - \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \langle J^* \psi x_n^*, z_n \rangle| = |\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \langle x_n^*, Sy_n \rangle - \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \langle x_n^*, \psi^* y_n \rangle|.$$

Hence $\psi^*|_Y$ is in the *w*^{*}-closure of $\mathcal{F}(Y, X)$ in $\mathcal{L}(Y, X^{**})$.

Remark 4.4.3. If $Y = X^{**}$ in Proposition 4.4.2 we actually have that $\psi^*|_{X^{**}}$ is in the weak*-closure of set $\mathcal{F}(X, X)$ in $\mathcal{L}(X^{**}, X^{**})$. In this case $J^*(X^*)$ and not just $J^*(X^{***})$ is norm-dense in Z^* (see the proof of [10, Proposition 2.1]). Thus we can write each $J^*_{\alpha} = J^*S^*_{\alpha}$ for some S_{α} in $\mathcal{F}(X, X)$ (and not only in $\mathcal{F}(X^{**}, X)$).

Let X be a Banach space. From Theorem 4.3.1 we have that $\mathcal{F}(Y, X)$ is a u-ideal in $\mathcal{W}(Y, X^{**})$ for every Banach space Y if and only if $\mathcal{F}(Y, X)$ is a u-ideal in $\mathcal{W}(Y, X^{**})$ for every reflexive Banach space Y. The next results contain other characterizations of these statements.

Theorem 4.4.4. Let X be a Banach space. The following statements are equivalent.

- (a) $\mathcal{F}(Y, X)$ is a u-ideal in $\mathcal{W}(Y, X^{**})$ for every Banach space Y.
- (b) X is a u-ideal in its bidual with unconditional Hahn-Banach extension operator ψ ∈ HB(X, X^{**}) such that for every Banach space Y and T ∈ W(Y, X^{**}) there is a net (S_α) ⊂ F(X, X) with lim sup_α ||T − 2S^{**}_αT|| ≤ ||T|| such that S^{**}_αT → ψ^{*}T weak^{*} in L(Y, X^{**}).
- (c) There exists a Hahn-Banach extension operator $\psi \in \mathbf{B}(X, X^{**})$ such that for every Banach space Y and $T \in \mathcal{W}(Y, X^{**})$ there is a net $(S_{\alpha}) \subset \mathcal{F}(X, X)$ with $\limsup_{\alpha} \|T - 2S_{\alpha}^{**}T\| \leq \|T\|$ such that $S_{\alpha}^{**}T \to \psi^*T$ weak^{*} in $\mathcal{L}(Y, X^{**})$.
- (d) For every weakly compact compact set $K \subset X^{**}$ there is a net $(S_{\alpha}) \subset \mathcal{F}(X, X)$ with $\lim_{\alpha} \sup_{x^{**} \in K} \|x^{**} 2S_{\alpha}^{**}x^{**}\| \leq \sup_{x^{**} \in K} \|x^{**}\|$ such that $S_{\alpha} \to I_X$ uniformly on compact subsets of $K \cap X$.
- (e) For every Banach space Y and $T \in \mathcal{W}(Y, X^{**})$, there is a net $(S_{\alpha}) \subset \mathcal{F}(X, X)$ with $\limsup_{\alpha} ||T 2S_{\alpha}^{**}T|| \leq ||T||$ such that $S_{\alpha} \to I_X$ uniformly on compact sets in X.
- (f) For every reflexive Banach space Y and $T \in \mathcal{W}(Y, X^{**})$, there is a net $(S_{\alpha}) \subset \mathcal{F}(X, X)$ with $\limsup_{\alpha} ||T 2S_{\alpha}^{**}T|| \leq ||T||$ such that $S_{\alpha} \to I_X$ uniformly on compact sets in X.

Proof. (a) \Rightarrow (b). Let Y be a Banach space and let $T \in \mathcal{W}(Y, X^{**})$. Put $G = \operatorname{span}(\{T\})$ and let $[Z, J, \Phi] = \operatorname{DFJP}(G)$. Now Z is reflexive and $J \in \mathcal{W}(Z, X^{**})$ is of norm 1. Let $\Psi : \mathcal{F}(Z, X)^* \to \mathcal{W}(Z, X^{**})^*$ be the unconditional Hahn-Banach extension operator. As in the proof of Proposition 4.4.2 we can show that X is a u-ideal in X^{**} with $\psi \in \operatorname{IB}(X, X^{**})$ unconditional such that $\Psi(x^* \otimes z) = \psi(x^*) \otimes z$ for every $x^* \in X^*$ and $z \in Z$. By Theorem 4.1.1 there is a net $(J_\alpha) \subset \mathcal{F}(Z, X)$ such that $\limsup_\alpha \|J - 2J_\alpha\| \leq 1$ and $J_\alpha \to \Psi^*(J)$ weak^{*}. Since $J^*(X^*)$ is norm dense in Z^* we can assume that each $J_\alpha = S^{**}_\alpha J$ where $(S_\alpha) \subset \mathcal{F}(X, X)$. Since $\|T - 2S^{**}_\alpha T\| = \|J\Phi(T) - 2S^{**}_\alpha J\Phi(T)\| \leq \|T\| \|J - 2S^{**}_\alpha J\|$ we get $\limsup_\alpha \|T - 2S^{**}_\alpha T\| \leq \|T\|$.

Let $u = \sum_n x_n^* \otimes y_n \in X^* \otimes_{\pi} Y$. Then $v = \sum_n x_n^* \otimes (\Phi(T)y_n) \in X^* \otimes_{\pi} Z$. We get that

$$\begin{aligned} \langle u, \psi^* T \rangle &= \sum_n \langle \psi x_n^*, J \Phi(T) y_n \rangle = \langle \Psi(v), J \rangle = \langle v, \Psi^*(J) \rangle \\ &= \lim_\alpha \langle v, S_\alpha^{**} J \rangle = \lim_\alpha \sum_n \langle x_n^*, S_\alpha^{**} T y_n \rangle = \lim_\alpha \langle u, S_\alpha^{**} T \rangle. \end{aligned}$$

This shows that $S^{**}_{\alpha}T \to \psi^*T$ weak^{*} in $\mathcal{L}(Y, X^{**})$.

- (b) \Rightarrow (c) is trivial.
- (c) \Rightarrow (d) is similar to the proof of (c) \Rightarrow (d) in Theorem 4.3.2.
- (d) \Rightarrow (e) is similar to the proof of (d) \Rightarrow (e) in Theorem 4.3.2.
- (e) \Rightarrow (f) is trivial.
- (f) \Rightarrow (a) is similar to the proof of (f) \Rightarrow (a) in Theorem 4.3.2.

Remark 4.4.5. Note that $X = c_0$ fulfills Theorem 4.4.4 since c_0 an M_{∞} space (see [7] p. 306) and [7, Proposition 5.6].

Theorem 4.4.6. Let X be a Banach space. The following statements are equivalent.

- (a) $\mathcal{F}(Y, X)$ is a u-ideal in $\mathcal{K}(Y, X^{**})$ for every Banach space Y.
- (b) X is a u-ideal in X^{**} with unconditional Hahn-Banach extension ψ such that $\psi^*|_{X^{**}}$ is in the weak*-closure of the $\mathcal{F}(X, X)$ in $\mathcal{L}(X^{**}, X^{**})$.
- (c) X is a u-ideal in its bidual with unconditional Hahn-Banach extension operator $\psi \in H\!B(X, X^{**})$ such that for every Banach space Y and $T \in \mathcal{K}(Y, X^{**})$ there is a net $(S_{\alpha}) \subset \mathcal{F}(X, X)$ with $\limsup_{\alpha} \|T-2S_{\alpha}^{**}T\| \leq \|T\|$ such that $S_{\alpha}^{**}T \to \psi^{*}T$ weak^{*} in $\mathcal{L}(Y, X^{**})$.
- (d) For every Banach space Y and $T \in \mathcal{K}(Y, X^{**})$ there is a net $(S_{\alpha}) \subset \mathcal{F}(X, X)$ with $\limsup_{\alpha} ||T 2S_{\alpha}^{**}T|| \leq ||T||$ such that $S_{\alpha} \to I_X$ uniformly on compact sets in X.
- (e) For every separable reflexive Banach space Y and $T \in \mathcal{K}(Y, X^{**})$ there is a net $(S_{\alpha}) \subset \mathcal{F}(X, X)$ with $\limsup_{\alpha} ||T 2S_{\alpha}^{**}T|| \leq ||T||$ such that $S_{\alpha} \to I_X$ uniformly on compact sets in X.

Proof. (a) \Rightarrow (b) follows from Proposition 4.4.2.

(b) \Rightarrow (c). Let Y be a Banach space and let $T \in \mathcal{K}(Y, X^{**})$. Put $G = \operatorname{span}(\{T\})$ and write $[Z, J, \Phi] = \operatorname{DFJP}(G)$. Now Z is reflexive and $J \in \mathcal{K}(Z, X^{**})$ has norm one. Let $\psi \in \operatorname{IB}(X, X^{**})$ be the unconditional Hahn-Banach extension operator and choose a net $(S_{\alpha}) \subset \mathcal{F}(X, X)$ such that $S_{\alpha}^{**} \to \psi^*|_{X^{**}}$ weak* in $\mathcal{L}(X^{**}, X^{**})$. Since Z is reflexive, $\mathcal{K}(Z, X^{**})^*$ is a quotient of $X^{***} \hat{\otimes}_{\pi} Z$ by [4, Theorem 1] of Feder and Saphar. Now let $\varepsilon > 0$ and let $u \in X^{***} \hat{\otimes}_{\pi} Z$. Choose a representation $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} x_n^{***} \otimes z_n$ for u such that $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} ||x_n^{***}|| ||z_n|| \leq ||u||_{\pi} + \varepsilon$ and write $x_n^* = x_n^{***}|_X$. We get that

$$|\langle u, J - 2S_{\alpha}^{**}J \rangle| = |\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \langle x_n^{***}, (J - 2S_{\alpha}^{**}J)z_n \rangle| = |\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \langle x_n^{***} - 2S_{\alpha}^{*}x_n^{*}, Jz_n \rangle|$$

$$\to |\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \langle x_n^{***} - 2\psi x_n^{*}, Jz_n \rangle \le \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} ||x_n^{***}|| ||Jz_n|| \le ||u||_{\pi} + \varepsilon.$$

Hence $\operatorname{conv}(J-2S_{\alpha}^{**}J)$ can not be strongly separated from $B_{\mathcal{K}(Z,X^{**})}$. By taking successive convex combinations we get a new net, also denoted (S_{α}) , such that $\limsup_{\alpha} \|J-2S_{\alpha}^{**}J\| \leq 1$. Thus

$$\limsup_{\alpha} \|T - 2S_{\alpha}^{**}T\| \le \limsup_{\alpha} \|\Phi(T)\| \|J - 2S_{\alpha}^{**}J\| \le \|T\|.$$

Obviously $S^{**}_{\alpha}T \to \psi^*T$ weak* in $\mathcal{L}(Y, X^{**})$.

- (c) \Rightarrow (d). Argue as in the proof of (d) \Rightarrow (e) in Theorem 4.4.4.
- (d) \Rightarrow (e) is trivial.
- (e) \Rightarrow (a). Argue as in the proof of (g) \Rightarrow (a) in Theorem 4.3.2.

Remark 4.4.7. In [10, Proposition 2.1] it is proved that $\mathcal{F}(Y,X)$ is an ideal in $\mathcal{W}(Y,X^{**})$ for every Banach space Y if and only if $\mathcal{F}(Y,X)$ is an ideal in $\mathcal{K}(Y,X^{**})$ for every Banach space Y. This fails if we replace "ideal" with "uideal". Indeed, if we let $X = \hat{\ell}_2$, the equivalent renorming of ℓ_2 obtained by Oja (see Remark 4.3.3), then we have a counterexample. This proves that the statements in Theorem 4.4.6 are strictly weaker than those in Theorem 4.4.4. The next result shows that $\mathcal{F}(Y, X)$ being a u-ideal in $\mathcal{W}(Y, X^{**})$ for all Banach spaces Y is inherited by some subspaces of X.

Proposition 4.4.8. Suppose $\mathcal{F}(Y, X)$ is a u-ideal in $\mathcal{W}(Y, X^{**})$ for every Banach space Y and let $\varphi \in \mathcal{B}(X, X^{**})$ be the unconditional Hahn-Banach extension operator. Then $\mathcal{F}(Y, Z)$ is a u-ideal in $\mathcal{W}(Y, Z^{**})$ for every Banach space Y and ideal Z in X such that $\varphi^*(Z^{\perp\perp}) \subset Z^{\perp\perp}$.

Proof. Let Y be a reflexive Banach space and let Z be an ideal in X such that $\varphi^*(Z^{\perp\perp}) \subset Z^{\perp\perp}$. Denote by $i_Z : Z \to X$ the natural embedding. Since $\varphi^*(Z^{\perp\perp}) \subset Z^{\perp\perp}$, it follows from Theorem 4.2.4 that Z is a u-ideal in its bidual with an unconditional extension operator $\psi \in \operatorname{IB}(Z, Z^{**})$ such that $i_Z^{**}\psi^*|_{Z^{**}} = \varphi^* i_Z^{**}$. From Theorem 4.4.6 we have $\varphi^*|_{X^{**}}$ in the weak*-closure of $\mathcal{F}(X, X)$ in $\mathcal{L}(X^{**}, X^{**})$. By the Principle of Local Reflexivity it is routine to check that $\psi^*|_{Z^{**}}$ is in the weak*-closure of $\mathcal{L}(Z^{**}, Z^{**})$.

Choose a compact subset K of Z and an operator $T \in \mathcal{W}(Y, Z^{**})$. Put $\hat{T} = i_Z^{**} \circ T \in \mathcal{W}(Y, X^{**})$. By Theorem 4.4.4 there is a net $(S_\alpha) \subset \mathcal{F}(X, X)$ with $\limsup_{\alpha} \|\hat{T} - 2S_\alpha^{**}\hat{T}\| \le \|\hat{T}\| = \|T\|$ such that $S_\alpha^{**}\hat{T} \to \varphi^*|_{X^{**}}\hat{T}$ weak^{*} in $\mathcal{L}(X^{**}, X^{**})$. From the first paragraph there is a net $(U_i) \subset \mathcal{F}(Z, Z)$ such that $U_i^{**} \to \psi^*|_{Z^{**}}$ weak^{*} in $\mathcal{L}(Z^{**}, Z^{**})$. Assume (S_α) and (U_i) have the same index set. Thus we will write (U_α) for the net in $\mathcal{F}(Z, Z)$. Note that $U_\alpha \to I_Z$ uniformly on compact sets in Z. Now let $u = \sum_n x_n^* \otimes y_n \in \mathcal{F}(Y, X)^*$ and $T_\alpha = S_\alpha^{**} i_Z^{**} T - i_Z^{**} U_\alpha^{**} T$. From this we get that

$$\langle u, T_{\alpha} \rangle = \sum_{n} \langle x_{n}^{*}, (S_{\alpha}^{**}i_{Z}^{**} - i_{Z}^{**}U_{\alpha}^{**})(Ty_{n}) \rangle$$

$$= \sum_{n} \langle x_{n}^{*}, S_{\alpha}^{**}(i_{Z}^{**}Ty_{n}) \rangle - \sum_{n} \langle i_{Z}^{*}x_{n}^{*}, U_{\alpha}^{**}(Ty_{n}) \rangle$$

$$\rightarrow \sum_{n} \langle x_{n}^{*}, \varphi^{*}(i_{Z}^{**}Ty_{n}) \rangle - \sum_{n} \langle i_{Z}^{*}x_{n}^{*}, \psi^{*}(Ty_{n}) \rangle = 0.$$

Hence $T_{\alpha} \to 0$ weakly in $\mathcal{F}(Y, X)$. Consequently a suitable net of convex combinations of T_{α} converges in norm to 0. Thus there exist α_0 , $\hat{S}_{\alpha_0} \in \operatorname{co}\{S_{\alpha}^{**}: \alpha > \alpha_0\}$, and $\hat{U}_{\alpha_0} \in \operatorname{co}\{U_{\alpha}^{**}: \alpha > \alpha_0\}$ such that $\|\hat{T} - 2\hat{S}_{\alpha_0}\hat{T}\| \leq \|\hat{T}\| + \varepsilon$, $\sup_{z \in K} \|\hat{U}_{\alpha_0}z - z\| \leq \varepsilon$, and $\|\hat{S}_{\alpha_0}i_Z^{**}T - i_Z^{**}\hat{U}_{\alpha_0}T)\| \leq \varepsilon$. We get

$$\|i_Z^{**}T - 2i_Z^{**}\hat{U}_{\alpha_0}T\| \le \|i_Z^{**}T - 2\hat{S}_{\alpha_0}i_Z^{**}T\| + 2\|\hat{S}_{\alpha_0}i_Z^{**}T - i_Z^{**}\hat{U}_{\alpha_0}T\| \le \|\hat{T}\| + 3\varepsilon.$$

Hence $||T - 2\hat{U}_{\alpha_0}T|| \le ||T|| + 3\varepsilon$, and the result follows.

In [21] Lima and Oja introduced and studied the weak metric approximation property. Following Lima and Oja a Banach space X is said to have the weak metric approximation property (weak MAP) if for every Banach space Y and operator $T \in \mathcal{W}(X, Y)$ there is a net $(S_{\alpha}) \subset \mathcal{F}(X, X)$ with $\sup_{\alpha} ||TS_{\alpha}|| \leq ||T||$ such that $S_{\alpha} \to I_X$ uniformly on compact subsets in X. It is easy to see that the MAP implies the weak MAP. In [31, Corollary 1] it is shown that the weak MAP and the MAP are indeed equivalent for a Banach space for which either its dual or its bidual has the RNP.

Lima proved in [10] that X has the weak MAP if and only if $\mathcal{F}(Y, X)$ is an ideal in $\mathcal{K}(Y, X^{**})$ for every Banach space Y. Based on this, it is natural to guess that an "unconditional version" of the weak MAP could be the property that for

every Banach space Y and operator $T \in \mathcal{K}(X, Y)$ there is a net $(S_{\alpha}) \subset \mathcal{F}(X, X)$ with $\limsup_{\alpha} ||T - 2TS_{\alpha}|| \leq ||T||$ such that $S_{\alpha} \to I_X$ uniformly on compact sets in X. As remarked below, this property is strictly weaker than the statements in Theorem 4.4.6.

Proposition 4.4.9. Let X be a Banach space. The following statements are equivalent.

- (a) For every Banach space Y and operator $T \in \mathcal{K}(X,Y)$, there is a net $(S_{\alpha}) \subset \mathcal{F}(X,X)$ such that $\limsup_{\alpha} ||T 2TS_{\alpha}|| \leq ||T||$ and $S_{\alpha} \to I_X$ uniformly on compact sets.
- (b) For every reflexive Banach space Y and operator $T \in \mathcal{K}(X, Y)$, there is a net $(S_{\alpha}) \subset \mathcal{F}(X, X)$ such that $\limsup_{\alpha} ||T 2TS_{\alpha}|| \leq ||T||$ and $TS_{\alpha} \to T$ uniformly on compact sets.
- (c) There is a Hahn-Banach extension operator $\psi \in H(X, X^{**})$ with $||I_{X^{**}} 2\psi^*|_{X^{**}}|| = 1$ such that $\psi^*|_{X^{**}}$ is in the weak*-closure of $\mathcal{F}(X, X)$ in $\mathcal{L}(X^{**}, X^{**})$.

Proof. (a) \Rightarrow (b) is trivial.

- (b) \Rightarrow (c). The proof is essentially that of [10, Proposition 2.5].
- (c) \Rightarrow (a) is similar to Theorem 4.4.6 (c) \Rightarrow (d).

Remark 4.4.10. If $\psi \in \mathbf{B}(X, X^{**})$ is an unconditional extension operator then $||I_{X^{**}}-2\psi^*|_{X^{**}}|| = ||I_{X^{***}}-2\psi k_X^*|| = 1$. To see this, first note that $1 = ||I_{X^{***}}-2\psi k_X^*|| = ||I_{X^{****}}-2k_X^{**}\psi^*||$. Write the identity operator on the dual X^* as $I_{X^*} = k_X^*k_{X^*}$ and the identity operator on bidual X^{**} as $I_{X^{**}} = k_{X^*}k_{X^{**}}$. By taking adjoints we obtain from the first equality that $I_{X^{**}} = (I_{X^*})^* = k_{X^*}^*k_X^{**}$. It follows that

$$\|I_{X^{**}} - 2\psi^* k_{X^{**}}\| = \|I_{X^{**}} - 2I_{X^{**}}\psi^* k_{X^{**}}\|$$
$$= \|k_{X^*}^* k_{X^{**}} - 2k_{X^*}^* k_X^{**}\psi^* k_{X^{**}}\| \le 1$$

Proposition 4.4.11. Let X be a Banach space. If every equivalent renorming of X is a u-ideal in its bidual, then X is a strict u-ideal in its bidual.

Proof. Let $x^{***} \in X^{***}$, $x^* = k_X^*(x^{***})$, and let $\varepsilon > 0$. By [11, Lemma 2.4] there is an equivalent renorming X_1 of X which is locally uniformly rotund at x^* such that $B_X \subseteq B_{X_1} \subseteq B_X(0, 1 + \varepsilon)$. Let $|\cdot|$ be the norm on X_1 and let $P: X_1^{***} \to X_1^{***}$ be the u-ideal projection. Then $P(x^{***}) = x^*$ and

$$||x^{***} - 2x^{*}|| \le |x^{***} - 2x^{*}| = |x^{***} - 2P(x^{***})| \le |x^{***}| \le (1 + \varepsilon)||x^{***}||$$

which shows that $||I - 2\pi|| = 1$ where $\pi = k_{X^*}k_X^*$ so X is a strict u-ideal in its bidual.

Remark 4.4.12. The statements in Proposition 4.4.9 are strictly weaker than those in Theorem 4.4.6. Indeed, as noted in [5] (see p. 29) ℓ_1 is not a strict u-ideal in its bidual. Thus it follows from Proposition 4.4.11 that there exists an equivalent renorming, $\hat{\ell}_1$, of ℓ_1 for which $\hat{\ell}_1$ is not a u-ideal in its bidual. Since $\hat{\ell}_1$ has the AP, Proposition 4.4.9 (c) is fulfilled with $\psi = k_{\hat{\ell}_1^*}$.

Bibliography

- P. K. Belobrov, Minimal extension of linear functionals onto the second conjugate space, Mat. Zametki 27 (1980), no. 3, 439-445, 494. MR 570754 (81m:46028)
- [2] P. G. Casazza and N. J. Kalton, Notes on approximation properties in separable Banach spaces, Geometry of Banach Spaces, Proc. Conf. Strobl 1989, London Mathematical Society Lecture Note Series 158 (P. F. X. Müller and W. Schachermayer, eds.), Cambridge University Press, 1990, pp. 49–63.
- [3] W. J. Davis, T. Figiel, W. B. Johnson, and A. Pełczyński, Factoring weakly compact operators, J. Functional Analysis 17 (1974), 311–327. MR 50 #8010
- [4] M. Feder and P. Saphar, Spaces of compact operators and their dual spaces, Israel J. Math. 21 (1975), 38-49.
- [5] G. Godefroy, N. J. Kalton, and P. D. Saphar, Unconditional ideals in Banach spaces, Studia Math. 104 (1993), 13-59.
- [6] G. Godefroy and P. Saphar, Duality in spaces of operators and smooth norms on Banach spaces, Illinois J. Math. 32 (1988), 672–695.
- P. Harmand, D. Werner, and W. Werner, *M-ideals in Banach spaces and Banach algebras*, Lecture Notes in Mathematics, vol. 1547, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1993. MR 94k:46022
- [8] J. Johnson and J. Wolfe, On the norm of the canonical projection of E^{***} onto E^{\perp} , Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. **75** (1979), 50–52.
- [9] N. J. Kalton, Locally complemented subspaces and L_p-spaces for 0 Math. Nachr. 115 (1984), 71–97. MR 86h:46006
- [10] V. Lima, The weak metric approximation property and ideals of operators, J. Math. Anal. Appl. (to appear).
- [11] V. Lima and Å. Lima, Ideals of operators and the metric approximation property, J. Funct. Anal. 210 (2004), no. 1, 148–170. MR 2052117 (2004m:46047)
- [12] _____, Geometry of spaces of compact operators, Preprint.
- [13] Å. Lima, Intersection properties of balls and subspaces in Banach spaces, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 227 (1977), 1–62.
- [14] _____, The metric approximation property, norm-one projections and intersection properties of balls, Israel J. Math. 84 (1993), 451–475.
- [15] _____, Property (wM*) and the unconditional metric compact approximation property, Studia Math. 113 (1995), 249–263.
- [16] Å. Lima, O. Nygaard, and E. Oja, Isometric factorization of weakly compact operators and the approximation property, Israel J. Math. 119 (2000), 325– 348. MR MR1802659 (2002b:46031)

- [17] Å. Lima and E. Oja, Ideals of finite rank operators, intersection properties of balls, and the approximation property, Studia Math. 133 (1999), no. 2, 175–186. MR 2000c:46026
- [18] _____, Hahn-Banach extension operators and spaces of operators, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 130 (2002), no. 12, 3631–3640 (electronic). MR 1920043 (2004f:46027)
- [19] _____, Ideals of compact operators, J. Aust. Math. Soc. 77 (2004), no. 1, 91–110. MR 2069027
- [20] _____, Ideals of operators, approximability in the strong operator topology, and the approximation property, Michigan Math. J. 52 (2004), no. 2, 253– 265. MR 2069799 (2005b:47162)
- [21] _____, The weak metric approximation property, Math. Ann. 333 (2005), no. 3, 471–484. MR 2198796 (2006i:46025)
- [22] Å. Lima, E. Oja, T. S. S. R. K. Rao, and D. Werner, Geometry of operator spaces, Michigan Math. J. 41 (1994), 473–490.
- [23] J. Lindenstrauss and L. Tzafriri, Classical Banach spaces I, Springer, Berlin-Heidelberg-New York, 1977.
- [24] E. Oja, Uniqueness of the extension of linear continuous functionals according to the Hahn-Banach theorem, Eesti NSV Tead. Akad. Toimetised Füüs.-Mat. 33 (1984), no. 4, 424–438, 473, (Russian). MR 775767 (86h:46030)
- [25] _____, Strong uniqueness of the extension of linear continuous functionals according to the Hahn-Banach theorem, Mat. Zametki 43 (1988), no. 2, 237-246, 302, (Russian) English translation in Math. Notes 43 (1988), 134-139. MR 939524 (89e:46019)
- [26] _____, Dual de l'espace des opérateurs linéaires continus, C. R. Acad. Sc. Paris, Sér. A 309 (1989), 983–986.
- [27] _____, Extension of functionals and the structure of the space of continuous linear operators, Tartu. Gos. Univ., Tartu, 1991, (Russian). MR 1114543 (92g:46019)
- [28] _____, HB-subspaces and Godun sets of subspaces in Banach spaces, Mathematika 44 (1997), no. 1, 120–132. MR 1464382 (98j:46008)
- [29] _____, Geometry of Banach spaces having shrinking approximations of the identity, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 352 (2000), no. 6, 2801–2823. MR 2000j:46034
- [30] _____, Operators that are nuclear whenever they are nuclear for a larger range space, Proc. Edinb. Math. Soc. (2) 47 (2004), no. 3, 679–694. MR 2097268 (2005g:46040)
- [31] _____, The impact of the Radon-Nikodým property on the weak bounded approximation property, Rev. R. Acad. Cien. Serie A. Mat. 100 (2006), no. 1-2, 325-331.